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Where search begins...



At Just Dial, we have helped India make the online switch and are now 
taking it forward with enhanced value proposition for both consumers 
and businesses in a society that is increasingly turning digital.

For consumers, we bring a world of difference. With just a click, one 
can have unimaginable convenience, ease of access to a multitude 

bookings a new range of services have been launched during the year 
for our consumers. 

On the other hand, we are providing businesses a unique platform 
to reach a wide cross-section of people and cater to their evolving 
requirements. Our technology, talent and teamwork are enabling 
businesses and markets function better and think smarter.

With the Indian economy back on track and consumer and investor 

We are looking at considerably scaling up the Search Plus service, 
strengthening our consumer engagements and evolving new 
marketing strategies. We are also planning to introduce advanced 
technologies for businesses to operate seamlessly and grow steadily.

We look at ourselves as a vehicle for empowerment that is steadily 
helping transform India’s consumption and business landscape.

Welcome to India’s search-
and-transact destination.

Welcome to the tremendous 
possibilities of the digital era.

Welcome to the Just Dial 
Experience.



Forward Looking Statement

In this Annual Report, we have disclosed forward-
looking information to enable investors to 
comprehend our prospects and take investment 
decisions. This report and other statements - 
written and oral – that we periodically make 
contain forward-looking statements that set out 
anticipated results based on the management’s 
plans and assumptions. We have tried wherever 
possible to identify such statements by using words 
such as ‘anticipate’, ‘estimate’, ‘expects’, ‘projects’, 
‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, and words of similar 
substance in connection with any discussion of 
future performance. We cannot guarantee that 
these forward-looking statements will be realized, 
although we believe we have been prudent in 
assumptions. The achievements of results are 
subject to risks, uncertainties, and even inaccurate 
assumptions.

Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties 
materialize, or should underlying assumptions 
prove inaccurate, actual results could vary 
materially from those anticipated, estimated, or 
projected. Readers should keep this in mind. We 
undertake no obligation to publicly update any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise.
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India Relies on Just Dial

As India ushers in a digital society, encompassing millions of people, we are 
excited to be a part of this vibrant movement by empowering consumers and 
businesses, seamlessly.

Incorporated in 1996 as a local search engine, Just Dial is India’s only local search engine which enables both ‘search’ and ‘transact’ features 
across multiple platforms. Our Search Plus platform helps drive user convenience, connecting them to relevant services anytime and across any 
medium - Voice, PC Internet and Mobile Internet. We have also enabled thousands of SMEs create an online presence in the country. Today, we 
are positioned as one of India’s leading local search engines.

Noida, Hyderabad, Jaipur, Kolkata and Pune.

ON A HIGHER GROWTH TRAJECTORY

38% growth from FY 2013-14

51 Mn

Ratings & Reviews

15% growth from FY 2013-14

` 1,389 Mn
28% growth from FY 2013-14

` 5,898 Mn

Revenue from 
Operations

16% growth from FY 2013-14

218 Mn

Unique visitors

27% growth from FY 2013-14

15 Mn

Listings

26% growth from FY 2013-14

331,200

Active Paid Campaigns

Where search begins...
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OVER THE PAST 19 YEARS, WE HAVE EVOLVED:
 From being a voice and text-based service provider to 

a multi-platform and multi-lingual service provider
 From a  platform to a three clicks to 

transact platform
 From a local search engine to a national search 

destination

MISSION
To provide fast, free, reliable and 
comprehensive information to our users, 
connecting buyers to sellers anytime, 
anywhere.

MULTIPLE SERVICE PLATFORMS

PC Internet Mobile Internet Voice/SMS

www.justdial.com JD (Justdial) app and WAP services 
(t.justdial.com)

8888888888 : Operator-assisted 
hotline number, available 24x7

User-friendly features including:
 Predictive auto-suggest
 Maps, directions, operating hours, 

pictures, videos
 Ratings and reviews

Search by company, category or product

Popular category searches

Location-based search services

Android, iOS, Windows apps

Multi-lingual support

Company/category/product searches

India relies on Just Dial | Corporate Overview...and ends.



4

CONSISTENTLY CREATING VALUE
Over the years, Just Dial has been able to achieve a strong brand recall, because of credible reasons.

More listings Enhanced viability

Advantages we provide:
 Numerous options to choose from 
 Competitive pricing, best deals 
 Numerous discounts and coupons

Advantages we provide:
 More ‘related search’ options 
 Segments catering to all spheres of life 
 Single search destination
 Comparison shopping

Value we create:
 Consumer delight Value we create:

 Consumer contentment

Advanced technology All-in-one

Advantages we provide:
 Updated multi-platform operations (mobiles, 

laptops, phone calls, text messages) 
 

 Customized infrastructure

Advantages we provide:
  Everything on a single platform
 Single log-in
 Easy price discovery

Value we create:
 Easy accessibility

Value we create:
 Save time and money

More search segments Added security

Advantages we provide:
 Advanced searches 

 
 Pan-India expansion

Advantages we provide:
 Trusted strong brand 
 Advancement as a ‘search plus’ platform 
 Established relationships with SMEs

Value we create:
 Consumer ease

Value we create:
 Customer trust

Where search begins...

India Relies on Just Dial
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OUR STRENGTHS

BUSINESS MODEL

First mover advantage in the Indian 
local search market

Experience and expertise in local 
Indian markets

Strong brand recognition

Advanced and scalable technology 
platform

Attractive value proposition for 
local SMEs

business model

ONE OF THE LEADING 
LOCAL SEARCH ENGINES 
IN INDIA

19 YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

28% INCREASE IN 
SEARCH REVENUE IN 
FY 2014-15

25 SEARCH PLUS 
VERTICALS AVAILABLE 
ON THE SAME PLATFORM

27% INCREASE IN 
BUSINESS LISTINGS 
IN FY 2014-15

15% INCREASE IN 
PROFITS IN FY 2014-15

We have effectively monetized our business by leveraging high 

targeted towards a new generation of users in addition to an 
attractive value proposition for SMEs make for a robust and 

Our asset light business model with zero receivables and zero 
debt strengthens our balance sheet, while our negative working 

User

Just Dial 
Interface

Paid 
listing

Non-
premium Premium

Free 
listing

Search/call

Results/listings

Pay for listing

India relies on Just Dial | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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Financial Performance

CAGR 33.82%

CAGR 35.82%

CAGR 45.69%

CAGR 32.45%

CAGR 38.25%

CAGR 48.16%

Operating Revenues (` in Mn)

2010-11 1,839.33

2011-12 2,620.61

2012-13 3,627.68

2013-14 4,612.93

2014-15 5,897.98

Net Cash Flow from Operations    (` in Mn)

2010-11 600.07

2011-12 957.21

2012-13 1,023.18

2013-14 1,330.36

2014-15 1,846.53

Total Income                                                                                                                                  (` in Mn)

2010-11 1,876.60

2011-12 2,752.15

2012-13 3,764.11

2013-14 5,012.42

2014-15 6,386.53 

and other expenses from operating revenue. It does not include interest, taxes, 

15 is after considering ESOP Expenses of ` 152.53 Million for the year. 

(` in Mn)

2010-11 453.87

2011-12 672.30

2012-13 1,007.19

2013-14 1,421.98

2014-15 1,657.86

    (` in Mn)

2010-11 422.97

2011-12 715.74

2012-13 984.28

2013-14 1,648.56

2014-15 1,905.42

    (` in Mn)

2010-11 288.25

2011-12 505.81

2012-13 684.57

2013-14 1,206.08

2014-15 1,388.90

Where search begins...
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CAGR 42.82% CAGR 58.50%

Earnings Per Share (basic)                                                                                      ( in `)

2010-11 4.75

2011-12 8.93

2012-13 10.30

2013-14 17.23

2014-15 19.76

Net Asset Value Per Share ( in `)

2010-11 15.13

2011-12 15.87

2012-13 60.40

2013-14 76.19

2014-15 95.52

Return on Net Worth (RONW) ( in %)

2010-11 35.77

2011-12 49.92

2012-13 25.72

2013-14 25.14

2014-15 23.00

Margins (in %)

2010-11

0

10

20

30

40

26.17
29.21 30.39

36.34
33.61

28.11

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

` 152.53 Million for the year.

30.83
27.76

25.6524.68

15.36
18.38 18.19

24.06
21.75

Financial Performance | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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We delivered a steady 
performance in FY 
2014-15 wherein 
we registered 28% 
operating EBITDA 
margin and our PAT 
margin was 22%. Our 
operating revenue 
increased 28% from 
` 4,612.93 Million 
to reach ` 5,897.98 
Million.

Message from the Managing Director  

Dear All,

you have placed in our Company and for your continued support over the years. Just Dial has evolved 
substantially since its foundation. We have successfully reinvented ourselves in line with market 
opportunities. Our consistent commitment is to maintain best-in-class service standards, while leveraging 
our unique capacity to mobilize and engage different commercial activities around your lives, under one 
roof. We have successfully built upon the Company’s strong commitment to connect the dots across 
verticals and offer the power of convenience and choice back where it rightfully belongs – in your hands! 

We are living through interesting times. The global economy is recovering from an extended slowdown, 

growths over the next few years. India, in turn, has recently witnessed the largest democratic exercise in 

The business sentiment following the formation of the ‘Modi Sarkar’ is upbeat.

have risen. Enhanced economic activity also improved consumer and business sentiment. The spotlight has 
been put back on India at the global stage as one of the fastest growing major economies and home to one 
of the world’s youngest workforce.

While companies continue to invest in creating manufacturing bases across the country, the number of 
skilled and semi-skilled jobs will increase. Millions of youth will be inducted into the mainstream economy, 
earn their livelihood and boost consumerism. India’s GDP is estimated to have grown by 7.3% in FY 2014-
15, a shade lower than the government’s earlier projection, but above 6.9% clocked in FY 2013-14.

In 2013, the Internet contributed USD 60 billion or 2.7% of India’s GDP – larger than the contribution of 

to grow over 4% of India’s GDP. E-commerce will be worth over USD 17 billion in 2018 and drive eight 
million SMEs (out of 13 million SMEs); over 200 million individuals will transact online. I believe that the 

for the better.

V. S. S. Mani, 

Where search begins...
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At Just Dial, we are helping shape the way, people think, act and go 
about their lives in a digital society. Our innovations continue to touch 
the lives of millions of people every day. Driving competitive advantage 
through innovation is our lifeblood as a technology company. Just 
Dial has proved its resilience in a challenging environment. Its broad 
diversity of geographies and offerings spread across categories 
provides both scope for business growth and security against adverse 

our metrics to ensure they are relevant, comprehensive and allow us 
to set forward-looking targets. 

We had over 51 million reviews and ratings, until March 2015, on our 
portal and we have been pioneers in introducing the concept of social 
ratings across the world. It has aided several users to make important 
vendor choices. The effectiveness of our medium continues to be our 
core strength, which is demonstrated by a year on year increase of 
26% in the campaigns we run for our customers. We delivered a steady 
performance in FY 2014-15 wherein we registered 28% operating 

increased 28% from ` 4,612.93 Million to reach ` 5,897.98 Million. 

` 1,388.9 Million from ` 1,206.08 Million 
` 1,330.36 

Million to ` 1,846.53 Million. Our user base (unique users*) is 218 
million with over 42% of users using the mobile internet platform.

In the last few decades since its inception, the Internet has driven 
dramatic change. Internet penetration has more than doubled and 
e-commerce has increased threefold in the past four years as online 
payments increased. According to an IAMAI-KPMG report, internet 
users in India stood at over 350 million as of June 2015 and the mobile 
internet user base is expected to reach 314 million by 2017. 

India has the second largest internet user base in the world and yet 
the underlying potential is immense as penetration of the Internet 
in India in 2015 is estimated at just 19% vis-à-vis China’s 50% and 

driven by the adoption of mobile internet. The internet space in India 
appears even riper as consumer demographics with a median age 
of 27 holds out a tremendous potential. This means consumers are 
willing to accept new technologies (e.g. online payments), data plans 
are getting cheaper, internet accessibility and speeds are on a rise with 
a roll-out of 4G networks, income levels are rising in general; and 
there has been approximately 170% growth in mobile internet users 
over 2010-15.

As hand-held devices become the default medium to access the 
Internet, the concept of time and distance has shrunk and we now 
deal with an ‘always-active’ or 24X7 notion of communications. The 
right kind of word to describe what has happened in the smartphone 
segment is probably revolution. Almost everyday compelling 

The number of smartphones being sold is far more than laptops, and 
not only that, the amount of time the younger generation spends on 
smartphones is far more. With the roll-out of third-generation (3G) 
networks and now Long-Term Evolution or LTE (a standard for 4G 

of digital India is going to be a momentous one. Given this favorable 
ecosystem, we are quite bullish about the potential and prospects for 
our Company. We are enhancing convenience for millions of people in 
a digitally empowered life.

It is only obvious that soon the SMEs will have to exploit the online 
market as an important channel of sales. At Just Dial, we are well poised 
to capitalize on these opportunities by leveraging our competencies in 
this space and we are excited about the times to come. Our priority is 
to accelerate growth and reposition the business through consistent 
investment in product innovation, sales effectiveness and expansion in 
high-growth markets. We are dedicated to strengthen the partnerships 
we have fostered in recent years.

Our long-standing commitment to new product developments has 
underpinned our sustained momentum and is a key driver of future 
revenue and margin growth. We completed several new product 
launches over the past months and will continue to challenge 
conventional thinking and innovatively use all our resources to drive 
positive change in the lives of millions of people.

Our philosophy is to ‘Make Life Easy’ for the Indian consumer to 
search and transact in a hassle free manner. Our offerings would aid 
the users to save time, money and effort, aid in quick price discovery, 
enable accelerated delivery of products due to the hyper-local nature 
of the transactions and be a single-point of touch for the user.

I feel privileged to be at the helm of a business that creates consistent 
value for all stakeholders. I thank all our stakeholders who continue to 
play a vital role in our success. 

I deeply cherish the unstinted trust and support of our users, customers, 
shareholders, investor community, the media and the dedication and 
contribution of every member of the Just Dial Team.

Thank you,

V. S. S. Mani 

*Note: Unique Users are our total unique visitors and are considered across various 
mediums – Voice, PC Internet, Mobile Internet – these may not necessarily be mutually 
exclusive.

Corporate Overview...and ends.



The Industry is Growing…

Of total spending will 
be on fast-moving 
consumer goods 
(FMCG)

At least

USD 5 Bn
Indians will be 
shopping online, 
spending more than 

2020

Up to

250 Mn

Of online buying will 
take place on a mobile 
device by 2020 

At least

50%

More than one-third 
of total FMCG sales in 
2020, or an estimated 

affected in some way 
by digital activity

USD 35 Bn

Indian consumers are 
already employing 
digital media in the 
purchasing cycle 
and across FMCG 
categories

Digital 
Media

Indians will be online 
by 2020

650 Mn

Gen Z
The population of 
online users, buyers 

steadily shifting from 
well-off adult males in 
large cities to women, 
digitally-savvy 
Generation Z and 
residents of smaller 
cities

Where search begins...
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…and so are We.

JUST DIAL RECENTLY INTRODUCED 25 CONVENIENT AND USER-FRIENDLY SEARCH PLUS SERVICES.

A Break From The Kitchen

Life Made Easy

Order food

Order groceries

The industry is growing... and so are we | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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Shop online

Order books
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Ease Of Moving

Car services

Medicare Made Easy

appointment

Where search begins...

Order medicine
diagnostics, pathology
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Hassle-free Schedule

services

Schedule a 
laundry pick-uppayments

A.C. services

Schedule a 
courier pick-up

Entertainment At The Fingertips

Deals

...and ends. The industry is growing... and so are we | Corporate Overview
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In a connected, digital society the way we 
live, work and play will never be the same. 
We are adopting best-in-class technology      
and strengthening partnerships with 
SMEs to empower millions of people and 
bring positive change in their lives. We 
are proud to be the nation’s preferred local 
search destination.

A Value Proposition that’s 

Unique
Search Plus is differentiated as it provides a uniform search and transact platform, 
blending service and product marketplaces. It is an extension of Just Dial’s search-
only offering, which enabled users to discover local businesses, connecting the 
user community to SMEs and vice versa. Search Plus provides a search + transact 
model that not only allows for hyper-local commerce and transactions, but also 

Where search begins...
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The value proposition offered by Search Plus for users and businesses alike has resulted in our expanded 
client base, increased listings and paid advertisements. To capture the market potential, we have enhanced 
our engagement with customers by introducing 25 service segments; and are working to ensure that the 
end transaction for a product/service is completed on our own platform.

shopfront formats on our portal. In the reverse auction route, a user indicates an interest to buy a particular 
product. Just Dial communicates this interest to businesses, which then provide competitive prices for the 
product. The shop front format allows each seller/listing to have an individual digital shopfront, enabling 
better discovery for the vendor and quick and convenient price discovery for the user.

Going forward, revenue streams for the Search Plus business will primarily comprise digital advertising, 
vendor system roll-outs, booking and product sales, vendor subscription and shopfront digital space rental.

Consumers are gradually moving to portals where vertical/horizontal vendors offer value through 
transaction capability, deals, reviews and discounts, among others. We are certain that our Search Plus 
platform will not only add value, but also create a competitive edge for our business.

 Increased engagement 
and stickiness of users

 Increase in monetization 
streams from SMEs

 Natural extension of 
core search business

 Choose vendor in local 
neighborhood for  
product of choice

 Convenience of ‘master 
app’

 Personalized door-step 
service experience

 Real-time price discovery

ONE PLATFORM TO ADDRESS MULTIPLE NEEDS

SM
ES

Ju
st

 D
ia

l

Us
er

s

 
transformation

 Application to better 
manage the business

 Shopfront for easier 
customer acquisition

 Enhance trust online

 Leverage existing hyper 
local delivery network

A value proposition that’s unique | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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A Convenience that’s 

Unrivalled

As a one-stop search destination, our 
objective is to reduce users’ time. Our search 
platform allows us to cater to almost every 

free manner.

Where search begins...
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In addition to an expanded portfolio of services and products, we offer ‘related search options’, which 
further eases the search process. We enhance user engagement through innovative mobile applications 
with a unique social interface to tag friends, search and transact and rate and review. In addition, user 
community and reviews drive engagement with a special focus on friends’ reviews and ratings.

and online business visibility, evident through increasing business listings and paid campaigns.

on the SME front. For our users, we will continue to introduce new categories, products and services and 
increase PC and mobile internet usage volume. Together, these will lead to enhanced brand awareness, 
while deepening and widening our coverage.

THE SEARCH+TRANSACT PROCESS

Broadening 
our geographic 
reach

Growing our 
SME base

Enhancing user 
experience

Strengthening 
our brand

Developing 
new products 
and services

Users choose the 
most suitable deal

Vendor contact 
is sent by 
SMS/e-mail

User directly 
pays the vendor 
online

User requirement 
sent to relevant 
vendors

Vendors 
compete to offer 
competitive deals

1 2 3 4 5

A convenience that’s unrivalled | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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We are planning for our next stage of growth by 
monetizing our business model and leveraging 
technology, as well as our talent pool. As the 
e-commerce sector expands and the online 

to gain more insights about our customers.

A Growth Pace that’s 

Impressive

Where search begins...
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consistently investing in our workforce to ensure that the delivery of these products and services remain at 
par with industry best practices.

Our business model rests on the vast potential of the SME sector. According to Zinnov, a management 

sales and visibility. Our business is monetized through paid advertisements across 11 large Indian cities, 
which contribute substantially to our campaigns. These cities account for 90% of total revenue, 70% of paid 
listings and 42% of the total listings. We expect the next phase of growth to come from Tier 2 and Tier 3 
cities, where the paid-to-free listing ratio is 1.1%, compared to the overall ratio of 2.2%. 

their businesses on our platform. We also offer three types of premium memberships in Platinum, Diamond 
and Gold along with non-premium packages to determine priority of placement in search results.

Our robust technology framework ensures accuracy and quality of the data. Our database and search 
logic is built on strong analytics. We regularly monitor and update our information database. Our team 

authenticity and acceptability of the site, we monitor the system’s infrastructure, internet and database 
continuously. Our open source platforms are powered by more than 900 servers for various intranet and 
extranet applications. These allow us to customize our technology infrastructure to provide instant and 

As a service-oriented company, we recognize the important role our teams play. We have 3,363 tele-
sales executives, 1,193 feet on street selling to SMEs and 986 Just Dial Ambassadors (JDAs) to deliver 
our products and services pan India. Accordingly, we have initiated several initiatives, including multiple 
training programs to enhance productivity and keep our workforce motivated. 

Revenue breakdown by cities Paid listing breakdown by cities Total listing breakdown by cities

Tier 2/3 cities Top 11 cities

Source: Company data

Tier 2/3 cities Top 11 cities

Source: Company data

Tier 2/3 cities Top 11 cities

Source: Company data

10% 30% 42%

90% 70% 58%

A growth pace that’s impressive | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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A Commitment that’s 

Holistic

At Just Dial, we deeply cherish the culture 
of sharing with the community and growing 
together. We support the cause of education 
and intend to make a marked difference 
towards the society.

Where search begins...
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We began by providing children of some of our employees, education in English medium schools. This 

and quality employment when they grow up.  

Providing quality education

adopting two schools in Mumbai. This initiative underlines the Company’s commitment towards partnering 
with the society ‘to help increase the level of achievement among children’ by empowering them with basic 
knowledge.

We have adopted a school run by the Art of Living Foundation, Sri Sri Ravi Shankar Vidhya Mandir at 
Dharavi, Mumbai. The school is an English Medium school, aided by modern education techniques and 
comprises over 300 children from the nearby slums. 

Just Dial provides for the operational costs of the entire functioning of this school and offers the necessary 
support and resource mobilization in many areas, including infrastructure, facilities support, monitoring 
and evaluation, providing computer and science laboratory equipment, as well as food and nutrition. The 
thrust of the project involves identifying, adopting and renovating public schools; thereby creating model 
institutions of learning for children. 

quality education to children and thus promoting and celebrating success stories within the society.

We contributed ` 7.30 million towards these educational causes in FY 2014-15.

Other Social Causes
We organize social and environmental activities like collection drives for underprivileged children or 
calamity-struck communities, beach clean-up drives, tree plantation drives, and various other on-ground 
activities. To promote our ‘Go-Green’ motto, we participate in activities such as adopting a plant and raising 

of materials and eco-friendly idol making competitions.

We hope we are able to continue to create opportunities to serve society. In doing so, we also enable 
employees to actively participate in supporting social and environmental causes, by volunteering with us.

A commitment that’s holistic | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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The Board of Directors

B. ANAND
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Anand was appointed as a Director of the Company on August 

University, and is an associate member of the ICAI. He has around 

Mr. Anand has previously worked with companies like the Future 
Group, Vedanta Resources plc, Motorola India Private Limited, Credit 

Services Limited and Citibank, N.A.

RAMANI IYER
Whole-time Director

Mr. Iyer, a co-founder of Just Dial was appointed as a Whole-time 
Director of the company w.e.f August 1, 2014. He holds a Diploma 
in Hotel Management from Delhi Institute of Management and 
Services and has around 22 years of experience. He was appointed 
as a Director of the company on October 28, 2005. Mr. Iyer has 
been associated with the Company since its incorporation and is 
responsible for its various functions, including business development 
and expansion, operations, strategic planning and execution.

V. S. S. MANI

Mr. Mani, the founder of Just Dial, has been associated with the 
Company since its incorporation. A visionary, Mr. Mani is also an 
experienced management professional with decades-rich experience 

incorporation, he co-founded ‘Ask Me Services’ and also worked with 
United Database India Private Limited. He is now engaged in exploring 
possibilities for technological innovation of the Company’s business. 

business model to suit changing market conditions. Mr. Mani is 
involved in the formulation of corporate strategy and planning, along 

V. KRISHNAN
Whole-time Director

Mr. Krishnan, a co-founder of Just Dial, has been serving as a Director 
of the Company since October 28, 2005. He has been associated with 
the Company since its incorporation, and has around two decades 

 

expansion, operations, strategic planning and execution.

Where search begins...

1 2

3 4
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RAVI ADUSUMALLI
Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr. Adusumalli has been associated with Just Dial since October 9, 

from the Cornell University, USA. Mr. Adusumalli has almost two 

Prior to this, he worked with Mobius Venture Capital.

MALCOLM MONTEIRO
Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr. Monteiro was appointed as a Director of the Company on 

Engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, Mumbai. He 

Institute of Management, Ahmedabad. Mr. Monteiro is the Chief 

SANJAY BAHADUR
Independent, Non-Executive Director

College of Engineering. He has almost three decades of experience in 

Pidilite Industries Limited for its Global Constructions and Chemicals 

Aeons Construction Products Limited, Unitech Prefab Limited and 
ACC Concrete Limited.

SHAILENDRA JIT SINGH
Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director

Mr. Singh was appointed as a Director of the Company on June 21, 

Technology, Mumbai and also a Kauffman Fellow. He has around 15 

He is currently the Managing Director of Sequoia Capital India 
Advisors Private Limited. Prior to joining this Company in 2006,  

Corporate Overview...and ends.
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Management Team

V. S. S. MANI

Mr. Mani, the founder of Just Dial, has been associated with the Company since its incorporation. A visionary, Mr. 

search services. Prior to the Company’s incorporation, he co-founded ‘Ask Me Services’, and also worked with 
United Database India Private Limited. He is now engaged in exploring possibilities for technological innovation of 

to suit the changing market conditions. He is also involved in the formulation of corporate strategy and planning, 

V. KRISHNAN
Whole-time Director

Mr. Krishnan, a co-founder of Just Dial, has been serving as a Director of the Company since October 28, 2005. He 
has been associated with the Company since its incorporation, and has around two decades of experience in the 

operations, strategic planning and execution.

SANDIPAN CHATTOPADHYAY

Statistics from the Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, and a Post-graduate Diploma in Computer aided Management 

Prior to joining Just Dial, he was associated with E Dot Solutions India Private Limited.

RAMANI IYER
Whole-time Director

Mr. Iyer, a co-founder of Just Dial was appointed as a Whole-time Director of the company w.e.f August 1, 2014. He 
holds a Diploma in Hotel Management from Delhi Institute of Management and Services and has around 22 years of 
experience. He was appointed as a Director of the company on October 28, 2005. Mr. Iyer has been associated with 
the Company since its incorporation and is responsible for its various functions, including business development and 
expansion, operations, strategic planning and execution.

Where search begins...
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RAMKUMAR KRISHNAMACHARI

Mr. Krishnamachari has been associated with the Company since August 8, 2010. He is a member of the ICAI and 
the Institute of Cost and Works Accountants of India. He is also a CFA Charter Holder from the CFA Institute, USA 

Royal Sundaram General Insurance Allied Company Limited.

KOORA SRINIVAS

accounting.

SHREOS ROY CHOWDHURY
Chief Technical Architect

Mr. Roy Chowdhury has been associated with the Company since September 21, 2010. He holds a Master’s degree 

Management Team | Corporate Overview...and ends.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ECONOMIC REVIEW
The global economy continued to expand during 2014 at a moderate and uneven pace registering a 
growth rate of 3.4%, at par with the growth in 2013. The prolonged recovery process from the global 

market conditions—remains intact.

China, as well as economic distress related to geopolitical factors—particularly in CIS nations and some 

In India, improving economic parameters was led by a 7.4% GDP growth (under the revised methodology) 

Government at the centre bode well for economic growth.

macroeconomic fundamentals and reform measures by policymakers have infused a sense of optimism in 

7.3% in 2014).

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
The online industry has witnessed remarkable growth over the past few years, leading to an expanded user 

are expected to drive internet growth. The advent of low cost smartphones coupled with low mobile tariffs 
have empowered consumers, resulting in increased use of data connectivity on a regular basis. During the 

According to IMF’s 
World Economic 
Outlook (WEO) global 
growth is estimated 
at 3.3% in 2015 and 
3.8% in 2016. In India, 
the IMF expects the 
economy to register a 
7.5% growth in 2015 
(compared to 7.3% in 
2014).
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 In sectors such as entertainment, only 5% of the audience are currently impacted by the digital wave, whereas in the travel industry, the impact 

  Creating an internet governance mechanism that enables all the stakeholders to function effectively

  Creating a local language internet to tap potential of Tier 2 and 3 cities

350 Mn users, 
India accommodates 
the second largest 
internet user population 
in the world

350 Mn 40 Mn

Indians are online 
every day

Indians spend around 

internet per month

40-45 Hrs 2nd Largest
India is the second 
largest market for 
social networking 
giants such as 

connected on to a 
social networking 
every day

58,000 

with a price range of 
` `15,000 were 
launched in India in the 
past year alone 

368
3G subscribers in India 

year 2017

284 Mn
Internet users number 
to increase to more 
than 500 million by 
2017 in India

500 Mn
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(Mn)Driving 3G subscriber base

1QFY13 9

2QFY13 15

3QFY13 18

4QFY13 22

1QFY14 23

2QFY14 25

3QFY14 31

4QFY14 37

1QFY15 45

2QFY15 55

3QFY15 63

4QFY15 71

Smartphones in India are getting cheaper

ote

Karbonn 42

LG 48

Micromax 54

Lava 60

Samsung 68

Nokia 80

Sony 81

E-COMMERCE

second largest wireless market, globally. Growth has been driven by 
rapid technology adoption led by the increasing use of devices such 
as smartphones and tablets, and access to the internet through 
broadband and 3G, among others, which led to an increased online 
consumer base. The overall wireless market is expected to expand at 

of the market.

The e-Commerce ecosystem
 Online travel, ticketing
 Online retail
  Online marketplace

online
  Online deals

not happen online
  

matrimonial portals

E-Retail opportunities

demographic dividend (young population, rising standards of living 
and upwardly mobile middle class) cheaper smartphones and rising 

an investment perspective, the market is a primarily minority stake 

of marketing strategies like Cash on Delivery, easy exchange, among 

on to reservation of hotels, restaurants, movie tickets, play tickets and 

Vendor Survey)



31Just Dial Limited | Annual Report 2014-15

Management Discussion and Analysis | Statutory  Reports...and ends.

INDUSTRY GROWTH DRIVERS

smartphones are increasingly replacing PCs for online shopping. 

through mobile apps, which is not only leading to substantial customer 

However, most mobile transactions so far are for entertainment, such 
as booking movie tickets and music downloads.

3 cities, where people have limited access to brands but have high 

seen a 30% to 50% rise in transactions.

Enhanced shopping experience

for weddings and festivals, due to a wider range of products being 

of products, wider variety, along with the ease of shopping online 

due to discounts and sales.

substantial brand image.

lifestyle and fashion brands.

Expanding the product basket
There is a recent trend of relatively newer products such as grocery, 
hygiene, and healthcare products being purchased online. Similarly, 

Increased card transactions
The ease of carrying debit and credit cards and the enhanced security 

as a sign of social status in the past, going cashless has become a 

over the last 7 years recording a total transaction value of ` 1,540 
billion in 2014.

Card transactions are rising strongly

Transaction value CAGR is 21%

580 654 618 755 966 1,230 1,540

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14

412

170
228 260 234

265

320

399

512

`

With 893 million 
wireless subscribers, 
India is positioned as 
the second largest 
wireless market, 
globally. The overall 
wireless market is 
expected to expand at 
CAGR of 43% by 2020 
with e-commerce 
expected to account for 
74% of the market.
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players is needed due to cost effectiveness 
over Third Party players

`

29 50 40 18 4 62 8

Same City Outstation CoD Reverse 
Logistics

35

Own
Third Party

Government support

services that will have the mobile phone as the backbone of its 
delivery mechanism. The programme will give a strong boost to the 

warehousing and will also present a potentially huge market for goods 
to be sold.

model going ahead, especially when India Post transacted business 
worth ` 

BUSINESS REVIEW

local search and related information to being an enabler of such 

that the Company can promote its new products (Search Plus 
services and marketplace)

search results

SERVICE PLATFORMS
The Company aims to be a one stop destination for search and 

free local search service through various mediums like internet, mobile 
internet, mobile applications, voice and SMS.

Internet

and reviews and search by Category, Company and Product adds to 
an enhanced user experience. The Company has adopted indigenous 

of technological expertise to the hilt to enhance the experience for its 
digital users.

Mobile internet
The Company has mobile applications across the operating platforms 

enable the service on their internet browser on their mobile internet 

Voice & SMS
Since inception of the Company, voice based search services form an 

search mode, SMS search have been designed for users who seek 

Mumbai and Pune.
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SEARCH PLUS

provider to becoming a platform to enable transactions between users 

  Ordering Services
  Scheduling Services

The Company plans to build a comprehensive business network across 

to enable users to search and transact simultaneously, which is both, 

with users through tags, ratings and reviews ensuring trust. Currently, 
the Company has 25 Search Plus services which extend from ordering 

booking a table at a restaurant.

Value Proposition

Maps, for directions on its platform. The Company has witnessed 

enhanced credibility and confidence to source the right vendors 
and with functional features like Maps and transactional tabs, the 

Listings
The main revenue generation for the Company comes from the 
advertisers who list themselves with the Company on various 

advertising platform at the micro level and in a cost effective 
mode. In the paid listings, the Company offers the advertisers to 

 

Ensuring Data Integrity and Quality
The Company ensures its database is updated with relevant 

and updates the information of businesses, supplementing with new 
entries to ensure accuracy of the information provided to its users. 
The data collected (like geographical location, images, videos and 

based searches.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Sales and Marketing

training programs to ensure the team converts its free business 
listings into paid listings. The sales and marketing team works 
closely with the database team to identify and reach out to potential 
advertisers. Various promotional schemes are carried out which are 

Marketing and business development
The Company advertises regularly to strengthen its brand and 
enhance its exposure to a wider user base. The Company uses 
digital marketing tools, such as virtual marketing and online display 
banners, and has a strong presence across social media platforms (like 

 

Search Plus marks Just 
Dial’s shift from being 
a local search provider 
to becoming a platform 
to enable transactions 
between users and 
SMEs.
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TECHNOLOGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE

and upgraded technology and sound infrastructure. These two factors 
are integral for the success in operation and management of assets. 

industry experience. The team develops new software applications for 
daily business needs.

The systems infrastructure, internet and database are secured at 
IDC plus all centres and are continuously monitored by a strong 
engineering support team. The open source platforms are powered 
by more than 900 servers for various intranet and extranet 
applications. The strong information technology system allows the 

shortest possible timeframe.

SECURITY
Possessing information of the buyers and advertisers, the Company 
maintains a stringent security on the information database. It has 
strong controls, policies and procedures pertaining to information 
security which ensure prevention of any fraud or loss of information. 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Company is focused on increasing its presence in more cities 

has led to consistent increase in revenues and profitability over 
the years.

` Million

FY 2014-15
Audited

FY 2013-14
Audited

FY 2012-13
Audited

FY 2011-12
Audited

FY 2010-11
Restated

5-year 
CAGR

Revenue from operations

Other income 399.49  131.54 37.27 90.27%

Total income 5,012.42  2,752.15

 1,905.42 715.74 422.97

from ` `  

Other income increased by 22.29% from ` 

to ` 

The total income increased by 27.41% from ` 5,012.41 Million in 
` 

 
` ` 

`  
` 

` 

` 

 
by 39% from ` ` 

` 

compared to ̀  

to ` ` 

Revenue
Revenue from local search operations is derived from various 
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The Company operates a prepaid revenue model and advances are received 
from advertisers as listing fees. The difference between the collected 
revenue and accrued revenue is accounted as unearned revenue in the 

` 2,102.29 Million 
` 

faith reposed by customers on an ongoing basis as a result of the premium 

Other income

increased to ` ` 

interest income from non current investments has increased to 
` ` 

14.The Company switches out its investments from funds based on 
performance of such funds and reinvests the amount in other funds 

current investments is a result of this strategy.

` 

` 

due to increase in employee strength. Our focus on enhancing 
technology infrastructure and expanding our geographic footprint 
necessitated employee augmentation during the year. The employee 

Finance costs

burden on the Company.

Depreciation and amortization expense

from ` ` 

15. The Company has been investing in upgradation and expansion of 
infrastructure and has invested ` 

outlay) on Information Technology and ` 10.24 Million (about 2% of the 

the increase in employee strength with best possible technological support 
for attaining a niche position in conducting the operations.

Other Expenses
Other expenses have increased by 27.49% from ` 903.94 Million in 

` 

other expenses is due to increase in communication costs, database 
and content charges, power and fuel, rent charges, and advertising.

Income Taxes
The Income Tax provision increased from ` 

14 to ` 

Current investments

have increased from ` ` 

bonds of ` ` 

has deployed its current investments in debt based mutual funds and 
tax free bonds to attain a balance between returns and preservation 
of capital. The funds are available for redemption as per the fund 

OPPORTUNITIES AND THREATS
Opportunities
Favorable demographics in India

of between ` 200,000 to ` 1,000,000) expected to grow tenfold to 

coupled with a primarily young populace means that India is more 
open to the idea of going digital with increased online transactions 
and high adoption rates for new technology.

The switch to mobile internet
 The rapid and widespread adoption of mobile devices aided by fall in 
prices of 3G data tariffs and smartphones, makes it easier to serve 

Changing lifestyles

shopping mean that consumers are going to explore and exploit 
online mediums soon. In this case, since our model revolves around 

a consumer base that needs these services.

Real-time price discovery

No-inventory based model

will aid in effectively competing in this challenging landscape.
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Threats
Lack of growth and scalability
 Our failure to manage our growth and scalability or adapt to 
technological developments or industry trends could affect the 
performance and features of our products and services and reduce 

offering or expansion into new markets in India, we must continuously 
improve, upgrade, adapt and expand our systems and infrastructure. 

ahead of rapidly evolving consumer demands to our users and paid 
advertisers. These initiatives need to be in focus while maintaining 

especially in the Search Plus domain where consumer experience is 
critical; our inability to execute well might hinder the overall brand 
pull.

User dependency on search engines

Google will impact us.

Competition from vertical players

for these verticals and may impact our share of the pie adversely.

Reduced brand awareness

increasingly competitive, maintaining and enhancing our brand will 
become critical to ensure that we continue to remain one of the 

about us or our products and services, especially when we face intense 
and increasing competition, could harm our brand reputation and 

Misuse of service platforms
 If our service platforms are misused, it could lead to user dissatisfaction 
and discourage the use of our products and services and have a 
material adverse effect on our business and reputation.

Reliance on SMEs
 Our business may be materially and adversely affected by our reliance 

Lack of high speed data infrastructure growth

above) data bandwidth growth could impair user experience in some 
cases and cause slowness in adoption of mobile internet, which in 
turn can impact growth of our user base.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company has incorporated a strong risk mitigation strategy which 
is developed by taking into account all the possible risks. It has a 
detailed risk mitigating procedure with sound monitoring to anticipate 
and manage the risks.

Risk Mitigation Strategy adopted

infrastructure to provide services with increasing 
geographic presence

  Continuously upgrades and monitors its systems, infrastructure and 
technologies for the diversity of its services.

unmatched customer satisfaction.

friendly information service for its users.

Inability to provide improvised services to enable 
customers to search and also get assistance in transactions

  Data integrity and seamless delivery of goods and services

information for its users.

Plus services In the process of upgrading itself as an enabler to allow 
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Risk Mitigation Strategy adopted

Inability to expand operations into newer regions   

newer opportunities. The Company has an evangelist programme, termed 

for its listing partners.

Inability to counter competition from other local and larger   Clear leadership in local search with strong brand recall, leadership in 

51 Million ratings across various listings.
  Corporate website ranked 40th among the top websites in India.

provides a measurable metrics of performance.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

the importance of professionalism. The Company has embarked 
on several human resource initiatives to enhance the productivity 

were taken in order to impart training in various locations of the 

the basic costs borne by the Company.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONTROLS

other data, and for maintaining accountability of assets. The internal 

control system is supplemented by an extensive program of internal 
audits, reviews by management, and documented policies, guidelines 

DISCLAIMER
Statements in this management discussion and analysis describing 

or materially from those expressed or implied. Important developments 

the domestic auto industry, competition, rise in input costs, exchange 

and labor relations.
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Directors’ Report

Dear Members,

We, the Directors of Just Dial Limited, (the “Company”) are delighted to present 21st Annual Report along 
with the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2015 (the “Report”).

1. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
` in million

Particulars 2014-2015 2013-2014
Revenue from Operations 5,897.98 4,612.93
Other Income 488.55 399.49
Total Revenue 6,386.53 5,012.42

2,146.41 1,821.47
Less: Depreciation 241.00 172.91

1,905.41 1,648.56
Less: Provision for tax 516.51 442.48

1,388.90 1,206.08
Add: Balance brought forward 2,031.21 1,109.88

3,420.11 2,315.96

 Proposed Final Equity Dividend 140.99 140.30
 Tax on Proposed Final Equity Dividend 28.70 23.84
 Transferred to General Reserve 138.89 120.61
 Depreciation adjustment (net of deferred tax) 6.11 -

3,105.42 2,031.21

2. STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIRS, BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FUTURE OUTLOOK
  The revenue from the operation has increased by about 27.86% on accrual basis to ̀  5,897.98 million in the 

year ended March 31, 2015 as compared to ` 4,612.93 million in the year ended March 31, 2014.

  The Company’s earnings before interest, depreciation and taxes (EBITDA) margin stands at 33.61% 

year increased by 15.58% to ` 1,905.41 million as compared to ` 1,648.56 million for the preceding 

` 1,388.90 million as 
compared to ` 

  During the year there were no changes in the nature of business of the Company, the detailed 
discussion on Company’s overview and future outlook has been given in the section on ‘Management 
Discussion and Analysis’ (MDA).

3. DIVIDEND
  In continuation of earlier trend of declaring cash dividend, your Directors have recommended a dividend of  

` 
the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

` 169.69 million 
(inclusive of tax of ` 28.70 million) compared to ` 164.14 million (inclusive of tax of ` 23.84 million) 
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4. TRANSFER TO RESERVE

transferred ̀  
year ended on March 31, 2015, as compared to ` 120.61 million 

5. DEPOSIT
  During the year under review, the Company has not accepted any 

deposits within the meaning of Chapter V of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 
2014, hence there is no details to disclose as required under Rule 8 
(5) (v) and (vi) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

6. SUBSIDIARY COMPANY
  The Company did not have any subsidiary, joint venture or 

Just Dial Inc., USA has become a subsidiary of the Company w.e.f. 
October 1, 2014.

7. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

129 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Accounting Standard (AS) 
21 on Consolidated Financial Statements has been provided in 
the Annual Report.

(3) of Section 129 read with Rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014 in the prescribed form AOC – 1 is annexed as 

 of this report.

8. SHARE CAPITAL
   The authorised share capital of the Company is  

` 1,01,20,00,000/- divided in to 10,00,00,000 Equity Shares 
of face value of ` 10/- each and 12,00,000 Preference 
Shares of ` 10/- each. There has been no change in the 
authorised share capital of the Company, during the year 
under review.

   The paid-up share capital of the Company has increased 
from ̀  701.51 million to ̀  704.93 million, during year under 
review, pursuant to allotment of 3,42,195 Equity Shares of  
` 10/- each to the employees of the Company upon exercise 
of options granted to them under the ESOP Scheme, 2010.

   The Company has not issued any equity shares with 
differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise, during 
the year under review.

   The Company has not issued any sweat equity shares to its 
Directors or employees, during the year under review.

9. AWARDS & RECOGNITIONS
  The Company has been awarded a “Plaque” for Excellence in 

of Chartered Accountants of India.

10. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONS
  The Company has 9(nine) Directors on the Board, of which 

3(three) are Independent Directors, 3(three) are Non-executive 
Directors and 3(three) are Executive Directors including our 
Managing Director as on March 31, 2015.

   During the year under review, the members have approved 
the following appointments on the Board of the Company:

    Mr. B. Anand, Mr. Malcolm Monteiro and Mr. Sanjay 
Bahadur, as Independent Directors, who are not liable 
to retire by rotation.

    Mrs. Anita Mani, as a Woman Director, in pursuance 
of the provisions of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

    Mr. Ramani Iyer, as a Whole-time Director, w.e.f. 
August 1, 2014.

   In terms of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. 

at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible 
for re-appointment, offers himself for re-appointment. The 
information as required to be disclosed under Clause 49 of 
the Listing Agreement in case of re-appointment of directors 
will be provided in the notice of ensuing Annual General 
Meeting.

from the following Independent Directors of the Company 

prescribed under Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

  1. Mr. B. Anand;
  2. Mr. Malcolm Monteiro; and
  3. Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

   Pursuant to Clause 49 of Listing Agreement the Company 
has framed a familiarisation programme for its Independent 
Directors, the details of the same are available at Company’s 
Website at http://cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/policies.
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Personnel
   Mr. V. S. S. Mani, Managing Director and Chief Executive 

Company Secretary of the Company are the key managerial 
personnel as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

Companies Act, 2013.

   Mr. Ramani Iyer, was appointed as Whole-time Director of 
the Company w.e.f. August 1, 2014 and being considered 
as key managerial person as per the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 from that date. None of the key 
managerial personnel has resigned during the year under 
review.

11. NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
  6 (Six) meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company were 

held during the year under review. Detailed information of the 
meetings of the Board is included in the Report on Corporate 
Governance, which forms part of this Report.

12. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
  Pursuant to the requirement under Section 134 (3) (c) of the 

that:

 (a)  in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable 
accounting standards had been followed along with proper 
explanation relating to material departures;

 (b)  the Directors had selected such accounting policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at 

Company for that period;

maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and 
other irregularities;

 (d)  the Directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going 
concern basis;

controls are adequate and were operating effectively; and

 (f)  the Directors had devised proper systems to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and 
that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

13.  POLICY ON DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT AND 
REMUNERATION

  The Company has in place a policy the ‘Nomination and 
Remuneration Policy’ in respect of appointment and remuneration 
of Directors, key managerial persons and senior managerial 

attributes, independence of a Director and other matters. The policy 
is annexed as  and forms part of this Report.

  The Nomination and Remuneration Policy is available at http://
cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/policies.

14. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF THE BOARD
  The Company has engaged a consultant for advising on the 

criteria and process for evaluation of its Board, its Committees and 
individual Directors and a structured questionnaire was prepared 
after taking into consideration inputs received from the Directors, 
covering various aspects of the Board’s functioning such as 
adequacy of the composition of the Board and its Committees, 

obligations and governance.

  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Company 
has laid down the criteria for performance evaluation of the 
Board, its Committees and individual directors including 
independent Directors.

  Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Clause 
49 of the Listing Agreement, the Board has carried out the annual 
performance evaluation of its own performance, the Individual 
Directors including Independent Directors and its Committees 
on parameters such as level of engagement and contribution, 
independence of judgment, safeguarding the interest of the 
Company and its minority shareholders etc.

15. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
  The Company has several committees which have been 

established as a part of the best corporate governance practices 
and are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant 
provisions of applicable laws and statutes:
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  The Committees and their Composition are as follows:

 1. Mr. B. Anand,  Chairman
 2. Mr. Sanjay Bahadur,  Member
 3. Mr. Malcolm Monteiro,  Member

 1. Mr. Malcolm Monteiro,  Chairman
 2. Mr. Sanjay Bahadur,  Member
 3. Mr. Ravi Adusumalli,  Member

 1. Mr. Sanjay Bahadur, Chairman
 2. Mr. V. S. S. Mani,  Member
 3. Mr. Ramani Iyer,  Member
 4. Mr. Ramkumar Krishnamachari,  Member
 5. Mr. Sachin Jain,  Member

 1. Mr. B. Anand,  Chairman
 2.  Mr. V. S. S. Mani,  Member
 3. Mr. V. Krishnan,  Member

 1. Mr. B. Anand,  Chairman
 2. Mr. Sanjay Bahadur,  Member
 3. Mr. V. Krishnan, Member
 4. Mr. Ramkumar Krishnamachari,  Member

 1. Mr. V. S. S. Mani,  Chairman
 2. Mr. V. Krishnan,  Member
 3. Mr. Ramani Iyer,  Member

  The details with respect to the, powers, roles and terms of reference 
etc. of the relevant committees of the board are given in detail in the 
Corporate Governance Report of the Company which forms part of 
this Report.

16. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY( CSR)
  In compliance with Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 

read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy) Rules, 2014, the Company has formed Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Committee and statutory disclosures with 
respect to the CSR Committee and an Annual Report on CSR 
Activities forms part of this Report as .

  The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy is available at 
http://cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/policies

17. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT
  The Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the 

year under review as stipulated under Clause 49 of the listing 
agreement is presented in a separate section and forming part of 
this Annual Report.

18. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
  Your Directors act as trustees of the shareholders and are 

committed to achieve the highest standards of corporate 
governance and adhere to various corporate governance 
requirements. The Report on Corporate Governance as stipulated 
under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement forms an integral part 
of this Report. The report on Corporate Governance also contains 
certain disclosures required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Company Secretary, conforming compliance to the conditions 
of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Clause 49 of the 
Listing Agreement, is annexed to this Report.

19. DETAILS OF ESTABLISHMENT OF VIGIL MECHANISM
  The Company has implemented a whistle blower policy pursuant 

to which whistle blowers can raise concern in relation to the 
matters covered under the policy. Protected disclosures can 
be made by a whistle blower through an e-mail to the ethics 

Committee, in exceptional cases. The functioning of the Vigil 
Mechanism is reviewed by the Audit Committee from time to 
time. The whistle blower policy is available at the link: http://
cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/policies.

20. STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
  During the year, your Directors have constituted a Risk 

Management Committee, which has been entrusted with the 
responsibility to assist the Board in (a) Overseeing and approving 
the Company’s enterprise-wide risk management framework; 
and (b) Overseeing that all the risks that the organisation 

personnel, IT, legal, regulatory, reputational and other risks.

all the material risks that may be faced by the Company and 
ensured proper policy, procedure and adequate infrastructure 
are in place for monitoring, mitigating and reporting risks on a 
periodical basis.

21.  PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR 
INVESTMENTS

  During the year under review, the Company has not given any 
loan or provided any Guarantees or security to any person or 
entity mentioned in Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
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However, the Company has purchased 100% holding of Just Dial 
Inc. USA, for a consideration of ` 44,67,964/- and invested the 
surplus funds available in the units of mutual funds, tax free 
bonds and debt securities. The details of which are provided in 

22.  PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS 
WITH RELATED PARTIES

  All contracts/arrangements/transactions entered by the 

the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis. 
During the year, the Company had not entered into any contract/
arrangement/transaction with related parties which could be 
considered material in accordance with the policy of the Company 
on materiality of related party transactions.

  The Policy on materiality of related party transactions and dealing 
with related party transactions as approved by the Board is 
available at the link: http://cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/
policies.

  The particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties 
is attached in prescribed form AOC-2 as  and forms 
part of this report.

23. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL SYSTEM
  The Company has in place adequate standards, processes and 

tested and no reportable material weakness in the design or 
operation was observed.

24. LISTING
  The Equity Shares of the Company are listed on National Stock 

Exchange of India Limited, BSE Limited and Metropolitan Stock 
Exchange of India Limited.

25. AUDITORS

Mumbai, has been appointed as Statutory Auditors of the 
Company for a period of 5 years from the conclusion of 20th 
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the 25th Annual 

the members annually.

   The Board of Directors of your Company has recommended 

Statutory Auditors of the Company from the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting till the conclusion of next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company on such remuneration as may be 
mutually decided by the Board of Directors or committee 
thereof and Statutory Auditors.

   The Statutory audit report does not contain any 

except Clause (iv) and Clause (vii) (b)  of the annexure to 
auditor’s report. The comments by auditors in Clause (iv) 
of the annexure to auditor’s report and note 27(B) to the 

self-explanatory and do not call for any further comments.

Practicing Company Secretary, to conduct Secretarial Audit 

herewith marked as  to this Report. The 

reservation or adverse remark.

26. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS
  There were no material changes and commitments, affecting the 

and the date of Directors’ Report, i.e. May 29, 2015.

27. DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS

material orders passed by the regulators/courts/tribunals, 
which may impact the going concern status and the Company’s 
operations in future.

28.  PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES AND RELATED 
DISCLOSURES

 (A)  The statement containing particulars of employees as 
required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rules 5(2) and (3) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014, forms part of this report as 

.

 (B)  The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median 
employee’s remuneration and other details in terms of 
sub-section 12 of Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are 
forming part of this report as .

 (C)  Neither the Managing Director nor Whole-time Directors of 
the Company receive any remuneration or commission from 
its subsidiary.
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29.  TRANSFER TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND 
PROTECTION FUND

  The Company does not have any unpaid/unclaimed amount which 
is required to be transferred, under the provisions of Companies Act, 
2013 into the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) of 
the Government of India, However, following are the outstanding 
amount as on March 31, 2015 with the Company:

 A. unclaimed and unpaid dividend of ` 16,08,036/-

 B.  Unclaimed share application money pending for refund of  
` 7,52,461/-.

  The Company will transfer the unclaimed amount, if any, lying in 
aforesaid accounts on completion of Seven years from the date it 
become due for refund.

30.  CONSERVATION OF ENERGY AND TECHNOLOGY 
ABSORPTION

  The disclosures to be made under Section 134 (3) (m) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8 (3) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 by the Company are as under:

 (i) The steps taken or impact on conservation of energy:
   Though business operation of the Company is not energy-

intensive, the Company, being a responsible corporate 
citizen, makes conscious efforts to reduce its energy 
consumption. Some of the measures undertaken by the 
Company on a continuous basis, including during the year, 
are listed below:

  b)  Rationalisation of usage of electrical equipment– air-

dispensers, desktops.

  c)  Regular monitoring of temperature inside the buildings 
and controlling the air-conditioning system.

  d)  Planned Preventive Maintenance schedule put in place 
for electro-mechanical equipment.

 (ii)  Steps taken by the Company for utilizing alternate source of 
energy.

   The business operation of the Company are not energy-
intensive, hence apart from steps mentioned above to 
conserve energy, there is no requirement to utilise the 
alternate source of energy.

 (iii)  The capital investment on energy conservation equipment:

   There is no capital investment on energy conservation 
equipments during the year under review.

 (i) The efforts made towards technology absorption:
   The Company is itself operates into the dynamic information 

technology space. The Company has a sizeable team of 
Information technology to evaluate technology developments 
on a continuous basis and keep the organisation updated. The 
Company also has an in-house research and development 
department to cater the requirements of existing business 
as well as new products, services, designs, frameworks, 
processes and methodologies. This allows the Company to 
serve its users in innovated ways and provide satisfaction 
and convenience to the users and customers.

   The Company emphasizes the investment in technology 

Company has developed most of its softwares required 
for operations as well as its apps, in-house .It has saved a 
sizeable amount of funds, ensured data protection and also 
helps to understand in better way the requirements of users 
and customers.

 (iii)  The Company has not imported any technology during last 

 (iv)  The Company has incurred an expenditure to the extent of  
` 66.5 million on Research and Development during the 
year under review.

   The Company has not earned any foreign exchange during 

during the year is as under:
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31. EXTRACT OF THE ANNUAL RETURN
  Pursuant to sub-section 3(a) of Section 134 and sub-section (3) 

of Section 92 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 12 of 
the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 
the extracts of the Annual Return as at March 31, 2015 forms 
part of this report as .

32. PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT
  Your Company is fully committed to uphold and maintain the 

dignity of women working in the Company and has zero tolerance 
towards any actions which may fall under the ambit of sexual 
harassment at work place. The Company has not received any 
complaint during the year under review.

  The policy framed pursuant to the legislation ‘Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal of Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace Act, 2013 read with Rules framed there under may be 
viewed at http://cms.justdial.com/investor-relations/policies.

33. EMPLOYEES’ STOCK OPTION SCHEME
  The Stock Option Schemes enable the Company to hire and retain 

the best talent for its senior management and key positions. 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company, inter alia, administers and monitors 
the Employees’ Stock Option Schemes in accordance with the 
applicable SEBI Guidelines.

  The Company has granted 5,90,112 options under ESOP schemes 
during the year under review.

  The applicable disclosures as stipulated under the SEBI Guidelines 
as on March 31, 2015 (cumulative position) with regard to the 
Just Dial Private Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme, 2010, 
Just Dial Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme, 2013 and Just 
Dial Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme, 2014 are provided 
in  to this Report.

the Company that the Schemes have been implemented in 
accordance with the SEBI Guidelines and the resolution passed 

General Meeting for inspection by members. Voting rights on the 
shares issued to employees under the ESOS are either exercised 
by them directly or through their appointed proxy.

34. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
  Your Directors take the opportunity to express our deep sense 

of gratitude to all users, vendors, Government and non-
governmental agencies and bankers for their continued support 
in Company’s growth and look forward to their continued support 
in the future.

  Your Directors would also like to express their gratitude to the 

management of the Company.

Amount in `

Sr. 
No.

Particulars 2014-15 2013-14

1 Travelling and Conveyance 19,37,005 10,43,963
2 Internet and Server Charges 2,99,61,494 18,48,254
3 Advertising and Sales Promotion 55,12,726 60,47,206
5 Database and Content Charges 14,68,845 17,51,964

Total 3,88,80,069 1,06,91,387

For and on behalf of the Board

Just Dial Limited
CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054 V. S. S. Mani Ramani Iyer
501/B, 5th Floor Palm Court, Building – M, Whole-time Director
New Link Road, Malad (West), Mumbai – 400 064. (DIN-00202052) (DIN-00033559)

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015
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FORM AOC-1

Joint Ventures

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in `)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars

1. Name of the subsidiary Just Dial Inc. Delaware, United States of America
2. Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the holding 

company’s reporting period
-

3. Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the relevant 
Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries

US Dollars.
Ex rate: 1 USD = ` 62.5908

4. Share capital 30,356,538
5. (25,490,664)
6. Total assets 6,634,436
7. Total Liabilities 6,634,436
8. Investments NIL
9. Turnover 4,962,249
10. (946,171)
11. Provision for taxation (460,738)
12. (485,433)
13. Proposed Dividend NIL
14. % of shareholding 100%

 
1. The Company do not have any subsidiary, which is yet to commence operations.
2. The Company has not liquidated or sold any subsidiary, during the year under consideration.

Annexure – 1
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Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures
Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

Name of associates/Joint Ventures NA
1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date NA
2. Shares of Associate/Joint Ventures held by the company on the year end NA
 No.
 Amount of Investment in Associates/Joint Venture NA
 Extend of Holding%
3. NA
4. Reason why the associate/joint venture is not consolidated NA
5. Net worth attributable to shareholding as per latest audited Balance Sheet NA
6. NA
 i. Considered in Consolidation NA
 ii. Not Considered in Consolidation NA

1. The Company do not have any associates or joint ventures, which is yet to commence operations.
2. The Company has not liquidated or sold any associates or joint ventures, during the year under consideration.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Just Dial Limited

V. S. S. Mani Ramani Iyer
Whole-time Director

(DIN-00202052) (DIN-00033559)

Ramkumar Krishnamachari Sachin Jain
Company Secretary

Place: Mumbai

Date: May 29, 2015
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Annexure – 2

  In pursuance of the Company’s philosophy to consider human 
resources as its invaluable assets and to pay equitable remuneration 
to all Directors, Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) and Senior 
Managerial Persons of the Company, to harmonise the aspirations 
of human resources consistent with the goals of the Company 
and in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
the listing agreement as amended from time to time, this policy 
on nomination and remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and Senior Managerial Persons has been formulated by 
the Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

 The objective and purpose of this policy are:

 i)  To lay down criteria and terms and conditions with regard 

(Executive, Non-Executive and Independent) and persons 
who may be appointed in Key Managerial and Senior 
Management positions and to determine their remuneration.

 ii)  To determine remuneration based on the Company’s size and 

prevailing in peer companies or in the industry.

 iii)  To carry out evaluation of the performance of Directors, as 
well as Key Managerial and Senior Management Personnel.

 iv)  To provide them reward linked directly to their effort, 
performance, dedication and achievement relating to the 
Company’s operations.

 v)  To retain, motivate and promote talent and to ensure long 
term sustainability of talented managerial persons and 
create competitive advantage. 

  This policy shall be effective on approval from the Board of Directors 
and shall be applicable for the Financial Year 2014-2015.

 i) Board means Board of Directors of the Company.

 ii) Directors mean Directors of the Company.

 iii)  Committee means Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of the Company as constituted or reconstituted 
by the Board.

 iv) Company means Just Dial Limited.

 v)  Independent Director means a director referred to in Section 
149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013.

 vi) Key Managerial Personnel (KMP) means:

  a) Managing Director;

  b) Whole-time Director;

  d) Company Secretary;

applicable statutory provisions / regulations.

 vi)  Senior Managerial Persons means personnel of the Company 
occupying the position of Sr. Vice President and above or 
head of any department of the Company. 

   Unless the context otherwise requires, words and expressions 

Companies Act, 2013 as may be amended from time to time 
shall have the meaning respectively assigned to them therein.

 The Policy Shall be applicable to:

 i) Directors (Executive, Non-Executive and Independent)

 ii) Key Managerial Personnel

 iii) Senior Managerial Persons

6. General Provisions
 This Policy is divided in three parts: 

  Part – A covers the matters to be dealt with and recommended by 
the Committee to the Board, 

 Part – B covers the appointment and nomination and

 Part – C covers remuneration and perquisites etc.
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PART – A

The Committee shall:

attributes and independence of a director. The Committee may 
consider following criteria for the same:

 a)  Possess fundamental qualities of intelligence, 
perceptiveness, good judgment, maturity, high ethics and 
standards, integrity and fairness.

 b)  Have a genuine interest in the Company and recognition that, as 
a member of the Board, one is accountable to the shareholders 
of the Company, not to any particular interest group.

 c)  Have, as a general rule, a background that includes broad 
business experience or demonstrates an understanding of 

multifaceted, global business organisation.

which would interfere with the duty of loyalty owed to the 
Company and its shareholders. 

 e)  Have the ability and be willing to spend the time required to 
function effectively as an Independent Director.

 f)  Have independent opinions and be willing to state them in a 
constructive manner.

 g)  The Independent Directors, apart from the Directors 
remuneration,  do not have any material pecuniary 
relationship of transactions with the Company, its promoter, 
its director, its senior management or its holding company, 
its subsidiary and associate companies which may affect 
his/her independence as an Independent Director and have 
not had any pecuniary relationships with the Company, its 
holding company, subsidiary and associate companies, or its 

 h)  None of relatives of the Independent Directors, had, or 
have, any pecuniary relationship or transaction with the 
Company, its holding, subsidiary or associate companies, or 
their promoters, or directors, amounting to 2% or more of its 
gross turnover or total income or ` 50 lakhs or such higher 
amount as may be prescribed, whichever is lower, during 

  i)  The Independent Directors have not, nor in the past 
have been, a promoter of the Company or its holding, 
subsidiary or associate companies;

 j)  The Independent Directors do not related to promoters or 
directors of the Company, its holding, subsidiary or associate 
companies or to persons occupying management positions at 
the board level or at one level below the board in the Company;

 k)  The Independent Directors have not been an executive of the 

 l)  The Independent Directors should not a partner or an 
executive or was not partner or an executive during the 
preceding three years, of any of the following:

associated with the Company, and

material association with the Company.

 m) No Independent Director or its relatives: 

  1.  hold or has held the position of a key managerial 
personnel or is or has been an employee of the Company 
or its holding, subsidiary or associate company in any 

was appointed, an employee or proprietor or a partner, of:

practice or cost auditors of the Company or its 
holding, subsidiary or associate company; or

any transaction with the Company, its holding, 
subsidiary or associate company amounting to 

   3.  hold, together with its relatives, 2% or more of the 
total voting  power of the Company; or

   4.  is a Chief Executive or Director, by whatever name 

25% or more of its receipts from the Company, any of 
its promoters, directors or its holding, subsidiary or 
associate Company; or (b) holds 2% or more of the 
total voting power of the Company. 
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 n)  The Independent Directors should not be a material supplier, 
service provider or a customer or a lessor or lessee of the 
Company, which may affect his/her independence as a Director; 

Committee may consider following criteria for the same:

   a)  Directors will be selected on the basis of talent and 
experience without regard to race, religion, sex or 
national origin. The Company seeks a Board with a 
diversity of background among its members and a 
Board that will possess certain core competencies.

experience, show familiarity with national and 
international issues, possess sound business 
judgment, and have other attributes that will 
enhance shareholder value.

   c)  Possess fundamental qualities of intelligence, 
perceptiveness, good judgment, maturity, high 
ethics and standards, integrity and fairness.

   d)  Have a genuine interest in the Company and 
recognition that, as a member of the Board, one is 
accountable to the shareholders of the Company, 
not to any particular interest group.

legal impediment which would interfere with 
the duty of loyalty owed to the Company  
and its shareholders. 

   f)  Have the ability and be willing to spend the time 
required to function effectively as a Director.

   iii)  Identify persons who may be appointed in Key 
Managerial and Senior Managerial Persons.

     In respect of Key managerial Persons, other that 
Managing Director and Whole-time Directors 
(which were covered above), and Senior 
Managerial Persons the Committee may consider 
following criteria:

    a)  Possess fundamental qualities of intelligence, 
perceptiveness, good judgment, maturity, high 
ethics and standards, integrity and fairness.

required for the position.

    c) Minimum and maximum age for the post

    d) Minimum relevant experience for the post.

   iv)  Recommendation to the Board, Appointment of 
Directors, Key Managerial Persons and Senior 
Managerial Persons.

     The Committee will time to time discuss and review 
with Managing Director, whole-time Director and 
HR Department about the appropriate skills and 
characteristics of Directors, Key Managerial Persons 
and Senior Managerial Persons. This should include 
issues of diversity, age, business or academic 
background and other criteria that the Committee 

review, the Committee may submit its report to the 
Board on appointment of Director, Key Managerial 
Persons and Senior Managerial Persons.

PART – B

Managerial Persons

 1.  The Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, 

appointment as Director, KMP or at Senior Management 
level and recommend to the Board his / her appointment.

and experience for the position he / she is considered for 
appointment. The Committee has discretion to decide 

 3.  The Company shall not appoint or continue the employment 
of any person as Whole-time Director who has not attained 
the age of 21 years or has attained the age of seventy years. 
Provided that the term of the person holding this position 
may be extended beyond the age of seventy years with the 
approval of shareholders by passing a special resolution 
based on the explanatory statement annexed to the notice 

appointment beyond seventy years.

   The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its 
Managing Director or Whole-time Director for a term not 

made earlier than one year before the expiry of term.
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consecutive years on the Board of the Company and will be 
eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special resolution 
by the Company and disclosure of such appointment in the 
Board’s report.

consecutive terms, but such Independent Director shall be 
eligible for appointment after expiry of three years of ceasing 
to become an Independent Director. Provided that an 
Independent Director shall not, during the said period of three 
years, be appointed in or be associated with the Company in 
any other capacity, either directly or indirectly. However, if a 
person who has already served as an Independent Director 
for 5 years or more in the Company as on October 1, 2014 
or such other date as may be determined by the Committee 
as per regulatory requirement, he / she shall be eligible for 
appointment for one more term of 5 years only.

   At the time of appointment of Independent Director it 
should be ensured that number of Boards on which such 
Independent Director serves is restricted to seven listed 
companies as an Independent Director and three listed 
companies as an Independent Director in case such person 
is serving as a Whole-time Director of a listed company.

   The Committee shall carry out annual evaluation of 
performance of every Director, Key Managerial Persons and 
Senior Managerial Persons. The Committee may discuss and 
review with Managing Director, Whole-time Director, HR 
Department and Head of Departments about the appropriate 
skills, characteristics of Directors, Key Managerial Persons 
and Senior Managerial Persons. Based on this discussion and 
review, the Committee may submit its report to the Board on 
evaluation for appraisal, rewards, recognition etc. of Director, 
Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial Persons.

Act, 2013, rules made thereunder or under any other 
applicable Act, rules and regulations, the Committee may 
recommend, to the Board with reasons recorded in writing, 
removal of a Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial 
Persons subject to the provisions and compliance of the said 
Act, rules and regulations.

   The Committee will time to time discuss and review with 
Managing Director, Whole-time Director and HR Department 

about the performance and suitability of Directors, Key 
Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial Persons. Based 
on this discussion and review, the Committee may submit its 
report to the Board on removal of Director, Key Managerial 
Persons and Senior Managerial Persons.

   The Director, Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial 
Persons shall retire as per the applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the prevailing policy of the Company. 
The Board will have the discretion to retain the Director, Key 
Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial Persons in the 
same position / remuneration or otherwise even after attaining 

PART – C

 I.  The remuneration / compensation / commission etc. to the 
Managing Director, Whole-time Directors, Key Managerial 
Persons and Senior Managerial Persons will be determined 
by the Committee and recommended to the Board for 
approval. The remuneration / compensation / commission 
etc. shall be subject to the prior/post approval of the 
shareholders of the Company and Central Government, 
wherever required.

 II.  The remuneration and commission to be paid to the 
Managing Director, Whole-time Director shall be in 
accordance with the percentage / slabs / conditions laid 
down in the Articles of Association of the Company and as 
per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules 
made thereunder.

 III.  The remuneration and commission to be paid to Non-
Executive Directors and Independent Directors should be 
based on time spent carrying out Board and committee 
responsibilities and be competitive with comparable 

compensation should align Director’s interests with the 
long-term interests of shareholders. 

 IV.  The Company management should report to the Committee 
on an annual basis about the Company’s compensation 
practices compared with those of other peer companies, 
industry and current market scenario. The Committee 
makes recommendation to the Board relating thereto. The 
Board should make changes in its compensation practices 
only upon the recommendation of the Committee.
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 V.  The Committee will consider following components in 
remuneration of Director, Key Managerial Persons and 
Senior Managerial Persons:

  a.  Fixed Pay: The Managing Director, Whole-time Director, 
Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial Persons 
shall be eligible for a monthly remuneration as may be 
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee. The break-up of the pay scale and quantum 
of perquisites including, employer’s contribution to 
P.F, pension scheme, medical expenses, club fees etc. 
shall be decided and approved by the Board on the 
recommendation of the Committee and approved by the 
shareholders and Central Government, wherever required.

permissible under Companies Act, 2013, Rules and 
Regulation, as amended from time to time, Articles 
of association and approved by the Shareholders  
of the Company.

  c.  Sitting fees for attending board and its committee 
meetings by Non-Executive and Independent Directors 
to the extent permissible under Companies Act, 
2013, Rules and Regulation, as amended from time 
to time, Articles of Association and approved by the 
Shareholders of the Company.

  d.  Incentives to Managing Director, Whole-time Director 
Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial 
Persons, based on the performance of the Company as 
well individual performance. 

  e.  Stock options to Key Managerial Persons and Senior 
Managerial Persons. Independent Directors shall not 
be entitled to any stock option of the Company. 

care facility, telephone, company housing as may be.

 VI.  The Committee may review existing Remuneration of 
Directors, Key Managerial Persons and Senior Managerial 
Persons. Increments or revision to the existing remuneration 
/ compensation structure may be recommended by the 
Committee to the Board which should be within the 
slabs approved by the Shareholders in the case of the  
Directors of the Company.

 VII. Minimum Remuneration:

to its Managing Director, Whole-time Director in accordance 
with the provisions of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 
2013 and if it is not able to comply with such provisions, 
with the previous approval of the Central Government.

 VIII. Provisions for excess remuneration:

   If any Director draws or receives, directly or indirectly by 
way of remuneration any such sums in excess of the limits 
prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 or without the 
prior sanction of the Central Government, where required, 
he / she shall refund such sums to the Company and until 
such sum is refunded, he / she shall hold it in trust for 
the Company. The Company shall not waive recovery of 
such sum refundable to it unless permitted by the Central 
Government.

 IX.  Where any insurance is taken by the Company on behalf of its 

indemnifying them against any liability, the premium 
paid on such insurance shall not be treated as part of the 
remuneration payable to any such personnel. Provided that 
if such person is proved to be guilty, the premium paid on 
such insurance shall be treated as part of the remuneration.
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Annexure – 3

1.  A brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy, including overview of 
projects or programs proposed to be undertaken and a reference 
to the web-link to the CSR policy and projects or programs.

  Most people say ‘associating one’s business to CSR activities is a 
matter of good business’. There is no denying that it is true but 
there will always be a thin line between doing what you have 
to and what you want to. Just Dial as a Company has always 
been in the forefront of understanding what its users want and 
delivering the same so life becomes a little easier. Keeping this in 
mind Founder of Just Dial, Mr. Mani, has always believed that true 
responsibility is when one genuinely feels a connect to what they 
put their hands to. Else it remains nothing more than ‘just a job’.

and holistic manner possible. To ensure that the effort goes a long 
way, long term plans are made and executed. We aim to organise 

and more. The activities are initiated not primarily as mandates, 
but root from a deep understanding of a holistic way of living. 
There is no meaning to life if one does not evolve. Aiding lesser 
fortunate children or planting one more sapling sensitises us to 
the needs of others and our responsibilities to the society we live 
in. It also teaches us to be more appreciative of what we have 
rather than turning a blind eye to what is right in front of us.

  Moving forward we look at many such initiatives which will 
bring us to a common ground and build us to becoming better 
people. This understanding is inculcated in our work culture and 

need. We hope our efforts make a considerable difference in the 
society and that the evolution of one’s self will see a new light. The 
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy is available at http://cms.
justdial.com/investor-relations/policies. 

2. The Composition of the CSR Committee is as under:

Sr. 
No.

Nature of  

1 Mr. B. Anand Chairperson Independent Director
2 Mr. V. S. S. Mani Member Managing Director
3 Mr. V. Krishnan Member Whole-time Director

as under:

Particulars `)
PBT for 2011-2012 713,437,299 
PBT for 2012-2013 984,281,809
PBT for 2013-2014 1,648,555,951

1,115,425,020

4.  Prescribed CSR Expenditure (two percent of the amount as in 
item 3 above) – ` 22,319,104/-.

` 22,319,104/-.
 Amount unspent , if any; : ` 15,022,836/-

detailed below.

Amounts (`)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Sl. 
No. 

CSR Project or 
activity 

Sector in 
which the 
Project Is 

covered

Projects or programs 
1) Local area or other 
(2) Specify the State 
and district projects 

or programs was 
undertaken

Amount outlay 
(budget) Project 

or Programs  wise

Amount spent on the 
Project or programs 

Sub-heads: (l ) 
Direct expenditure  

on projects or 
programs- (2) 

Overheads:

Cumulative 
expenditure 
up to to the 

reporting period

Amount 
spent : Direct 

or through 
implementing 

agency

1 Educational 
Purpose

Education Local Maharashtra, 
Mumbai

72,96,268 72,96,268 72,96,268 72,96,268
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 6.  The Company has spent a considerable amount on CSR 
activities, however, the detailed reason in respect of unspent 
amount are given herein below:

  (a)  The Company was voluntarily into CSR activities 
before enactment of statutory requirement of CSR.  
After the enactment of Section 135 of the companies 
Act, 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company 
have decided for formation of Trust to carry out 
CSR activities and formation of Trust is in process. 
However, the Company has continued with the CSR 
activities of adoption of a school for education of 
children and also spent the amounts in the field of 
education wherever it felt helpful for the betterment 
of the society.

  (b)  There are also certain philanthropic/CSR activities/
initiatives undertaken by the Company for the substantial 
well-being of the people in the community, which are not 
getting covered under the above CSR report due to the 

  (c)  Once the Trust for CSR activities formed and start its 

prescribed under the Act, in full.

and states that the implementation and monitoring of CSR 
policy is in compliance with CSR objectives and policy of the 
Company.

Sd/- Sd/-
V. S. S. Mani B. Anand

Chairman - CSR Committee
(DIN-00202052) (DIN-02792009)

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015



54

Where search begins...

Annexure - 4
Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to Clause (h) of sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

a.  Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship

Not Applicable

b.  Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions
c.  Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions
d.  Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any.
e.  
f. date (s) of approval by the Board
g. Amount paid as advances, if any:
h.  

a.  Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship Just Dial Global Private Limited, an enterprise owned or 

relatives.
b.  Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions Purchase of Investment in Just Dial Inc., Delaware, United States 

of America.
c.  Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions One-time transaction
d.  Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or 

transactions including the value, if any:
The Company has acquired entire shareholding of Just Dial Inc., 
Delaware, United States of America from Just Dial Global Private 
Limited for a consideration of ` 44,47,964/- with effect from 
October 1, 2014.

e.  Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any: August 19, 2014.
f.  Amount paid as advances, if any: N.A.

  Details of related party transactions i.e. transactions of the Company, with its promoters, the Directors or the management, their relatives 
or with the subsidiaries of the Company etc. are present under Note no. 25 to Standalone Financial Statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Just Dial Limited
CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054

V. S. S. Mani Ramani Iyer
Whole-time Director

(DIN-00202052) (DIN-00033559)

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015
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Annexure - 5
Form No. MR-3

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To, 
The Members, 

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable 
statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by 
Just Dial Limited

Court, Building-M,501/B, 5th Floor, Beside Goregaon Sports Complex, 
New Link Road, Malad (W), Mumbai – 400064 . Secretarial Audit 
was conducted in a manner that provided me a reasonable basis 
for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and 
expressing my opinion thereon. 

Company and also the information provided by the Company, its 

of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company 

March 31, 2015(Audit Period) generally complied with the statutory 
provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper 
Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in 
the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns 

ended on March 31, 2015 according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made 
thereunder;

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and 
the rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws 
framed thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and 
regulations made thereunder to the extent as applicable to the 
Company;

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):-
(a)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial 

Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;
(b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition 

of Insider Trading) Regulations, 1992;
(c)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee 

Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase 
Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 and The Securities and 

(d)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars 
to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the

The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with Stock 
Exchanges.

During the period under review the Company has complied with the 
provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. 
as mentioned above 

During the period under review, provisions of the following regulations 
and standards were not applicable to the Company:

 a)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009;

 b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008

 c)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of 
Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009;

 d)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of 
Securities) Regulations, 1998; and

 e)  Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company 

applicable from  July 1, 2015)

I further report that, having regard to the Compliance system 
prevailing in the Company and on examination of the relevant 
documents and records in pursuance thereof, on test-check basis, the 

to the Company:

 a)  The Indian Telegraph Act, 1885 and the Rules framed there 
under; and

 b)  Telecom Regulatory Authority of India (TRAI) Act, 1997 and 
Regulation made thereunder.

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with 
proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and 
Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of the Board 
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of Directors that took place during the period under review were 
carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act. 

Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board 
Meetings, except one board meeting which was held on October 3, 
2014 at shorter Notice, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were 
sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking 

items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the 
meeting. 

All the decisions at the meetings of the Board of Directors of the 
Company and committee Meetings are carried through on the basis of 
Majority. There were no dissenting views by any member of the Board 
or Committee thereof during the Audit Period. 

 there are adequate systems and processes in 
the Company commensurate with the size and operations of the 
Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, 
rules, regulations and guidelines. 

 during the audit period, the Company has:

 a)  issued and allotted 3,42,195 Equity Shares as per the 
Employee Stock Options Scheme, 2010

 b) acquired 100% shares of the Just Dial Inc.

Company Secretaries

Vijay Kondalkar
Proprietor
ACS – 15697, CP - 4597

Place :Mumbai
Date :May 29, 2015
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Annexure - 6
A 

st
at

em
en

t s
ho

w
in

g 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

de
ta

ils
 o

f e
ve

ry
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 o
f t

he
 C

om
pa

ny
 w

ho
 w

as
 in

 re
ce

ip
t o

f r
em

un
er

at
io

n 
in

 e
xc

es
s 

of
 `

 6
0 

La
cs

, i
f e

m
pl

oy
ed

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
ye

ar
 o

r `
 5

 L
ac

s 

Sr
. 

N
o

Re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
N

at
ur

e 
of

 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l 

or
 

Jo
in

in
g

m
an

ag
er

1
Ra

m
an

i I
ye

r
W

ho
le

 T
im

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 1

0,
84

2,
16

0
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

D
ip

lo
m

a 
in

 H
ot

el
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t f

ro
m

 
D

el
hi

 In
st

itu
te

 o
f 

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 2
2 

Ye
ar

s

01
/0

8/
14

46
N

A
1.

89
Br

ot
he

r o
f D

ire
ct

or
s M

r. 
V.

 S
. 

2
V.

 K
ris

hn
an

W
ho

le 
Ti

m
e 

Di
re

ct
or

 1
1,

80
9,

67
1

Fu
ll 

Ti
m

e
D

is
co

nt
in

ue
d 

B.
 

Co
m

. 2
2 

Ye
ar

s
 2

8/
10

/0
5

45
N

A
1.

95
Br

ot
he

r o
f D

ire
ct

or
s M

r. 
V.

 S
. 

3
 V

. S
. S

. M
an

i
M

an
ag

in
g 

D
ire

ct
or

 
an

d 
Ch

ie
f 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 

 1
3,

36
3,

63
9

Fu
ll 

Ti
m

e
D

is
co

nt
in

ue
d 

B.
 

Co
m

. 2
7 

Ye
ar

s
Si

nc
e 

In
co

rp
or

at
io

n
49

 N
A

27
.2

3
Br

ot
he

r o
f D

ire
ct

or
s M

r. 

4
Ra

m
ku

m
ar

 
Kr

is
hn

am
ac

ha
ri

Ch
ief

 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l 

8,
62

5,
75

9
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

CF
A 

, 2
4 

Ye
ar

s
08

/0
8/

20
10

48
 R

oy
al

 S
un

da
ra

m
 

Ge
ne

ra
l I

ns
ur

an
ce

 
Al

lie
d 

Co
m

pa
ny

 
Lim

ite
d

0.
10

N
A

5
Sa

nd
ip

an
 

Ch
at

to
pa

dh
ya

y
Ch

ie
f 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 

10
,4

44
,5

30
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

Ba
ch

el
or

’s
 d

eg
re

e 
in

 
St

at
is

tic
s 

fro
m

 th
e 

In
di

an
 S

ta
tis

tic
al

 
In

st
itu

te
, K

ol
ka

ta
 

an
d 

Po
st

-G
ra

du
at

e 
D

ip
lo

m
a 

in
 C

om
pu

te
r 

Ai
de

d 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
fro

m
 II

M
, K

ol
ka

ta
. 

18
 Y

ea
rs

01
/0

1/
20

09
42

E 
Do

t S
ol

ut
io

ns
 

In
di

a 
Pr

iva
te

 
Lim

ite
d

0.
32

N
A

6
Ra

ke
sh

 O
jh

a
Co

un
try

 H
ea

d 
- B

us
in

es
s 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

11
,0

06
,5

82
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

B.
 C

om
, 2

0 
Ye

ar
s

11
/0

7/
95

39
N

A
0.

03
N

A



58

Where search begins...

Sr
. 

N
o

Re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
N

at
ur

e 
of

 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l 

or
 

Jo
in

in
g

m
an

ag
er

7
Ko

or
a 

Sr
in

iv
as

D
ep

ut
y 

- 
CF

O
8,

99
2,

38
3

Fu
ll 

Ti
m

e
Ye

ar
s

01
/1

2/
99

39
N

A
0.

17
N

A

8
Sh

re
os

 
Ro

yc
ho

w
dh

ur
y

Ch
ie

f 
Te

ch
ni

ca
l 

Ar
ch

ite
ct

8,
21

8,
43

2
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

M
.S

c.
 (P

hy
si

cs
) f

ro
m

 
IIT

, K
an

pu
r, 

18
 Y

ea
rs

21
/0

9/
20

10
42

Re
lia

nc
e 

Bi
g 

En
te

rt
ai

nm
en

t 
Pr

iv
at

e 
lim

ite
d

0.
03

N
A

9
Jy

ot
i G

an
dh

i
Sr

. V
ic

e 
Pr

es
id

en
t

7,
84

7,
67

5
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

Gr
ad

ua
te

  
(E

ng
lis

h 
H

on
or

s)
5/

06
/9

8
37

N
A

0.
01

N
A

10
Vi

ja
y 

Ga
nd

hi
Vi

ce
 

Pr
es

id
en

t
7,

02
1,

97
1

Fu
ll 

Ti
m

e
B.

 C
om

, 1
5 

Ye
ar

s
03

/0
7/

00
38

N
A

0.
01

N
A

11
Ra

jiv
 N

ai
r

VI
CE

 
PR

ES
ID

EN
T

6,
38

7,
51

7
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

D
ip

lo
m

a 
in

 C
om

pu
te

r 
Sc

ie
nc

e 
di

sc
on

tin
ue

d 
in

 1
99

7-
98

 fr
om

 
Am

be
dk

ar
 In

st
itu

te
 

of
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 

Ba
ng

al
or

e 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

.

12
-0

2-
99

37
N

A
0.

02
N

A

12
Pr

as
ha

nt
 N

ag
ar

Vi
ce

 
Pr

es
id

en
t

6,
51

3,
59

2
Fu

ll 
Ti

m
e

M
BA

1/
09

/9
9

42
N

A
0.

01
N

A

13
Aj

ay
 M

oh
an

Gr
ou

p 
Vi

ce
 

Pr
es

id
en

t
6,

13
4,

71
0

Fu
ll 

Ti
m

e
B.

 C
om

, 1
9 

Ye
ar

s
06

/0
1/

96
39

N
A

0.
04

N
A

* 
Th

e 
Re

m
un

er
at

io
n 

fo
r t

he
 p

ur
po

se
 o

f t
hi

s 
ta

bl
e 

is
 a

s 
pe

r F
or

m
 1

6,
 e

xc
lu

di
ng

 p
er

qu
is

ite
 v

al
ue

 o
f s

to
ck

 o
pt

io
ns

 e
xe

rc
is

ed
 s

in
ce

 it
 d

oe
s 

no
t f

or
m

 p
ar

t o
f t

ot
al

 c
os

t t
o 

th
e 

co
m

pa
ny

.

Fo
r a

nd
 o

n 
be

ha
lf 

of
 th

e 
Bo

ar
d 

of
 D

ire
ct

or
s

V.
 S

. S
. M

an
i

Ra
m

an
i I

ye
r

W
ho

le
-t

im
e 

D
ire

ct
or

(D
IN

-0
02

02
05

2)
(D

IN
-0

00
33

55
9)

D
at

e:
 M

ay
 2

9,
 2

01
5

Pl
ac

e:
 M

um
ba

i



59Just Dial Limited | Annual Report 2014-15

Directors' Report | Statutory  Reports...and ends.

Annexure - 7

Details required as persub-section 12 of Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

Remuneration % increase in 
remuneration 

Remuneration of 

-

Mr. V. S. S. Mani 13.36 29.26% 50.34

year 2014-15
Mr. Ramani Iyer 10.84 - 40.84
Mr. V. Krishnan 11.81 5.48% 44.48

-

Mr. B. Anand 0.70 - 2.64
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur 0.70 - 2.64
Mr. Malcolm Monteiro 0.70 - 2.64

 -
Mr. Ramkumar Krishnamachari 8.63 9.17% -

year 2014-15
 - -

Mr. Sachin Jain 3.45 2.07%  -

*The Remuneration for the purpose of this table is as per Form 16, excluding perquisite value of stock options exercised since it does not form 
part of total cost to the Company.

` 
increase of 12.99% in the median remuneration of employees;

 As on March 31, 2015, the Company has 9,533 permanent employees on its rolls.

the increase in median remuneration was 12.29%. The average increase in remuneration is based on factors such as the Company’s 
performance, the average increases being given by similar companies in the industry and overall budgetary impact within the Company 
thus average increase in median remuneration was in line with the performance of the Company.

Particulars Variation

Closing Rate of Shares at NSE (`) 1,323.75 1,549.40 
Market capitalisation (` in mn) 93,315 108,691 -14.15%
Price Earnings Ratios (Based on Basic EPS)(`) 66.99 89.92 -25.50%
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  The Company has offered its share in Initial Public offer (IPO) at 
a price of ` 530/- per equity shares and the closing price at the 
National Stock Exchange on March 31, 2015 is ` 1,324/- equity 
shares. The share price is increased by 149.81% in comparison to 
the rate at which the Company came out with the last public offer

  Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees 

i.e. 2014-15 was 12.88% whereas the increase in the managerial 

 The key parameters 
for the variable component of remuneration availed by the 
Directors are considered by the Board of Directors based on 
the recommendations of the Nomination and remuneration 
Committee as per the remuneration Policy for Directors, key 
Managerial Personnel and other Employees, within the overall 
limits approved by the shareholders.
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EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

[Pursuant to Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

Sr. No.

1. CIN L74140MH1993PLC150054
2. Registration Date 20/12/1993
3. Name of the Company
4. Category of the Company Company limited by shares
5. Sub-Category of the Company Indian Non-Government Company
6. Palm Court Bldg M, 501/B, 5th Floor,New Link Road, Beside 

Goregaon Sports Complex, Malad (W),Mumbai – 400064.
7. Contact details Phone. 022-28884060 Fax.022-28823789.
8. Whether listed company Yes
9. Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and Transfer 

Agent, if any
Karvy Computershare Private Limited
Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli, Financial 
District, Nanakramguda, Hyderabad – 500 032
Phone: 040-67162222 Fax: 040-23001153.

All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the company are:-

Sr. No.

1. Other Information Service Activity n.e.c. 63999 100

Sr. 
No.

1. Just Dial Inc.
2711, Centerville Road, Suite 400, 
Wilmington, Delaware 19808.

Foreign Company Subsidiary 100% 2 (87)

  

Total % of Total Total % of Total 

A. Promoters
(1) Indian
 a) Individual/ HUF 23149199 0 23149199 33.00 23108834 0 23108834 32.78 (0.22)
 b) Central Govt. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 c) StateGovt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 d) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 e) Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 f) Any Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

23149199 0 23149199 33.00 23108834 0 23108834 32.78 (0.22)

Annexure - 8
Form No. MGT-9
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Total % of Total Total % of Total 

 a) NRIs- Individual 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 b) Other Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 c) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 d) Bank/FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
23149199 0 23149199 33.00 23108834 0 23108834 32.78 (0.22)

B. Public Shareholding
1. Institutions
 a) Mutual Funds 104750 0 104750 0.15 680239 0 680239 0.96 0.81
 b) Banks / FI 1192 0 1192 0.00 30502 0 30502 0.04 0.04
 c) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 d) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 e) Venture Capital Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 f) Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 g) FIIs 17090330 0 17090330 24.36 20338665 0 20338665 28.85 4.49
 h)  Foreign Venture Capital 

Funds
3116881 0 3116881 4.44 2995123 0 2995123 4.25 (0.19)

 i) Others (specify) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
20313153 0 20313153 28.96 24044529 0 24044529 34.11 5.15

2. Non-Institutions
 a) Bodies Corp.
 i) Indian 259253 0 259253 0.37 307785 0 307785 0.44 0.07
 ii) Overseas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
 b) Individuals
 i)  Individual shareholders 

holding nominal share 
capital upto ` 1 lakh

736769 10552 747321 1.07 1141722 3638 1145360 1.62 0.55

 ii)  Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital in excess of ` 1 
lakh

1019254 16800 1036054 1.48 811470 16800 828270 1.17 (0.31)

 c) Others (specify)
  Non Resident Indians 61018 0 61018 0.09 50325 0 50325 0.07 (0.02)
  Foreign Nationals - - - - - - - - -
  Clearing Members 115211 0 115211 0.16 192796 0 192796 0.27 0.11
  Trusts 220 0 220 0.00 50 0 50 0.00 0.00
  Foreign Bodies - D R 24469121 0 24469121 34.88 20814796 0 20814796 29.53 (5.35)

26660846 27352 26688198 38.04 23318944 20438 23339382 33.11 (4.93)
46973999 27352 47001351 67.00 47363473 20438 47383911 67.22 0.22

C.  Shares held by Custodian for 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

70123198 27352 70150550 100.00 70472307 20438 70492745 100 0.00
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Sr. 
No.

  
-

No. of % of total 

-
to total 

No. of % of total 

-
to total 

1. Venkatachalam Sthanu Subramani 
(V. S. S. Mani)

19193175 27.36 Nil 19193175 27.23 Nil (0.13)

2. V. Krishnan 1415365 2.02 Nil 1375000 1.95 0.14 (0.07)
3. Ramani Iyer 1415111 2.02 Nil 1331111 1.89 Nil (0.13)
4. Venkatachalam Sthanu Subramani 

(V. S. S. Mani) jointly with  
V. Krishnan

580836 0.83 Nil 580836 0.82 Nil (0.01)

5. Anita Mani 544712 0.78 Nil 628712 0.89 Nil 0.11
Total 23149199 33.00 Nil 23108834 32.78 0.14 (0.22)

Sr. 
No.

 

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

At the beginning of the year 23149199 33.00
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Promoters Shareholding during the year 
specifying the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / 
bonus/ sweat equity etc.):

1. Ramani Iyer
24-02-2015 – Gifted to Anita Mani

(84000) 0.12 23065199 32.72

2. Anita Mani
24-02-2015 – Gift received from Ramani Iyer

84000 0.12 23149199 32.84

3. V. Krishnan
31-03-2015 – Sale

(40365) 0.06 23108834 32.78

At the End of the year 23108834 32.78
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Sr. 
No.

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

1. Saif II Mauritius Company Limited
At the beginning of the year 7826001 11.16
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat equity etc):
25-06-2014 – Sale (600000) 0.86 7226001 10.30
26-06-2014 – Sale (400000) 0.57 6826001 9.73
24-11-2014 – Sale (698757) 0.99 6127244 8.70
05-12-2014 – Sale (65557) 0.09 6061687 8.61
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 6061687 8.60

2. Tiger Global Four JD Holdings
At the beginning of the year 5770880 8.23
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
12-12-2014– Sale (24382) 0.03 5746498 8.16
16-01-2015– Sale (16645) 0.02 5729853 8.14
23-01-2015– Sale (87006) 0.12 5642847 8.02
30-01-2015– Sale (267696) 0.38 5375151 7.63
06-02-2015– Sale (170159) 0.24 5204992 7.38
13-02-2015 – Sale (17984) 0.03 5187008 7.36
20-02-2015 – Sale (81775) 0.12 5105233 7.24
13-03-2015 - Sale (96913) 0.14 5008320 7.10
20-03-2015 – Sale (99388) 0.14 4908932 6.96
30-03-2015 – Sale (1481475)* 2.10 3427457 4.86
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 3427457 4.86

*1481475 Equity Shares were sold by the aforesaid shareholder on March 30, 2015, 

position received from depositories were not showing the aforesaid transaction. The 
intimation of above sale was received by the Company on March 31, 2015 under 
Form C of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading 
Regulation 1992).
3. Sequoia Capital India Investments III

At the beginning of the year 3400850 4.85
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat equity etc.):
05-09-2014– Sale (32000) 0.05 3368850 4.80
12-09-2014– Sale (32750) 0.05 3336100 4.75
19-09-2014– Sale (28292) 0.04 3307808 4.71
30-09-2014– Sale (28831) 0.04 3278977 4.67
At the End of the year (or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 3278977 4.65
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Sr. 
No.

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

4. Tiger Global Five Indian Holdings
At the beginning of the year 3578012 5.10
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
12-12-2014– Sale (15118) 0.02 3562894 5.06
16-01-2015– Sale (10334) 0.01 3552560 5.05
23-01-2015– Sale (53959) 0.08 3498601 4.97
30-01-2015– Sale (165972) 0.24 3332629 4.73
06-02-2015– Sale (105500) 0.15 3227129 4.58
13-02-2015 – Sale (11149) 0.02 3215980 4.56
20-02-2015 - Sale (50702) 0.07 3165278 4.49
13-03-2015 - Sale (60087) 0.09 3105191 4.40
20-03-2015 – Sale (61621) 0.09 3043570 4.32
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 3043570 4.32

5. SCI Growth Investments II
At the beginning of the year 3116881 4.44
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
05-09-2014– Sale (32000) 0.05 3084881 4.40
12-09-2014– Sale (32750) 0.05 3052131 4.35
19-09-2014– Sale (28373) 0.04 3023758 4.31
30-09-2014– Sale (28625) 0.04 2995133 4.27
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 2995133 4.25

6. Sequoia Capital India Growth Investment Holdings I
At the beginning of the year 3116881 4.44
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
05-09-2014– Sale (32000) 0.05 3084881 4.40
12-09-2014– Sale (32750) 0.05 3052131 4.35
19-09-2014– Sale (28292) 0.04 3023839 4.31
30-09-2014– Sale (28716) 0.04 2995123 4.27
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 2995123 4.25

7. Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Pte.
At the beginning of the year 1797172 2.56
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
04-04-2014– Sale (119170) 0.17 1678002 2.39
11-04-2014– Sale (8173) 0.01 1669829 2.38
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Sr. 
No.

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

18-04-2014– Sale (292518) 0.42 1377311 1.96
25-04-2014– Sale (457388) 0.65 919923 1.31
02-05-2014– Sale (272664) 0.39 647259 0.92
09-05-2014– Sale (86687) 0.12 560572 0.80
16-05-2014– Sale (6832) 0.01 553740 0.79
23-05-2014– Sale (98500) 0.14 455240 0.65
30-05-2014 –Sale (359036) 0.51 96204 0.14
06-06-2014 – Sale (1236) 0.00 94968 0.14
13-06-2014 – Sale (1192) 0.00 93776 0.13
30-06-2014 - Purchase 658227 0.94 752003 1.07
04-07-2014 - Purchase 10544 0.01 762547 1.08
11-07-2014 - Sale (79658) 0.11 682889 0.97
18-07-2014 - Sale (8250) 0.01 674639 0.96
01-08-2014 – Purchase 64404 0.09 739043 1.05
08-08-2014 – Purchase 500798 0.71 1239841 1.77
15-08-2014 – Purchase 305876 0.44 1545717 2.20
22-08-2014 – Purchase 26388 0.04 1572105 2.24
29-08-2014 – Purchase 73635 0.10 1645740 2.35
05-09-2014 – Purchase 58902 0.08 1704642 2.43
12-09-2014 – Purchase 18559 0.03 1723201 2.46
19-09-2014 – Sale (15511) 0.02 1707690 2.43
30-09-2014 – Sale (8500) 0.01 1699190 2.42
10-10-2014 – Sale (6827) 0.01 1692363 2.41
17-10-2014 – Sale (48960) 0.07 1643403 2.34
24-10-2014 – Sale (5500) 0.01 1637903 2.33
31-10-2014 – Purchase 265709 0.38 1903612 2.70
07-11-2014 – Purchase 52563 0.07 1956175 2.78
14-11-2014 – Purchase 7707 0.01 1963882 2.79
21-11-2014 – Purchase 1994 0.00 1965876 2.79
28-11-2014 – Sale (10094) 0.01 1955782 2.78
05-12-2014 – Sale (1129) 0.00 1954653 2.78
19-12-2014 – Sale (11200) 0.02 1943453 2.76
31-12-2014 – Sale (67342) 0.10 1876111 2.67
02-01-2015 – Sale (7375) 0.01 1868736 2.65
09-01-2015 – Purchase 39330 0.06 1908066 2.71
16-01-2015 – Purchase 71989 0.10 1980055 2.81
23-01-2015 – Purchase 11301 0.02 1991356 2.83
30-01-2015 – Purchase 82210 0.12 2073566 2.94
06-02-2015 – Purchase 31068 0.04 2104634 2.99
13-02-2015 – Sale (14825) 0.02 2089809 2.96
20-02-2015 – Sale (61441) 0.09 2028368 2.88
27-02-2015 – Sale (50624) 0.07 1977744 2.81
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Sr. 
No.

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

06-03-2015 – Sale (113757) 0.16 1863987 2.64
13-03-2015 - Sale (86542) 0.12 1777445 2.52
20-03-2015 - Sale (181767) 0.26 1595678 2.26
27-03-2015 – Purchase (93503) 0.13 1689181 2.40
31-03-2015 – Sale (117493) 0.17 1571688 2.23
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 1571688 2.23

8. Goldman Sachs (Singapore) Pte.
At the beginning of the year 233195 0.33
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
11-04-2014 - Sale (37021) 0.05 196174 0.28
18-04-2014 - Sale (17750) 0.03 178424 0.25
02-05-2014 – Sale (178424) 0.36 0 0.00
30-06-2014 - Purchase 661364 0.94 661364 0.94
04-07-2014 - Purchase 5 0.00 661369 0.94
18-07-2014 - Purchase 32786 0.05 694155 0.99
25-07-2014 - Purchase 177848 0.25 872003 1.24
01-08-2014 - Purchase 156340 0.22 1028343 1.47
08-08-2014 - Purchase 101362 0.14 1129705 1.61
15-08-2014 - Purchase 3537 0.01 1133242 1.61
29-08-2014 - Purchase 14890 0.02 1148132 1.64
05-09-2014 - Purchase 14276 0.02 1162408 1.66
30-09-2014 - Purchase 412 0.00 1162820 1.66
24-10-2014 - Sale (17) 0.00 1162803 1.65
31-10-2014 - Purchase 3102 0.00 1165905 1.66
14-11-2014 - Sale (1594) 0.00 1164311 1.65
21-11-2014 - Purchase 3277 0.00 1167588 1.66
28-11-2014 - Sale (14835) 0.02 1152753 1.64
12-12-2014 - Purchase 53687 0.08 1206440 1.71
19-12-2014 - Sale (10812) 0.02 1195628 1.70
31-12-2015 - Sale (53687) 0.08 1141941 1.62
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 1141941 1.62

9. Thornburg Investment Trust A/c Thornburg Developing
At the beginning of the year 0 0
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
20-06-2014 - Purchase 341000 0.49 341000 0.49
30-06-2014 - Purchase 60000 0.09 401000 0.57
04-07-2014 - Purchase 47721 0.07 448721 0.64
11-07-2014 – Purchase 160996 0.23 609717 0.87
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Sr. 
No.

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

25-07-2014 – Purchase 11739 0.02 621456 0.89
01-08-2014 – Purchase 194278 0.28 815734 1.16
08-08-2014 – Purchase 83698 0.12 899432 1.28
19-09-2014 – Purchase 33090 0.05 932522 1.33
30-09-2014 – Purchase 149800 0.21 1082322 1.54
31-10-2014 – Purchase 73013 0.10 1155335 1.64
14-11-2014 – Purchase 38600 0.05 1193935 1.70
21-11-2014 – Purchase 25000 0.04 1218935 1.73
12-12-2014 – Purchase 39900 0.06 1258835 1.79
19-12-2014 – Purchase 45100 0.06 1303935 1.85
02-01-2015 – Purchase 11600 0.02 1315535 1.87
30-01-2015 – Purchase 26570 0.04 1342105 1.90
27-02-2015 - Sale (121384) 0.17 1220721 1.73
06-03-2015 - Sale (65566) 0.09 1155155 1.64
27-03-2015 - Sale (107300) 0.15 1047855 1.49
31-03-2015 – Sale (26806) 0.04 1021049 1.45
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 1021049 1.45

10. Nordea 1 SICAV – Emerging Stars Equity Fund
At the beginning of the year 0 0
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Shareholding during the year specifying 
the reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus / sweat 
equity etc.):
30-05-2014 - Purchase 316679 0.45 316679 0.45
06-06-2014 - Purchase 87024 0.12 403703 0.58
13-06-2014 - Purchase 71936 0.10 475639 0.68
20-06-2014 – Purchase 65913 0.09 541552 0.77
25-07-2014 – Purchase 24357 0.03 565909 0.81
15-08-2014 – Purchase 18213 0.03 584122 0.83
05-09-2014 – Purchase 26216 0.04 610338 0.87
19-09-2014 – Purchase 21462 0.03 631800 0.90
30-09-2014 – Purchase 13056 0.02 644856 0.92
10-10-2014 – Purchase 18110 0.03 662966 0.94
31-10-2014 – Purchase 15299 0.02 678265 0.96
07-11-2014 – Purchase 15742 0.02 694007 0.99
14-11-2014 – Purchase 15724 0.02 709731 1.01
21-11-2014 – Purchase 21846 0.03 731577 1.04
05-12-2014 – Purchase 16376 0.02 747953 1.06
31-12-2014 – Purchase 33909 0.05 781862 1.11
20-02-2015 – Purchase 39317 0.06 821179 1.16
06-03-2015 – Purchase 132259 0.19 953438 1.35
13-03-2015 - Purchase 29689 0.04 983127 1.39
At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 983127 1.39
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Sr. 
No.

 

No. of % of total No. of % of total 

At the beginning of the year 23237570 33.13 - -
Date wise Increase / Decrease in Share holding during the year specifying the 
reasons for increase / decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / bonus/ sweat equity etc):

1. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
22-05-2014 – Sale

(15826) 0.02 23221744 33.09

2. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
23-05-2014 – Sale

(13864) 0.02 23207880 33.07

3. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
26-06-2014 – Sale

(9300) 0.01 23198580 33.06

4. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
18-11-2014 – Sale

(13041) 0.02 23185539 32.93

5. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
19-11-2014 – Sale

(16959) 0.02 23168580 32.91

6. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
28-01-2015 - ESOP Allotment

62070 0.09 23230650 32.96

7. Sachin Jain (KMP’s)
28-01-2015 – ESOP Allotment

1600 0.00 23232250 32.96

8. Ramkumar Krishnamachari (KMP’s)
02-02-2015 – Sale

(12000) 0.02 23220250 32.94

9. Ramani Iyer (Director)
24-02-2015 – Gifted to Anita Mani

(84000) 0.12 23136250 32.82

10. Anita Mani (Director)
24-02-2015 – Gift received from Ramani Iyer

84000 0.12 23220250 32.94

11. V. Krishnan (Director)
31-03-2015 – Sale

(40365) 0.06 23179885 32.88

At the End of the year ( or on the date of separation, if separated during the year) 23179885 32.88

 Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment

Total 

i) Principal Amount - - - -
ii) Interest due but not paid - - - -
iii) Interest accrued but not due - - - -
Total (i+ii+iii) - - - -

 Addition - - - -
 Reduction - - - -

- - - -

i) Principal Amount - - - -
ii) Interest due but not paid - - - -
iii) Interest accrued but not due - - - -
Total (i+ii+iii) - - - -
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Sr. 
No.

Particulars of Remuneration

Name of Director V. S. S. Mani V. Krishnan Ramani Iyer
1. Gross salary

(a)  Salary as per provisions contained in Section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961

10409957 10500263 10842160 31752380

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 2953682 1309408 --- 4263090

2. Stock Option
3. Sweat Equity
4.
5. Others, please specify

13363639 11809671 10842160 36015470
Ceiling as per the Act - - - -

Sr. 
No.

Particulars of Remuneration

1. Independent Directors B.Anand Sanjay  
Bahadur

Malcom  
Monterio

Fee for attending board / committee meetings 200000 240000 200000 640000
Commission 700000 700000 700000 2100000
Others, please specify
Total (1) 900000 940000 900000 2740000

2. Other Non-Executive Directors - - - -
Fee for attending board / committee meetings - - - -
Commission - - - -
Others, please specify - - - -
Total (2) - - - -

900000 940000 900000 2740000
Total Managerial Remuneration (A+B) 38755470
Overall Ceiling as per the Act -
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Sr. 
No.

Particulars of Remuneration Total

CFO

Gross salary
(a)  Salary as per provisions contained in Section 17(1) of the 

Income-tax Act, 1961
- 3453076 8625759 12078835

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 - 2030400 78084060 80114460
- - - -

Stock Option - - - -
Sweat Equity - - - -

- - - -
Others, please specify - - - -
Total - 5483476 86709819 92193295

* As disclosed under Clause VI-A above.

Section 

Companies 

 Penalty - - - - -
 Punishment - - - - -
 Compounding - - - - -
B. Directors
 Penalty - - - - -
 Punishment - - - - -
 Compounding - - - - -

 Penalty - - - - -
 Punishment - - - - -
 Compounding - - - - -

For Just Dial Limited

V. S. S. Mani Ramani Iyer
Whole-time Director

(DIN-00202052) (DIN-00033559)

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015
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Annexure - 9

DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN – 2010.

Sr. No. Particulars
a Options granted 1,027,675
b The pricing formula The options were issued at exercise price mentioned as under:

 Pool – I (82,936 options) - ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (640,727 options) – ` 80 per option.
 Pool – III (155,176 options) - ` 10 per option.
 Pool – II (138,525 options) – ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (10,311 options) – ` 80 per option.

c Options vested 626,729
d Options exercised 556,657
e The total number of shares arising as a result of exercise of option 908,413 (net of options forfeited lapsed/ cancelled)
f Options lapsed 119,262
g Variation of terms of options N.A.
h Money realised by exercise of options ` 38,015,124
i Total number of options in force 351,756
j Employee wise details of options granted to

 (i) Senior managerial personnel; Please see Note 1 below.
 (ii)  Any other employee who receives a grant in any one year of 

option amounting to 5% or more of option granted during 
that year.

Please see Note 2 below.

one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital 
(excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the 
Company at the time of grant;

N.A.

k Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares 
on exercise of option calculated in accordance with Accounting 
Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings Per Share’

` 19.61/- (As on March 31, 2015 based on consolidated 

l Where the Company has calculated the employee compensation 
cost using the intrinsic value of the stock options, the difference 
between the employee compensation cost so computed and the 
employee compensation cost that shall have been recognised if 
it had used the fair value of the options, shall be disclosed. The 

shall also be disclosed

be less by ` 304,059.
` 0.00.

` 0.00.

m Weighted-average exercise prices and weighted-average fair 
values of options shall be disclosed separately for options whose 
exercise price either equals or exceeds or is less than the market 
price of the stock.

Weighted average exercise price: ` 69.
Weighted average fair value: ` 37.

n
during the year to estimate the fair values of options, including 
the following weighted-average information:

Our Company has adopted the Black Scholes method to estimate 
the fair value of the options with the following assumptions:

(i)  Risk-free interest rate, 7.74%, 7.69%, 7.66% and 7.66% for each of the four vesting 
dates.

(ii)  Expected life, Seven years.
(iii)  Expected volatility, Nil.
(iv)  Expected dividends, and Nil.
(v)  The price of the underlying share in market at the time of option 

grant
N.A.
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Total No. of options 

Ramkumar Krishnamachari 155,176 155,176 -
Srinivas Koora 45,976 45,976 -
Shreos Roychowdhury 35,000 35,000 -
Sachin Jain 4,000 4,000 -

Ramkumar Krishnamachari 155,176
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Annexure - 10

DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN – 2013.

Sr. No. Particulars
a Options granted 3,50,000
b The pricing formula The options were issued at exercise price mentioned as under:

 Pool – I (67,750 options) - ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (29,381 options) – ` 80 per option.
 Pool – III (17,824 options) - ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (235,045 options) – ` 80 per option.

c Options vested -
d Options exercised -
e The total number of shares arising as a result of exercise of option 3,50,000
f Options lapsed 3,100
G Variation of terms of options N.A.
h Money realised by exercise of options -
i Total number of options in force 346,900
j Employee wise details of options granted to

 (i) Senior managerial personnel; Please see Note 1 below.
 (ii)  Any other employee who receives a grant in any one year of 

option amounting to 5% or more of option granted during 
that year.

Please see Note 2 below.

one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital 
(excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the 
Company at the time of grant;

N.A.

k Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares 
on exercise of option calculated in accordance with Accounting 
Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings Per Share’

` 19.61/- (As on March 31, 2015 based on consolidated 

l Where the Company has calculated the employee compensation 
cost using the intrinsic value of the stock options, the difference 
between the employee compensation cost so computed and the 
employee compensation cost that shall have been recognised if 
it had used the fair value of the options, shall be disclosed. The 

shall also be disclosed

be less by ` 2,283,646
` 0.03

` 0.03

m Weighted-average exercise prices and weighted-average fair 
values of options shall be disclosed separately for options whose 
exercise price either equals or exceeds or is less than the market 
price of the stock.

Weighted average exercise price: ` 80.
Weighted average fair value: ` 1,561.18.

n
during the year to estimate the fair values of options, including 
the following weighted-average information:

Our Company has adopted the Black Scholes method to estimate 
the fair value of the options with the following assumptions:

(i) Risk-free interest rate,  8.671%, as on the grant date for the options.
(ii) Expected life, 6.02 years.
(iii) Expected volatility, 53%
(iv) Expected dividends, and Nil.
(v)  The price of the underlying share in market at the time of option 

grant
`.1,608.75
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Total No. of options 

Sandipan Chattopadhyay 24,260 - 24,260
Ramkumar Krishnamachari 22,063 - 22,063
Rakesh Ojha 21,578 - 21,578
Koora Srinivas 20,658 - 20,658
Shreos Roychowdhury 19,913 - 19,913
Ajay Mohan 18,317 - 18,317
Sandeep Kanchan 12,800 12,800
Ganesh S 9,308 9,308

Sandipan Chattopadhyay 24,260

Ramkumar Krishnamachari 22,063

Rakesh Ojha 21,578

Koora Srinivas 20,658

Shreos Roychowdhury 19,913

Ajay Mohan 18,317
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Annexure - 11

DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN – 2014

Sr. No. Particulars
a Options granted 240,112
b The pricing formula The options were issued at exercise price mentioned as under:

Options issued in October 2014
 Pool – I (89,018 options) - ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (18,099 options) – ` 80 per option.
 Pool – III (10,000 options) - ` 10 per option.

Options issued in December 2014
 Pool – I (31,313 options) – ` 80 per option.
 Pool – II (91,682 options) – ` 80 per option.

c Options vested -
d Options exercised -
e The total number of shares arising as a result of exercise of option 2,40,112
f Options lapsed 3,224
G Variation of terms of options N.A.
h Money realised by exercise of options -
i Total number of options in force 236,888
j Employee wise details of options granted to

 (i) Senior managerial personnel; Please see Note 1 below.
 (ii)  Any other employee who receives a grant in any one year of 

option amounting to 5% or more of option granted during 
that year.

N.A.

one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of the issued capital 
(excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the 
Company at the time of grant;

N.A.

k Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) pursuant to issue of shares 
on exercise of option calculated in accordance with Accounting 
Standard (AS) 20 ‘Earnings Per Share’

` 19.61/- (As on March 31, 2015 based on consolidated 

l Where the Company has calculated the employee compensation 
cost using the intrinsic value of the stock options, the difference 
between the employee compensation cost so computed and the 
employee compensation cost that shall have been recognised if 
it had used the fair value of the options, shall be disclosed. The 

shall also be disclosed

be less by ` 766,403.
` 0.01.

` 0.01.

m Weighted-average exercise prices and weighted-average fair 
values of options shall be disclosed separately for options whose 
exercise price either equals or exceeds or is less than the market 
price of the stock.

Weighted average exercise price: ` 80.
Weighted average fair value: ` 1,398.95.
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Sr. No. Particulars
n

during the year to estimate the fair values of options, including 
the following weighted-average information:

Our Company has adopted the Black Scholes method to estimate 
the fair value of the options with the following assumptions:

(i) Risk-free interest rate, 8.36%, 7.962%, on each of the two grant dates.
(ii) Expected life, 5.65 years.
(iii) Expected volatility,

granted in December 2014
(iv) Expected dividends, and Nil.
(v)  The price of the underlying share in market at the time of option 

grant
 ̀   
` 1,268.10 for options granted in December 2014

Total No. of options 

Anil Kumar Misra 6,235 - 6,235
Rajesh Dembla 6,584 - 6,584
Sachin Jain 5,057 - 5,057
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF GOVERNANCE 
The Company’s governance philosophy is to develop a fair, transparent 
and accountable system which enhances the Shareholders’ value and 
which makes the Company a value driven organisation. The Company 
endeavors to maintain faith of investors, regulating authorities, 
customers and general public in the organisation. The Corporate 
Governance guidelines prescribed by Ministry of Corporate Affairs and 
SEBI are guiding factors for the organisation to adopt best governance 
practices which has been adopted by the Management of the Company.

The detailed report on Corporate Governance is set out below. In 

criteria as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement for the  

Name of the Director Category of Directors Number of 
Board Meetings

Attendance 
at Annual 
General 
Meeting

Directorship/Membership as on  
March 31, 2015

Held Attended No. of 
outside 
Director-
ships held

No. of Membership(s)/ Chair-
manship(s) of Committees 
in other Company(Excluding 
Private Companies, Foreign 
Companies and Section 25 
Companies)

Mr. V. S. S. Mani Promoter & Executive Director 6 6 Present 3
Mr. Ramani Iyer Promoter & Executive Director 6 Present
Mr. V. Krishnan Promoter & Executive Director 6 4 Present
Mrs. Anita Mani 3 Absent
Mr. Ravi Adusumalli3 6 Absent
Mr. ShailendraJit Singh 6 3 Absent
Mr. B. Anand 6 6 Present 4
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur 6 4 Present 7
Mr. Malcolm Monteiro 6 6 Present 3

3  Mr. Ravi Adusumalli was not able to physically attend Board Meetings during the year. However, he has been actively participating in 
the Board processes in disposal of various Board matters through audio conferences. Given his professional stature and outstanding 
background, he has also provided important perspectives to Board on all matters relating to business development from time to time.

Company except : (i) for the remuneration paid by the Company, if any and (ii) lease rent paid to Mrs. Anita Mani.

Board Meetings

The minutes of the Board meetings disclose the time at which the meeting was held. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

Directors in which three directors are Independent Directors and 

Executive Director as its Chairman, hence one third of the Board should 
comprise of Independent Directors and therefore the composition of 
the Board is in compliance with the requirements of Clause 49 (IIA) of 
the Listing Agreement. 

The particulars relating to the composition of the Board, category of 
directors, attendance at Board Meetings held during the year and at 
the last Annual General Meeting, number of directorships in other 
companies and Memberships in committees across various companies 
of which the Director is a member/ chairman are given below:
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Information placed before the Board
As per Annexure X to the Listing Agreement the information placed 
before the Board includes:

 Annual operating plans and budgets and any updates.

 Capital budgets and any updates. 

  Quarterly results for the Company and its operating divisions or 
business segments.

  Minutes of meetings of audit committee and other committees of 
the board. 

  The information on recruitment and remuneration of senior 

  Show cause, demand, prosecution notices and penalty notices 
which are materially important. 

  Fatal or serious accidents, dangerous occurrences, any material 

Company, or substantial nonpayment for goods sold by the 
Company. 

  Any issue, which involves possible public or product liability 
claims of substantial nature, including any judgement or order 
which, may have passed strictures on the conduct of the 
Company or taken an adverse view regarding another enterprise 
that can have negative implications on the Company. 

 Details of any joint venture or collaboration agreement. 

  Transactions that involve substantial payment towards goodwill, 
brand equity, or intellectual property. 

Relations front like signing of wage agreement, implementation 
of Voluntary Retirement Scheme etc. 

  Sale of material nature of investments, subsidiaries, assets, 
which is not in normal course of business. 

  Quarterly details of foreign exchange exposures and the steps 
taken by management to limit the risks of adverse exchange rate 
movement, if material. 

dividend, delay in share transfer etc. 

 Appointment, remuneration and resignation of Directors.

 Formation/reconstitution of Board Committees.

 Terms of reference of Board Committees.

 Minutes of Board meetings of unlisted subsidiary companies.

  Declaration of Independent Directors at the time of appointment/
annually.

 Disclosure of Directors’ interest and their shareholding.

 Appointment or removal of the Key Managerial Personnel.

 Appointment of Internal Auditors and Secretarial Auditors.

 Secretarial Audit reports submitted by Secretarial Auditors.

 Dividend Declaration.

  Takeover of a company or acquisition of a controlling or substantial 
stake in another company.

and arrangements entered by unlisted subsidiary companies.

 Issue of Securities 

Auditors as recommended by the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee).

  Proposals for major investments, mergers, amalgamations and 
reconstructions.

  Status of business risk exposures, its management and related 
action plans.

 Making of loans and investment of surplus funds.

  Borrowing of monies, giving guarantees or providing security in 
respect of loans.
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 Buyback of securities by the Company.

 Diversify the business of the Company.

  Brief on statutory developments, changes in government policies, 
among others with impact thereof, Directors’ responsibilities 
arising out of any such developments.

applicable to the Company.

The Chairman of the Board and Company Secretary, in consultation 

agenda for Board Meetings.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD 
 Audit Committee

 Nomination and Remuneration Committee

 Stakeholders Relationship Committee

 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

 Risk Assessment and Management Committee

 Management Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE
a) Composition of the Committee

Audit Committee is as follows:

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. B. Anand

Independent)
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

Independent)
3. Mr. Malcolm Monteiro

Independent)

Committee which consists of three Independent Directors. All the 

and Company law. The Audit Committee also advises the 
management on the areas where internal audit is concerned. The 
Audit Committee invites executives, as it considers appropriate to 
be present at the meetings of the Audit Committee.

  The Company Secretary of the Company acts as Secretary to 
the Audit Committee. The minutes of the meetings of the Audit 
Committee were placed before the Board.

b) Terms of reference
  The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are as per Section 

the listing agreement entered into with the Stock Exchanges and 
include inter alia:

terms of appointment of auditors of the company;

performance and effectiveness of audit process;

report thereon;

the company with related parties; 

 6.  valuation of undertakings or assets of the company, 
wherever it is necessary;

systems;

and related matters.

  The powers of the Audit Committee shall include the  
following powers:

 3. To obtain outside legal or other professional advice;

 4.  To secure attendance of outsiders with relevant expertise, if 
it considers necessary.

c) Meetings and Attendance

attendance of the Members at these meetings is as follows:

Sr. No Name of the Member No. of Meetings
Held Attended

Mr. B. Anand
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur 3

3 Mr. Malcolm Monteiro
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
a) Composition of the Committee
  Composition of Compensation/Remuneration Committee is as 

follows:

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. Malcolm Monteiro

Independent)
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

Independent)
3. Mr. Ravi Adusumali

b) Brief description of terms of reference

who may be appointed in senior management in accordance 
with the criteria laid down, recommend to the Board their 
appointment and removal and shall carry out evaluation of 
every Director’s performance;

attributes and independence of a Director and recommend 
to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the 
Directors, key managerial personnel and other employees;

 c.  formulate detailed terms and conditions of Employee Stock 

c) Meetings and Attendance

these meetings is as follows:

Sr. No Name of the Member No. of Meetings
Held Attended

Mr. Malcolm Monteiro
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

3 Mr. Ravi Adusumalli

d) Remuneration Policy

Directors’ Report

  The Company has not granted any options to the Directors of the 

of ` ` 
each meeting of committee of the Board and a commission of  
`

  The below mentioned table gives details of the remuneration paid 
/to be paid to Directors. During the year under consideration, the 
Company did not advance any loans to any of its Directors

Name of Director Salary (`) `) Sitting Fees (`) Commission (`) Total (`)
Executive Directors*
Mr. V. S. S. Mani
Mr. Ramani Iyer
Mr. V. Krishnan
Non-Executive Directors
Mrs. Anita Mani
Mr. Ravi Adusumalli
Mr. Shailendra Jit Singh
Non-Executive and Independent Directors
Mr. B. Anand
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur
Mr. Malcolm Monteiro
Total 1,31,50,000 43,13,090 6,40,000 2,06,87,380 3,87,55,470
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e) Shareholding of Non-Executive Directors as on March 31, 2015

Name of Director Category No. of 
Shares Held

Mrs. Anita Mani
Mr. Ravi Adusumalli
Mr. Shailendra Jit Singh
Mr. B. Anand

Independent Director
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

Independent Director
Mr. Malcolm Monteiro

Independent Director

STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE
a) Composition of the Committee

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur

Independent)
Mr. V. S. S. Mani Member (Executive)

3. Mr. Ramani Iyer Member (Executive)
4. Mr. Ramkumar 

Krishnamachari
Member (Chief Financial 

Mr. Sachin Jain Member (Company Secretary)

b) Functions of the Committee
  The Committee is responsible for the redressal of shareholder 

grievances. The terms of reference of the Shareholders/Investors 
Grievance Committee includes the following:

 a. To approve requests for transfer and transmission of shares;

 b. To approve dematerialisation and rematerialisation of shares;

 c.  To consider and approve split, consolidation and issuance of 

 d.  To review from time to time the overall working of the 
secretarial department of the Company relating to the 
shares of the Company and the functioning of the share 
transfer agent and other related matters. 

c) Meetings and Attendance
  There were no meetings of the Committee during the year under 

review.

  Mr. Sachin Jain, Company Secretary, has been designated as the 

e) Investor Grievance Redressal
  The number of complaints received and resolved to the 

satisfaction of investors during the year under review and their 

Type of Complaints
Number of Com-
plaints Received

Number of Com-
plaints Resolved

report
9 9

Through SEBI
Total 54 54

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE
a) Composition

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. B. Anand

Independent)
Mr. V. S. S. Mani Member (Executive)

3. Mr. V. Krishnan Member (Executive)

b) Functions of the Committee
  The role and responsibility of the Corporate Social Responsibility 

(CSR) Committee includes the following:

 The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee shall—

 (a)  Formulate and recommend to the Board, a Corporate Social 
Responsibility Policy which shall indicate the activities to be 
undertaken and its implementation by the Company as per 

 (b)  Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on 
the activities referred to in clause (a); and

 (c)  Monitor the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of the 
Company from time to time

and attended by all the members of the Committee.
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RISK ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
a) Composition

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. B. Anand

Independent)
Mr. Sanjay Bahadur 

Independent)
3. Mr. V. Krishnan Member (Executive)
4. Mr. Ramkumar 

Krishnamachari
Member (Chief Financial 

  The Company under Chairmanship of Independent Director Mr. 
B. Anand has constituted Risk Assessment and Management 
Committee with Mr. Sanjay Bahadur, Mr. V. Krishnan and Mr. 
Ramkumar Krishnamachari.

b) Functions of the Committee
  Role of the Committee is to review and assess the adequacy of Risk 

Assessments and Minimisation Procedure and, if appropriate, 
recommend changes to the Risk Assessments and Minimisation 
Procedure to the Board as Members. The role and responsibility 
of the Risk Assessment and Management Committee includes 
the following:

 The Risk Assessment and Management Committee shall—

 a.  Review or discuss, as and when appropriate, with 
management, the Company’s risk governance structure 
and the Company’s Risk Assessments and Minimisation 
Procedure.

 b.  Review at least quarterly the major risk exposures of 
the Company and its business including market, credit, 
operational, liquidity, funding and reputational risk, against 
established risk measurement methodologies and the 
steps management has taken to monitor and control such 
exposures. 

 c.  Receive Risk Register at least quarterly (and other internal 

and responsibilities) and reports, as and when appropriate, 
from the Head of the Internal Audit Department regarding 
the results of risk management reviews and assessments. 

 d.  Receive, as and when appropriate, reports and 
recommendations from management on risk tolerance. 

risk tolerance and review management’s measurement and 
comparison of overall risk tolerance to established levels. As 

and limits. 

 f.  Review at least quarterly the Company’s capital, liquidity 
and funding and steps management has taken to manage 
capital, liquidity and funding.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
a) Composition

Sr. No Name of the Member Designation
Mr. V. S. S. Mani Chairman
Mr. Ramani Iyer Member

3. Mr. V. Krishnan Member

b) Functions of the Committee
 a.  To take Investment Decisions for up to a maximum amount 

of `

fund based and whether short term or long term from the 
Banks, Financial Institutions and other sources as and when 
required up to a maximum amount of `

assistance to be availed by any group/associate Company for up 
to a maximum amount of `

 d.  To open new Bank Accounts and to authorise Directors/
Executives to operate the same or to withdraw the authority 
granted and / or to make changes or revise the authorised 
signatories;

 e. To close the existing Bank Accounts when not required;

 f.  To acquire premises on lease or leave and license basis, 
decide terms and conditions including compensation and 
deposits and to enter into agreements in this respect.

 g.  To apply for and avail the services required for the business 
of the Company and enter in to necessary agreement in this 
respect with the service providers.

from any government/semi government Authorities or any 
other  person/authority in respect of smooth operations;
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 i.  To take necessary legal action against any person or defend 
the Company from any legal action against the Company 
to protect interest of the Company, its shareholders, 
Directors etc. and to appoint advocates, counsels, solicitors 
to represent the Company for the same and to issue 
vakalatnama for the same;

person to act as a representative of the Company before the 
government/semi government Authorities, courts, tribunals 
or any other organisations in respect of any business or legal 
matters of the Company;

 l.  Any other matter delegated by the Board of Directors from 
time to time

c) Meetings and Attendance

Financial Year Date Time Venue Special Resolution 
passed

4

3

these meetings is as follows:

Sr. No Name of the Member No. of Meetings
Held Attended

Mr. V. S. S. Mani 6 6
Mr. Ramani Iyer 6 6

3 Mr. V. Krishnan 6 6

CEO & CFO CERTIFICATION

Clause 49 (V) of the listing Agreement, for the year under review 
was placed before the Board of Directors of the Company at its 

and on the Code of Conduct is annexed along with this Report.

GENERAL BODY MEETINGS
a) Annual General Meetings
  The date, time and venue of Annual General Meetings held during 

the preceding three years and special resolutions passed thereat 
are as follows:

b) Special Resolution (s) passed through Postal Ballot
  No Special Resolution was passed through postal ballot during 

  No Special Resolution is proposed to be conducted through 
Postal Ballot, at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

DISCLOSURES
a) Disclosure on material related party transactions

no material related party transactions that may have potential 

b)  Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties and 
strictures imposed on the Company by Stock Exchange or SEBI 

or any statutory authority, on any matter related to capital 
markets, during the last three years

  The Company is in full compliance with the matters related to 
capital market and there are no penalties and strictures imposed 
on the Company by Stock Exchange or SEBI or any statutory 
authority, on any matter related to capital markets, during the 
last three years

been  denied access to the audit committee. 
  The Company has implemented a whistle blower policy pursuant 

to which whistle blowers can raise their concerns in relation to 
the matters covered under the policy. Protected disclosures can 

Committee, in exceptional cases. The functioning of the Vigil 
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mechanism is reviewed by the Audit Committee from time to 
time. There is no denial of access to the Audit Committee for any 
personnel.

d)  Details of compliance with mandatory requirements and 
adoption of the non-mandatory requirements of this clause.

 Mandatory requirements
  The Company is fully compliant with the applicable mandatory 

requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.

of Constitution of Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

newspapers namely The Financial Express and Navshakti newspaper. 
At the same time the results are also displayed on the website of the 
Company www.justdial.com. 

com for the investors. The investors can directly send their grievances 

GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

a) ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Day, Date, Time & Venue

Financial Year st st March
Financial Calendar Results are likely to be announced on (Tentative and subject to change)

Dividend Payment Date st th

Book closure th th

Email ID for Investors

b) LISTING ON STOCK EXCHANGES
  The Equity Shares of the Company are listed on National Stock 

Exchange of India Limited (NSE), BSE Limited (BSE) and 
Metropolitan Stock Exchange of India Limited (MSEI).

c) STOCK CODE

Sr. No Stock Exchange Code
NSE JUSTDIAL
BSE

3. MSEI JUSTDIAL

d)  Market Price Data: High, Low during each month in last 

indices such as BSE Sensex, CNX Nifty indices

Month As per NSE Quote Volume (in 
no. of shares)

High (`) Low (`)
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`)   CNX Nifty

Month As per BSE Quote Volume (in 
no. of shares)

High (`) Low (`)
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`)   BSE Sensex

e) REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENTS
  The Company has appointed M/s Karvy Computershare Private 

Limited as its Registrar and Share Transfer Agent. 

  For any assistance regarding Share Transfers, Transmissions, 

relevant matters, please write to the Registrar and Share Transfer 
Agent of the Company, at the address given below: 

 Karvy Computershare Private Limited
 Unit: Just Dial Limited

 Gachibowli Financial District, 

f) SHARE TRANSFER SYSTEM
  All matters pertaining to Share Transfer are being handled by 

M/s Karvy Computershare Private Limited. The Share Transfer 
requests received are processed by them and a Memorandum 
of Transfer is sent to the Company for approval. The average 
time taken for processing Share Transfer requests including 

and Share Transfer Agents to monitor, supervise and ensure that 
there are no delays or lapses in the system.

g) Distribution of Shareholding as on March 31, 2015

Category (Nominal Value) No. of Share Holders % of Total Share Holders No. of Shares Held % of Total Shareholding

37

Total 18099 100.00 70492745 100.00
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h)  Shareholding Pattern (Categories of Shareholders) as on 
March 31, 2015

Category
No. of Shares 

Held
% of Total 

Shareholding
Promoters
FII
Foreign Corporate Bodies/
FVCI/FPI

Domestic Companies/
Banks/Institutions/Mutual 
Funds

Total 70492745 100.00

i) Dematerialisation of Shares and Liquidity

Category
No. of Shares 

Held
% of Total 

Shareholding
Shares held in Demat Form 99.97%
Shares held in Physical 
Form
Total 70492745 100.00

j)  Outstanding GDRs/ ADRs Warrants or any Convertible 
Instruments, Conversion Date and Likely Impact on Equity

Convertible instruments issued by the Company.

k) Plant Location

Mumbai, Kolkata, Chennai, Noida, Bengaluru, Hyderabad, 
Ahmedabad, Pune, Coimbatore, Jaipur and Chandigarh.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING
The Company has laid down Code of Conduct for prevention of insider 
trading, in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of 

intention of the Code of Conduct is to prohibit employees or any other 
person from dealing in the Equity Shares of the Company while they 
are in possession of price sensitive information. The Code of Conduct 
for Prevention of Insider Trading is available at http://cms.justdial.

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Board has approved and adopted a Code of Conduct for all Board 
Members and senior management of the Company, which has been 
posted on the website of the Company at www.justdial.com. 

The declaration of the Managing Director and CEO

To the members of Just Dial Limited

Sub: Compliance with Code of Conduct

I hereby declare that all the Board members and Senior Management 

Company as adopted by the Board of Directors.

V. S. S. Mani

Place: Mumbai

ADDRESS FOR CORRESPONDENCE:
REGISTERED OFFICE
Just Dial Limited

Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex,
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To,
The Board of Directors
Just Dial Limited

best of our knowledge and belief:

 i. these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that might be misleading;

 ii.  these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting 
standards, applicable laws and regulations.

or violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct.

or operation of such internal controls. However, the Statutory Auditors has fetched attention to strengthen internal control system, which 
has been implemented.

(Ramkumar Krishnamachari) (V. S. S. Mani)
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To
The Members of
Just Dial Limited

The Compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management, our examination was limited to procedures and 
implementation thereof, adopted by Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of the Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and representations made by the management, 
we certify that, the Company has complied with all the provisions of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement. 

which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company. 

For  V. B. Kondalkar & Associates
Practicing Company Secretaries

Vijay B. Kondalkar
Proprietor

Place:  Mumbai
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To 
the Members of Just Dial Limited

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

of Just Dial Limited(“the Company”), which comprise the Balance 

the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended and a summary of 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated 
in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect 

generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards 

maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 

accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the 

true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and 
matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the 

our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by 

with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s 

OPINION
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the 

the information required by the Act in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India;of the state of affairs of the Company as 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS

(“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in terms 
of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the 

 (a)  We have sought and obtained all the information and 

 (b)  In our opinion proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our 

 (e)  On the basis of written representations received from the 
directors as on March 31, 2015, taken on record by the 

March 31, 2015, from being appointed as a director in terms 
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...and ends.

 (f)  With respect to the other matters to be included in 

and to the best of our information and according to the 

including derivative contracts for which there were any 

transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 

For 
Chartered Accountants

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Financial Statements
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ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 1 UNDER THE 
HEADING “REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS” OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN DATE

Re: Just Dial Limited (‘the Company’)
(i) (a)  The Company has maintained proper records showing 

full particulars including quantity details and situation of 

management during the year and no material discrepancies 

(ii)  The Company’s business does not involve inventories and, 
accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 3(ii) of the 
Order are not applicable to the Company and hence not 

the Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured 
to companies, firms or other parties covered in the register 

Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3(iii)(a) and (b) of the 
Order are not applicable to the Company and hence not 

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information and 

system commensurate with the size of the Company and the 

the course of our audit, we have not observed any major 
weakness or continuing failure to correct any major weakness 

in the internal control system of the Company in respect of 

for sale of services needs to be strengthened as the Company 
had inadvertently overstated its revenues in the one of the 
quarter for certain clients and the some of the contracts do not 

the internal control were rectified subsequent to the balance 

Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost records 

(vii) (a)  The Company is generally regular in depositing with 
appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues including 

no undisputed dues in respect of provident fund, employees’ 

material statutory dues which were outstanding, at the year 

Name of the statue Nature of the dues Amounts (`) Period to which 
amounts relates

Due date Date of Payment

The Employees’State ESIC April 2006 to March 21st of every Month

TDS
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Name of the statue Nature of the dues Amounts (`) Period to which amounts 
relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Tribunal
Commissioner of income 

we report that no fraud on or by the Company has been noticed 

For 
Chartered Accountants

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

 (d)  There were no amounts which were required to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund 
by the Company in accordance with the relevant provisions 

(viii)  The Company has no accumulated losses at the end of the 

Company did not have any outstanding dues in respect of 

Company has not given any guarantee for loans taken by others 

Financial Statements
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Notes March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 4

5
 6,733,165,058  5,344,499,188

Non-current liabilities
6  - 

Other long term liabilities
Long term provisions  -

 41,283,195  49,441,569
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other current liabilities 10
Short-term provisions 11

 2,871,155,746  2,255,740,758
TOTAL  9,645,603,999  7,649,681,515
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
 Tangible assets 12
 Intangible assets 12
 Capital work in progress  - 

 921,500,212  539,338,241
13
6  -

Long term loans and advances 14
Other non current assets 15  555,441

 1,320,647,318  2,414,429,531
Current assets
Current investments 13
Cash and bank balances 16
Short term loans and advances
Other current assets  6,631,012  20,330,500

 8,324,956,681  5,235,251,984
TOTAL  9,645,603,999  7,649,681,515

3

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited

Chartered Accountants
Whole Time Director

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Sachin Jain
Company Secretary

Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2015
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As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited

Chartered Accountants
Whole Time Director

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Sachin Jain
Company Secretary

Financial Statements

for the year ended March 31, 2015

`

Notes For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

INCOME

Other income 20
Total revenue   6,386,528,809  5,012,414,877
EXPENSES

21
22
12

Total expense  4,481,113,578  3,363,858,926
 1,905,415,231  1,648,555,951

Tax expense
 433,000,000

Total tax expense  516,513,913  442,475,792
 1,388,901,318  1,206,080,159

Earnings per share
`10] 24

`10] 24
3
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March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 
 
 
  2,220,664

 
 
  -

 Interest (income)  (132,530,652)

  1,821,079,411  1,435,682,906
 
 Decrease in trade receivables  -

 (Increase) in short term loans and advances
 
 Decrease in other current assets
 Increase in trade payables
 Increase in other current liabilities  553,454,560

 Increase in other long term liabilities
 Increase in long term provisions  -

 Increase in short term provisions
 Cash generated from operations  2,406,514,197  1,762,890,606

 
 Net cash from operating activities (A)  1,846,533,929  1,330,360,660
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 
 
 Purchase of current investments
 Purchase of non current investments  (225,440,000)

 
  -

 Acquisition of subsidiary company  -

 Investment in bank deposit (with maturity more than three months)
 
 Interest received
 Net cash used in investing activities (B)  (1,584,981,387)  (1,286,529,063)

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended March 31, 2015
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As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited

Chartered Accountants
Whole Time Director

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Sachin Jain
Company Secretary

`

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 
 Dividend paid  (140,301,100)  -

  -

  (141,114,572)  41,257,030
 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  419,962,971  299,525,001
 Components of cash and cash equivalents
 Cash on hand
 Cheques in hand
 With banks
  -  on current account
  -  on unpaid dividend account*  -

  -  in public issue refund account**
 Cash and cash equivalents (Refer note 16)  419,962,971  299,525,001

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Financial Statements
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
  Just Dial Limited (‘the Company’) was incorporated in India with 

  The Company provides local search and related services to users 
in India through multiple platforms such as the internet, mobile 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 

statements to comply in all material respects with the accounting 

3.  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Change in accounting policy
 Employee stock compensation cost

other matter, these guidelines prescribed accounting for grant of 

a listed entity was required to comply with these Guidelines as 

based Payments with regard to accounting for employee share-

requirements, the SEBI guidelines were prevailing over the ICAI 

Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 

the new regulations, the company has changed its accounting 

management has decided to apply the revised accounting policy 

manner of presentation of “Employee Stock Option Outstanding 

The company has changed this presentation for the current as 

3.2 Change in accounting estimate

  Effective from April 1, 2014, the Company has recomputed the 
depreciation based on the useful life of the assets as prescribed 

their useful life as at April 1, 2014, of ̀  

` 6,111,034) has been recognised in the opening balance 

These rates are based on evaluation of useful life estimated by 

  As a result of this change in useful life of the assets, the 
depreciation charge for the year ended March 31, 2015 is higher 
by ` `

3.3 Use of estimates

generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

statements and the results of operations during the reporting 

best knowledge of current events and actions, uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in the outcomes 
requiring a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met 
and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 
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measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 

  Premium on leasehold land is amortized on a straight line basis 

is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at 

  The company has used the following useful lives (years) to 

Particulars Useful lives estimated 
by the management 

(years)
Buildings
Plant and Machinery

Furniture and Fittings
Motor Car

Computers ( End user Devices)

  Useful lives used by the Company are different from rates 
prescribed under Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013, in 

3.6 Impairment
  The company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 

or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating 

amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 

the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

In determining net selling price, recent market transactions are 

3.7 Intangible assets
  Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 

assets are carried at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and 

 Research and Development Cost

are recognized as an intangible asset, when the Company can 

 (i)  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale;

 (ii)  Its intention to complete the asset;

 (iii) Its ability to use or sell the asset;

 (v)  The availability of adequate resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the asset; and

as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to 
be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 

  Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the 

presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not 

Such intangible assets and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment annually, either individually or 

assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
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  The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, and 
otherwise when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

  The amortisation period and the amortisation method are 

  Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset 
are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 

  A summary of amortisation policies applied to the Company’s 

 Goodwill
  Goodwill is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 

annually and otherwise when events or changes in circumstances 

 Software
  Application software acquired by the Company which provide 

amortised equally over a period of 5 years being the estimated 

 Website development costs
  Website development costs are amortised on a straight line basis 

 Unique telephone numbers
  Unique telephone numbers are amortised on a straight line basis 

 Application development
  Application development cost capitalized are amortized on a 

straight line basis over the period of 3 years being the estimated 
useful life of the asset

3.8 Leases
  Leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the 

3.9 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Expenditure

3.10 Borrowing costs
  Borrowing cost includes interest, amortisation of ancillary costs 

3.11 Investments
  Investments that are readily realisable and intended to be 

held for not more than a year from the date on which such 

comprises purchase price and directly attributable acquisition 

at lower of cost and fair value determined on an individual 

value is made to recognise a decline other than temporary in the 

  On disposal of an investment, the difference between its carrying 
amount and net disposal proceeds is charged or credited to the 

3.12 Revenue recognition

 3.12.1 Income from Services
 Sale of Search related services

over the contract period and from lead based contracts when 

 Search plus services
  Transaction service fee and commission income on search plus 

services is recognised in the period in which services are rendered 

 Other Operating revenue
  Other Operating revenue comprises revenue from reseller 

providing data collection services to the Company and Sale of 



103Just Dial Limited | Annual Report 2014-15

Notes to Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Notes to Financial Statements | Financial Statements...and ends.

when the contract with reseller is entered into and the annual fee 

recognised at the time of issuance of the document to the customer

 3.12.2 Interest

 3.12.3 Dividends

 3.12.4 Service charges

3.13 Foreign currency translation
 3.13.1 Initial Recognition
  Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting 

currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount, the 

 3.13.2 Conversion
  Foreign currency monetary items are retranslated using the 

items, which are measured in terms of historical cost denominated 

measured at fair value or other similar valuation denominated in 

 3.13.3 Exchange Differences

on reporting such monetary items of the Company at rates different 
from those, at which they were initially recorded during the year, or 

recognizes contribution payable to the provident fund scheme as 

the contribution payable to the scheme for service received before 

for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit credit 

provided for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected 

in the balance sheet, since it does not have an unconditional right to 

3.15 Income Taxes

are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting 
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In situations where the company has unabsorbed depreciation or 

only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence 

account of long term capital losses (which can be set-off only 
against the income arising under the head ‘Capital gains’), 

there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that 

  At each balance sheet date the Company re-assesses unrecognised 

reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, 

remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, 
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 

the cost of equity-settled transactions is measured using the intrinsic 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 

3.17 Segment Reporting Policies
  The Company’s activities are currently carried out in India and 

all the services provided by the Company fall in a single business 

  As there are no separate reportable primary and secondary 

hence there are no separate disclosures on reportable Segments 

3.18 Earnings per Share

or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders (after 

by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are 

3.19 Provisions
  A provision is recognised when an enterprise has a present 

of resources will be required to settle the obligation, in respect 

discounted to its present value and are determined based on best 
estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet 

3.20 Contingent liabilities.
  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not 

Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses 

3.21 Cash and Cash equivalents

statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
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4 SHARE CAPITAL `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Authorised
Equity share capital

`  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000

Preference share capital
`  12,000,000  12,000,000

 1,012,000,000  1,012,000,000
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up shares
Equity shares

` 

Total issued, subscribed and paid up share capital  704,927,450  701,505,500

a) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number ` Number `

Equity Shares
Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year

 -  - 
Shares outstanding at the end of the year  70,492,745  704,927,450  70,150,550  701,505,500

Particulars As at (No of Shares)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Equity Shares
Equity Shares allotted as fully paid up bonus shares  62,293,935  62,293,935
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c) Disclosure of Shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company

Equity share capital

Name of Shareholder March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

No of Shares 
held

% of Holding No of Shares 
held

% of Holding

Saif II Mauritius Company Limited

d) Shares reserved for issue under options

e) Terms, Rights and restrictions attached to equity shares
 Voting Rights
 Each holder of equity shares having a par value of ` 

 Rights as to Dividend
  The equity shareholders have right to receive dividend when declared by the Board of Directors subject to approval in the ensuing Annual 

 Rights pertaining to repayment of capital
  In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after 

5 RESERVES AND SURPLUS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Securities premium account

 5,243,310
 - 

Closing balance  2,511,449,441  2,485,784,816
General reserve

 -

Closing balance  259,498,148  120,608,016

 (5,243,310)

Closing balance  151,868,351  5,392,522
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5 RESERVES AND SURPLUS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 (140,301,100)

 (6,111,034)  -

 3,105,421,668  2,031,208,334
Total Reserves and Surplus  6,028,237,608  4,642,993,688

6 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Deferred tax liabilities

Gross deferred tax liabilities  24,159,131  41,720,180
Deferred tax assets

Effect of lease accounting

 -

Total  58,955,727  23,558,345

absence of virtual certainty
 -

Gross deferred tax assets  47,715,048  23,558,345

7 OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Provision for lease obligation
Total Other Long Term Liabilities  39,972,416  31,279,734

8 LONG TERM PROVISIONS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 -

Total Long Term Provisions  1,310,779  -
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9 TRADE PAYABLES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 -  -

(b) Total outstanding dues of trade payables other than Micro and Small enterprises
Total Trade Payables  137,628,632  92,454,385

10 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Unearned revenue
Other payables
Salary and reimbursements payable  314,266,256 

Other statutory dues (employee related liabilities) 

Investor Education and Protection Fund will be credited by following amounts (as and 
when due)
Share application money refundable
Unclaimed dividend  -

 -  464,106

Deposit from franchisees  146,032 

Provision for lease obligation
Total Other Current Liabilities  2,531,839,058  1,979,136,959

11 SHORT TERM PROVISIONS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Provision for compensated absences  20,004,142
 140,301,100

Total Short Term Provisions  201,688,056  184,149,414
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13 INVESTMENTS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Non current investments
In Subsidiary Companies (At cost, Trade, Unquoted)

(Delaware, United States of America)
 -

Aggregate value of unquoted investment  4,467,964  -
Others (At cost, Other than Trade, Quoted)

 - 

Aggregate value of quoted investment  -  1,547,080,000
 4,467,964  1,547,080,000

Name of body Corporates Maturity Date No. of bonds Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

` 1,000 each
 -  150,000  -  150,000,000

` 5,000 each
June 13, 2034  -  - 

Free Bonds of ` 1,000 each
February 5,  -  1,000,000  -  1,000,000,000

Aggregate value of quoted investment  -  1,229,416  -  1,547,080,000

Current investments (valued at lower of cost and fair value) (other than trade unquoted) `

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
 225,440,000  -

Current investments in mutual funds
 7,721,723,614  4,709,922,209

Investment in tax free bonds

Name of body Corporates Maturity Date No. of bonds Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Bonds of ` 1,000,000 each
August 30,  100  -  111,050,000  -

` 1,000 each
June 22, 2034  100,000  -  -

Aggregate value of quoted investment  100,100  -  225,440,000  -
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Name of scheme Maturity Date No. of units Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
 -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

February 23, 

 11,000,000  11,000,000  110,000,000  110,000,000

Direct - Growth
July 14, 2014  -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

days) - Direct Plan Growth
February 23, 

2015
 -  11,000,000  -  110,000,000

Direct Plan - Growth Option
ICICI Prudential FMP series 63 - 3 years plan M 
Cumulative

August 3, 2015  20,000,000  20,000,000  200,000,000  200,000,000

ICICI Prudential FMP series 66-420 days plan A April 2, 2014  -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

JP Morgan India Income Fund Series 301 - Growth  50,000,010  50,000,010  500,000,100  500,000,100

May 30, 2016  5,000,000  5,000,000  50,000,000  50,000,000
August 2, 2016  12,500,000  12,500,000  125,000,000  125,000,000

August 4, 2016  10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

days) - Direct Plan Growth
August 1, 2016  15,000,000  15,000,000  150,000,000  150,000,000

August 23, 
2016

Birla Sunlife Interval Income fund Annual plan August 3, 2015  20,000,000  20,000,000  200,000,000  200,000,000

October 3, 2016  22,000,000  220,000,000
September 24, 

2016
 10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

April 22, 2015  15,000,000  -  150,000,000  -
 10,000,000  -  100,000,000  -

days) - Direct Growth Plan
 10,000,000  -  100,000,000  -

 11,500,000  -  115,000,000  -

Growth
September 5,  14,000,000  -  140,000,000  -

April 6, 2016  15,000,000  -  150,000,000  -

433 Days Plan E -Direct Plan -Cumulative
October 20, 

2016
August 22, 2016  10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

2016
 10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

Total - (A)   318,689,147  310,395,143  3,186,891,464  3,103,951,427
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Name of scheme No. of units Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

 -  - 
 -  - 

 60,000,000  60,000,000

 -  - 
 100,000,000  100,000,000

UTI Short term Income Fund -Institutional Option- Growth
 -  -  121,010,005

 130,000,000  130,000,000

 100,000,000  100,000,000

 -  - 

 200,000,000  200,000,000

 200,000,000  200,000,000
 -  200,000,000  -
 -  200,000,000  -
 -  -

 -  -  -  -

 -  -  -  -
 -  140,000,000  -
 -  -
 -  200,000,000  -
 -  1,000,000,000  -

 -  -  -  -
 -  -

 1,450,235  -  -

Total - (B)   152,444,234  69,531,338  4,309,392,150  1,605,970,782
Aggregate value of unquoted investment (C= A+B)  471,133,381  379,926,481  7,496,283,614  4,709,922,209

date by the mutual fund is ` ` 

` 250,000,000 availed 
` ` 
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14 LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (unsecured, considered good) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Security deposits
Security deposits to related parties  - 

Other loans and advances
` ` 

Total Long Term Loans and Advances  370,521,934  327,455,849
Loans and advances due by directors, relatives of directors and related parties:

 - 
 - 

15 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 12 months  555,441

Total Other non current assets  601,291  555,441

16 CASH AND BANK BALANCES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand

Balance with Bank
- on current accounts
- on unpaid dividend accounts*  -

- in public issue refund account**
Total Cash and cash equivalents  419,962,971  299,525,001

Bank deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months but less than 12 months  - 

` ` 

 419,962,971  369,039,105
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17 SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (unsecured, considered good) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received 
Security deposits  46,230,115

Security deposits to related parties  -

Other loans and advances
 
  - 

 
 Advance to vendors
Total Short Term Loans and Advances  176,639,084  135,960,170
Loans and advances due by directors, relatives of directors and related parties:

 -

 -
 -

18 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Amount due from related parties  - 

Total Other Current Assets  6,631,012  20,330,500

Personnel or their relatives:
Just Dial Global Private Limited  - 
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19 REVENUE FROM SALE OF SEARCH AND OTHER RELATED SERVICES `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Sale of search related services
Other operating revenue
Total Revenue  5,897,978,567  4,612,926,885

20 OTHER INCOME `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Interest income on
 Bank deposits

 -
Dividend income on current investment  -  -

 Current investments (net)*
 -

Other non-operating income
 Service charges

 -  -
 Miscellaneous income  3,413,005
Total Other Income  488,550,242  399,487,992

` `

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Salaries, wages and bonus
Contribution to provident fund and other funds

 2,220,664

 3,087,718,442  2,287,000,694
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22 OTHER EXPENSES `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Collection charges  23,546,654

Power and fuel
 224,020,315

Insurance

- Plant and machinery
- Building  -  251,462
 - Others
Advertising and sales promotion  141,554,250

Travelling and conveyance
Communication costs
Internet and server charges  130,105,360  66,114,443
Printing and stationery  13,655,254
Legal and professional fees
Directors sitting fees

Data base and content charges
Sundry balance written off
Bad debts written off  -

Administrative and support services  -
 124,315

 2,101,034

Donation  1,113,000  461,500

Total Other Expenses  1,152,395,838  903,943,996
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23 PAYMENT TO AUDITOR `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

 Audit fee  1,300,000
 Limited review fee  1,350,000  1,200,000

 400,000  300,000

 100,000

 -  106,035
 3,845,247  8,132,282

selling shareholders
 -

Total Payment to Auditor  3,845,247  2,956,941

24 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Basic

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS
Earning per share  19.76  17.23
Diluted

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS
Equity shares arising on grant of stock options under ESOP
Total no of shares outstanding (weighted average) (including dilution)  70,798,438  70,490,808
Earning per share 19.62 17.11

25. RELATED PARTIES
25.1 Names of related parties and related party relationship

Related parties where control exists

Subsidiary Company
Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United State of 

Key Management Personnel

Relatives of Key Management Personnel

relatives
Just Dial Global Private Limited
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25.2 Transactions with related parties.
`

Sr. No Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

1 Subsidiary
-

2
A

15,115,263
-

63,427,238 40,635,712
B

3
A

Mrs Anita Mani
4
A Just Dial Global Private Limited

Service charges (other income)
Purchase of Investment in Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United States of America -

`

Sr. No Balance outstanding at the year end As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

1 Subsidiary Company
Payable to Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United States of America, towards 
administrative and support services

2,465,624 -

2
A

501,551

-

154,661
6,888,843 2,580,798

B Advances given
-

C Security Deposit given

 3
A Security Deposit given

 Mrs Anita Mani

4
their relatives

A -
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26. LEASES
Operating Lease

`

Particulars Operating Lease

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Lease payments for the year 224,020,315

27. PENDING LITIGATIONS
A) Contingent Liabilities not provided for

`

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Income Tax Demands(Refer note 1):

Tax Deducted at Source (TDS) Demands(Refer note 1):
-

Notes: 

B) Provision for other statutory liability
 1)  At March 31, 2015, provision for contribution to Employee State Insurance Corporation aggregates `

` 

` `



120

Notes to Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Where search begins...

28 CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS `

 Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2015

(a)  
provided for

(b) Other Commitments -

(c) For commitments related to acquisition of Bangalore land (refer note 35)
(d) For commitments relating to lease arrangements (refer note 26)

29. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

`

 Particulars Construction/
acquisition of any 

asset (i)

On purpose other 
than (i)

Total

Gross amount required to be spent - -

Spent during the year in cash towards educational purposes -
Balance unspent during the year - -

  Of the above, total spent of ` ` `

30. DETAILS OF DUES TO MICRO AND SMALL ENTERPRISES AS PER MSMED ACT, 2006.
  The Company does not have suppliers who are registered as micro or small enterprise under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

31. EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS: 

 Particulars Pool Date of 
grant

Date of 
Board/ 
Share-
holders 
Approval

Number 
of options 
granted

Vesting 
period

Vesting Conditions

ESOP Scheme Pool 2
date of the grant subject to continuance of services

ESOP Scheme 
2010

Pool 5 30-Apr-10 24-Apr-10
continuance of services

Pool 6
date of the grant subject to continuance of servicesPool 6 31-Oct-10 20-Oct-10

Pool 6 1-Dec-10 1-Dec-10
Pool 6 25-Mar-11 25-Mar-11 10,311
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 Particulars Pool Date of 
grant

Date of 
Board/ 
Share-
holders 
Approval

Number 
of options 
granted

Vesting 
period

Vesting Conditions

ESOP Scheme 
2013

Pool I 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 4 years
date of the grant subject to continuance of services

Pool II 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 5 years
from the date of the grant subject to continuance of services

Pool III 31-July-14 30-Sep-13
the grant subject to continuance of services

Pool IV 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 235,045

of services
ESOP Scheme 
2014

Pool I 31-Oct -14 24-Sep-14

of services

Pool I 31-Dec -14 24-Sep-14 31,313

Pool II 31- Oct-14 24-Sep-14 5 years
from the date of the grant subject to continuance of servicesPool II 31-Dec -14 24-Sep-14

Pool III 31-Oct-14 24-Sep-14 10,000 4 years
date of the grant subject to continuance of services

a) The details of activity under Pool 2 of ESOP Scheme 2008 have been summarised below: (refer note 1 below)

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - -
- -

Outstanding at the end of the year - - - -
- - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) - - - -

Weighted average fair value of options granted on the date of grant

b) The details of activity under Pool 5 of ESOP Scheme 2010 have been summarised as below:

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Forfeited during the year - -

Outstanding at the end of the year - -
- - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 6 - -

Weighted average fair value of options granted on the date of grant
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c) The details of activity under Pool 6 of ESOP Scheme 2010 have been summarised below:

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Number of 
options

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Forfeited during the year (4,260)

(324,261)

Outstanding at the end of the year 5,301
5,301

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) -

Weighted average fair value of options on the date of grant 44 44

d) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2013 with an exercise price of ` 80 have been summarised below:

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III Pool IV
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - - - - -

Granted During the year - - - 235,045 -
Forfeited during the year (2,000) - - - (1,100) - - -

- - - - - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year - - - 235,045 -

- - - - - - - -
Weighted average remaining contractual 
life (in years)

- 10 - - 11 -

Weighted average fair value of options on 
the date of grant

1,552 1,542 1,566

e) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2014 (October 14) with an exercise price of ` 80 have been summarised below:

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014
March 31, 

2015
March 31, 

2014

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - - -
Granted During the year - - 10,000 -
Forfeited during the year - - - - - -

- - - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year - - 10,000 -

- - - - - -
Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 12 - 10 - 10 -
Weighted average fair value of options on the date of grant
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f) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2014 (December 14) with an exercise price of ` 80 have been summarised below:

Particulars Pool I Pool II

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - -

Granted During the year 31,313 - -

Forfeited during the year - (2,234) -
- - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 30,323 - -
- - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 12 - 10 -

Weighted average fair value of options on the date of grant 1,221 1,213

Notes:

`

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Total employee compensation cost pertaining to share based  payment plans (all equity 
settled) for the year

2,220,664

Employee compensation cost transferred to Securities premium during the year (5,243,310)
Liability for employee stock option outstanding as at year end

3. IMPACT ON THE REPORTED NET PROFIT AND EARNINGS PER SHARE BY APPLYING THE FAIR VALUE BASED METHOD
  As per guidance note on ‘Accounting for Employees Share Based Payments’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the 

`

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

1,388,901,318 1,206,080,159
2,220,664

(6,152,234)

1,393,218,668 1,202,148,589
Earnings Per Share
Basic

 - As reported

 - Pro forma
Diluted

 - As reported

 - Pro forma
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 ESOP Scheme 2013:

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III Pool IV

Spot price (`)
`)

4 5 2
Fair value (`)

ESOP Scheme 2014: Options granted in October 2014

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III

Spot price (`)
`)

5 4
Fair value (`)

ESOP Scheme 2014: Options granted in December 2014

Particulars Pool I Pool II

Spot price (`)
`)

5
Fair value (`)

`

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
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`

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Current service cost
4,640,114

Balance Sheet
Details of Provision for Gratuity

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Fair value of plan assets 110,313,032
Plan asset/ (liability) (1,310,779) 2,421,899

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Interest cost 4,640,114

Current service cost

Actuarial losses on obligation
111,623,811 68,286,290

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Opening fair value of plan assets 54,325,523

Contributions by employer

Closing fair value of plan assets 110,313,032 70,708,189

` `
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%

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2015

Investments with insurer 100 100

%

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Salary Escalation

on age and 
designation

on age and 
designation

Experience adjustments:

`

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

As at  
March 31, 2013

As at  
March 31, 2012

As at  
March 31, 2011

Plan assets 110,313,032 54,325,523 41,006,515
(1,310,779) 2,421,899 825,547 2,418,881 8,603,800

4,130,605
150,500 -

33 EXPENDITURE IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (ACCRUAL BASIS) `

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Travelling and conveyance
Internet and server charges
Advertising and sales promotion
Data base and content charges

38,880,069 10,691,387
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34. PROPOSED DIVIDEND

`

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

On Equity Shares of ` 10 each
Amount of dividend proposed 140,310,100
Dividend per Equity Share 2 2

35. ACQUISITION OF BANGALORE LAND

Industrial Area in Bangalore and paid total consideration of `

  Further, the Company is required to comply with various conditions for the above project including time limit for beginning and completion 

36. ACQUISITION OF JUST DIAL INC. DELAWARE, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

`
necessary administrative support services for making available infrastructure, bill collection, database procurement and advertising 

37. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO MARCH 31, 2015

 
`

38.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited

Chartered Accountants
Whole Time Director

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Sachin Jain
Company Secretary
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To the Members of  
Just Dial Limited

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

of Just Dial Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”), 
its subsidiary (the Holding Company and its subsidiary together 
referred to as “the Group”) its associates and joint controlled entities, 
comprising of the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2015, 

accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the requirement of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) that give a 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, 

respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group 
are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the 
assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant 

give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting 
and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included 
in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made 

on Auditing, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

Independent Auditor’s Report

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on whether the Holding Company has in place an adequate internal 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors 
in terms of their reports referred to in paragraph (a) of the Other 

OPINION
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the 

the information required by the Act in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India of the consolidated state of affairs of the 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

(“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, based on 

to whom the Order applies together referred to as “the Holding 
Company” in this report, we give in the Annexure a statement on 

applicable, that:

 (a)  We / the other auditors whose reports we have relied 
upon have sought and obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purpose of our audit of the aforesaid 

 (b)  In our opinion proper books of account as required by law 
relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidation of the 
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from our examination of those books and reports of the 
other auditors;

 c)  The consolidated Balance Sheet, consolidated Statement 

dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books 
of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the 

under section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014;

 (e)  On the basis of the written representations received from 
the directors of the Holding Company as on March 31, 2015 
taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company, none of the directors of the Holding Company is 

 (f)  With respect to the other matters to be included in 

Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion 
and to the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us:

impact of pending litigations on its consolidated 

    There were no amounts which were required to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 

 Other Matter

total assets of ` 4,140,507 as at March 31, 2015, and total 
` ` 4,520,997 for the 

year ended on that date, in respect of a subsidiary which have 

disclosures included in respect of that subsidiary and our report 
in terms of sub-sections (3) and (11) of Section 143 of the Act, 
in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary is based solely on 

reliance on the work done and the report of the other auditor and 

For 
Chartered Accountants

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Place of Signature: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015

Financial Statements



130

Where search begins...

(i) (a)   The Holding Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars including quantity details and 

of the Holding Company during the year and no material 

and, accordingly, the requirements under paragraph 3(ii) of the 
Order are not applicable to the Holding Company and hence not 

(iii)  According to the information and explanations given to us, 
the Holding Company has not granted any loans, secured or 

Order are not applicable to the Holding Company and hence not 

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information and explanations 
given to us, there is an adequate internal control system 
commensurate with the size of the Holding Company and the 

course of our audit, we have not observed any major weakness or 
continuing failure to correct any major weakness in the internal 
control system of the Holding Company in respect of purchase 

services needs to be strengthened as the Holding Company had 
inadvertently overstated its revenues in the one of the quarter 

for certain clients and the some of the contracts do not describe 

activities of the Holding Company do not involve purchase of 

(v)  The Holding Company has not accepted any deposit from the 

(vi)  To the best of knowledge and as explained, the Central 
Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost records 

(vii) (a)  The Holding Company is generally regular in depositing with 
appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues including 

wealth tax, service tax, cess and other material statutory 

customs duty, excise duty and value added tax are not 

 (b)  According to the information and explanations given to us, 

state insurance, income tax, service tax, cess and other 
material statutory dues which were outstanding, at the 
year end, for a period of more than six months from the 
date they became payable for Holding Company, except for 

deduction at source (TDS) dues:

Name of the statue Nature of 
the dues

Amounts (`) Period to which 
amounts relates

Due date Date of Payment

ESIC April 2006 to 21st of every
Month

Income Tax Act, 1961 TDS 199,240 Financial year 7th of every 
month

 

 (c)  According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no dues of wealth tax, service tax and cess which have not been 

ANNEXURE REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 1 UNDER THE HEADING “REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS” OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN DATE
Re: Just Dial Limited (‘Holding Company’) to whom the provisions of the Order apply
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as follows;

Name of the statute Nature of the 
dues

Amount (`) Period to which the 
amount relates

Forum where dispute is pending

Income Tax Act, 1961 Income tax Income Tax Appellate Tribunal
Commissioner of income tax (Appeals)

 (d)  There were no amounts which were required to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund 
by the Holding Company in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956) and rules 

(viii)  The Holding Company has no accumulated losses at the end 

(ix)  According to the information and explanation given to us, The 
Holding Company did not have any outstanding dues in respect 

(x)  According to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Holding Company has not given any guarantee for loans taken by 

(xi)  The Holding Company did not have any term loans outstanding 

(xii)  Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of 

per the information and explanations given by the management, 
we report that no fraud on or by the Holding Company has been 

For 
Chartered Accountants

per Govind Ahuja
Partner

Place of Signature: Mumbai
Date: May 29, 2015

Financial Statements
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`

Notes March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 4  704,927,450  701,505,500
Reserves and surplus 5

 6,733,562,968  5,344,499,188
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 6  -
Other long term liabilities 7  39,972,416  31,279,734
Long term provisions  1,310,779  -

 41,283,195  49,441,569
Current liabilities
Trade payables 9  136,903,265
Other current liabilities 10  1,979,136,959
Short-term provisions 11

 2,870,430,380  2,255,740,758
Total  9,645,276,543  7,649,681,515
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
 Tangible assets 12  460,503,174
 Intangible assets 12  51,639,231  67,454,907
 Capital work in progress  -

 921,500,212  539,338,241
Non current investments 13  -
Deferred tax assets (net) 6  23,555,917  -
Long term loans and advances 14  371,156,042
Other non current assets 15  601,291  555,441

 1,316,813,462  2,414,429,531
Current assets
Current investments 13  7,721,723,614  4,709,922,209
Trade receivables 16  -
Cash and bank balances 17  421,561,290  369,039,105
Short term loans and advances  177,709,325  135,960,170
Other current assets 19  6,631,012  20,330,500

 8,328,463,081  5,235,251,984
 9,645,276,543  7,649,681,515

3

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W
Chartered Accountants Ramani Iyer

Whole Time Director
per Govind Ahuja
Partner

 Ramkumar Krishnamachari Sachin Jain
Place : Mumbai Company Secretary
Date : May 29, 2015

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Where search begins...

as at March 31, 2015
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`

Notes For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

INCOME
Revenue from operations 20
Other income 21
Total Revenue  6,386,853,363  5,012,414,877
Expenses

22
Other expenses 23  1,153,666,563  903,943,996
Depreciation and amortisation expense 12  172,914,236
Total expense  4,482,384,303  3,363,858,926

 1,904,469,060
Tax expense
Current tax  433,000,000
Deferred tax charge/(credit)
Tax for earlier years  799,932
Total tax expense  516,053,175  442,475,792

 1,388,415,885  1,206,080,159
Earnings per share

` 10] 24
` 10] 24

3

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W
Chartered Accountants Ramani Iyer

Whole Time Director
per Govind Ahuja
Partner

 Ramkumar Krishnamachari Sachin Jain
Place : Mumbai Company Secretary
Date : May 29, 2015

Financial Statements

for the year ended March 31, 2015
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`

  March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Depreciation and amortisation expense  172,914,236
Employee stock compensation expense  152,531,704  2,220,664

 3,321,961  (31,943)
 (162,259,271)

 -
Interest (income)  (132,530,652)
Creditors written back  (1,317,662)  -

 1,819,632,812  1,435,682,906
Movements in working capital:
Decrease in trade receivables -
(Increase) in short term loans and advances
(Increase)/ Decrease in long term loans and advances  (591,602)
Decrease in other current assets  309,440
Increase in trade payables  44,679,592
Increase in other current liabilities  309,003,503
Increase in other long term liabilities  1,679,333
Increase in long term provisions  1,310,779  -
Increase in short term provisions  11,997,096
Cash generated from operations  2,404,256,421  1,762,890,606
Direct taxes paid (net of refunds)  (432,529,946)
Net cash from operating activities (A)  1,844,261,132  1,330,360,660

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 (209,094,365)

Purchase of current investments  (5,665,567,437)  (6,335,903,431)
Purchase of non current investments  (225,440,000)
Sale/redemption of current investments  3,041,370,517
Sale/redemption of non current investments  -
Acquisition of subsidiaries  (4,467,964)  -
Investment in bank deposit (with maturity more than three months) (2,039,106)
Redemption/maturity of bank deposit (with maturity more than three months) 71,507,361
Interest received 145,920,700
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (1,584,981,387) (1,286,529,063)

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended March 31, 2015
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As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W
Chartered Accountants Ramani Iyer

Director
per Govind Ahuja
Partner

 Ramkumar Krishnamachari Sachin Jain
Place : Mumbai Company Secretary
Date : May 29, 2015

`

  March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from issuance of equity shares (including premium)  23,030,700  41,257,030
Dividend paid  (140,301,100)  -
Dividend distribution tax  -

 (141,114,572)  41,257,030
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  303,396,117  214,436,374
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  421,561,290  299,525,001
Components of cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  5,940,727
Cheques in hand
With banks
 -  on current account  290,920,700
 -  on unpaid dividend account*  -
 -  in public issue refund account**  752,461  1,217,436
Cash and cash equivalents (Refer note 17)  421,561,290  299,525,001

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Financial Statements
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

  The Group provides local search and related services to users 
in India and in the United States of America (USA) through 
multiple platforms such as the internet, mobile internet, over 

  In October 2014, the Company has acquired the entire share 

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION

with the principles and procedures required for the preparation 

down under Accounting Standard (AS) 21, ‘Consolidated Financial 

2013, read together along with paragraph 7 of the Companies 

and its subsidiary are consolidated on a line by line basis by 
cumulating the individual items income and expenses after 

of the subsidiary have been consolidated with effective from 

  List of subsidiary included in the ‘Consolidated Financial 

Name Country of 
Incorporation

% of ownership 
interest 

Just Dial Inc Delaware-USA 100% 

statements are consistent with those of previous year except for 

  The Company did not have any subsidiary during the year ended 

  The excess of cost to the Parent Company of its investments in the 
subsidiaries over its portion of equity in the subsidiaries, as at the 

date on which investment was made, is recognized as goodwill 

portion of equity in the subsidiaries is determined on the basis of 

cost to the Parent Company of its investments in the subsidiaries is 
less than its portion of equity in the subsidiaries, as at the date on 
which investment was made, it is recognized as capital reserve in 

possible, in the same format as that adopted by the Company 

policies adopted by the Group for the purpose of Consolidated 

uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events 
in similar circumstances to the extent possible across the group 
and are presented, to the extent possible, in the same manner 

3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Change in accounting policy
 Employee stock compensation cost
  Till October 27, 2014, the SEBI (Employee Stock Option Scheme 

and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999, dealt 

other matter, these guidelines prescribed accounting for grant of 

a listed entity was required to comply with these Guidelines as 

based Payments with regard to accounting for employee share-

requirements, the SEBI guidelines were prevailing over the ICAI 

Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 
1999 have been replaced by the SEBI (Share Based Employee 

the new regulations, the company has changed its accounting 
for equity settled option expiring unexercised after vesting in line 

management has decided to apply the revised accounting policy 
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  Since there are no equity settled options expiring unexercised after 

manner of presentation of “Employee Stock Option Outstanding 

The company has changed this presentation for the current as 

3.2 Change in accounting estimate

  Effective from April 1, 2014, the Company has recomputed the 
depreciation based on the useful life of the assets as prescribed 

useful life the depreciation charge for assets having exhausted their 
useful life as at April 1, 2014, of ` 9,257,739 (net of deferred tax of 
` 6,111,034) has been recognised in the opening balance of surplus 

  As a result of this change in useful life of the assets, the 
depreciation charge for the year ended March 31, 2015 is higher 
by ` 33,132,751 (March 31, 2014: ` 

3.3 Use of estimates

generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenue ,expenses, assets and liabilities and 

statements and the results of operations during the reporting 

best knowledge of current events and actions, uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in the outcomes 
requiring a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

  Fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 

purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met 
and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 

from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard 

including day-to-day repair and maintenance expenditure and 

measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 

  Premium on leasehold land is amortized on a straight line basis 

is calculated on a straight-line basis using the rates arrived at 

  The company has used the following useful lives (years) to 

Particulars Useful lives estimated by 
the management (years)

Buildings
Plant and Machinery

Furniture and Fittings
Motor Car

Computers ( End user Devices)
Headsets

  Useful lives used by the Company are different from rates 
prescribed under Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013, in 

3.6 Impairment
  The company assesses at each reporting date whether there is 

exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 

an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 

CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

selling price, recent market transactions are taken into account, 
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3.7 Intangible assets
  Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 

assets are carried at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and 

 Research and Development Cost 

expenditure incurred on an internally generated intangible assets 
are recognized as an intangible asset, when the Company can 
demonstrate all the following:

 (i)  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so 
that it will be available for use or sale;

 (ii) Its intention to complete the asset;

 (iii) Its ability to use or sell the asset;

 (v)  The availability of adequate resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the asset; and

 (vi)  The ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable 

  Following the initial recognition of the development 
expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 

asset begins when development is complete and the asset is 

  Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the 

presumption that the useful life of an intangible asset will not 
exceed ten years from the date when the asset is available for 

of an intangible asset exceeds ten years, the Company amortises 

Such intangible assets and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment annually, either individually or 

assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 

  The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for 
impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, and 
otherwise when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

  The amortisation period and the amortisation method are 

useful life of the asset is significantly different from previous 

there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from the asset, the amortisation method 

Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes 

  Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset 
are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 

intangible assets is as below:

 Goodwill
  Goodwill is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 

annually and otherwise when events or changes in circumstances 

 Software
  Application software acquired by the Company which provide 

amortised equally over a period of 5 years being the estimated 

 Website development costs
  Website development costs are amortised on a straight line basis 

 Unique telephone numbers
  Unique telephone numbers are amortised on a straight line basis 

 Application development 
  Application development cost capitalized are amortized on a 

straight line basis over the period of 3 years being the estimated 
useful life of the asset

3.8 Leases
  Leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the 
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3.9  Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Expenditure

3.10 Borrowing costs
  Borrowing cost includes interest, amortisation of ancillary costs 

3.11  Investments
  Investments that are readily realisable and intended to be 

held for not more than a year from the date on which such 

comprises purchase price and directly attributable acquisition 

at lower of cost and fair value determined on an individual 

value is made to recognise a decline other than temporary in the 

  On disposal of an investment, the difference between its carrying 
amount and net disposal proceeds is charged or credited to the 

3.12 Revenue recognition
  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

 3.12.1  Income from Services
 Sale of Search related services 
  Revenues from tenure based contracts are recognised pro-rata 

over the contract period and from lead based contracts when 

 Search plus services 
  Transaction service fee and commission income on search plus 

services is recognised in the period in which services are rendered 

 Other Operating revenue
  Other Operating revenue comprises revenue from reseller 

providing data collection services to the Company and Sale of 

   Revenue from resellers constitutes a one-time registration fee 

when the contract with reseller is entered into and the annual fee 

are recognised at the time of issuance of the document to the 
customer

 3.12.2 Interest
  Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into 

 3.12.3 Dividends

 3.12.4 Service charges
  Revenue from service charges is recognised upon rendering of 

3.13 Foreign currency translation
 3.13.1 Initial Recognition
  Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting 

currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount, the 
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign 

 3.13.2 Conversion
  Foreign currency monetary items are retranslated using the 

items, which are measured in terms of historical cost denominated 
in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at 

measured at fair value or other similar valuation denominated in 
a foreign currency, are translated using the exchange rate at the 

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items or on reporting such monetary items of the Company at 
rates different from those, at which they were initially recorded 

recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which they 

 (a)  The assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, 
of the non-integral foreign operation are translated at the 
closing rate;

 (b)  Income and expense items of the non-integral foreign 
operation are translated at exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions; and
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 (c)  All resulting exchange differences are accumulated in a 
foreign currency translation reserve until the disposal of the 

recognizes contribution payable to the provident fund scheme as 

If the contribution payable to the scheme for service received 
before the balance sheet date exceeds the contribution already 

already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received 
before the balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an 
asset

for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit credit 

  Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilised within the 

Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the 
additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the unused 

  The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried 

absences are provided for based on the actuarial valuation using 

a current liability in the balance sheet, since it does not have an 
unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the 

  Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of 

3.15 Income Taxes

income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities in accordance with the Income-tax Act, 1961 

the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, 

recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in 

the impact of current year timing differences between taxable 
income and accounting income for the year and reversal of timing 

  Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and the tax laws 

income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities relate to the taxes on income levied by same governing 

for deductible timing differences only to the extent that there is 

In situations where the company has unabsorbed depreciation or 
carry forward tax losses , all deferred tax assets are recognized 
only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence 

situations where the company has carry forward tax losses on 
account of long term capital losses (which can be set-off only 

deferred tax assets arising on such losses are recognized only if 
there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that 

  At each balance sheet date the Company re-assesses unrecognised 

assets to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or 

income will be available against which such deferred tax assets 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer 
reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, 

is reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably certain or 

  Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a 
legally enforceable right exists to set-off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
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  Employees (including senior executives) of the company receive 
remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, 
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 

  In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of 

Payments, the cost of equity-settled transactions is measured 

recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting 

for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognized as at the beginning and end of that period and is 

3.17 Segment Reporting Policies

separately according to the services provided with each segment 
representing a strategic business unit that offers different services 

segment is based on the areas in which major operating divisions 

  The Group prepares its segment information in conformity with 
the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the 

3.18 Earnings per Share

or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders (after 
deducting preference dividends and related attributable taxes) 
by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net 

the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 

3.19 Provisions
  A provision is recognised when an enterprise has a present 

of resources will be required to settle the obligation, in respect 

discounted to its present value and are determined based on best 
estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet 

3.20 Contingent liabilities.
  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not 

also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that 

Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses 

3.21 Cash and Cash equivalents

statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
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4 SHARE CAPITAL `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 Authorised
 Equity share capital
 100,000,000 (March 31, 2014: 100,000,000) equity shares of ` 10/- each  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000
 Preference share capital
 1,200,000 (March 31, 2014: 1,200,000) preference shares of ` 10/- each  12,000,000  12,000,000

 1,012,000,000  1,012,000,000
 Issued, subscribed and fully paid up shares
 Equity shares
 70,492,745 (March 31, 2014: 70,150,550) equity shares of ` 10/- each fully paid  704,927,450  701,505,500
 Total issued, subscribed and paid up share capital 704,927,450  701,505,500

a) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number ` Number `

 Equity Shares
 Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year  70,150,550  701,505,500  69,503,422  695,034,220

 Shares issued during the year - ESOP exercised  342,195  3,421,950
 -  -  245,740  2,457,400

 Shares outstanding at the end of the year  70,492,745  704,927,450  70,150,550  701,505,500

Particulars As at (No of Shares)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

 Equity Shares
 Equity Shares allotted as fully paid up bonus shares  62,293,935  62,293,935

reporting date on exercise of option granted under the employee stock option plan (ESOP) wherein part consideration was received in the form 
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c) Disclosure of Shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital of the Company in aggregate

Equity share capital

Name of Shareholder March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

No of 
Shares held

% of  
Holding

No of 
Shares held

% of  
Holding

 19,193,175  19,774,011

Saif II Mauritius Company Limited
Tiger Global Four JD Holdings
Tiger Global Five Indian Holdings  3,043,570

As per records of the company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received from shareholders regarding 

d) Shares reserved for issue under options
 For details of shares reserved for issue under the employee stock option (ESOP) plan of the company (Refer note 34)

e) Terms, Rights and restrictions attached to equity shares
 Voting Rights
 Each holder of equity shares having a par value of ` 

 Rights as to Dividend
  The equity shareholders have right to receive dividend when declared by the Board of Directors subject to approval in the ensuing Annual 

 Rights pertaining to repayment of capital
  In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after 
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5. RESERVES AND SURPLUS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Capital reserve on consolidation
 -  -

Add: Arising on acquistion of Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United States of America  -
 815,090  -

Securities premium account

Add: shares issued against ESOPs exercised  45,011,470
Add: transferred from stock options outstanding  5,243,310
Less: utilised for bonus shares issued on exercise of ESOPs (Refer note I of note 4(a))  -  (2,457,400)
Closing balance  2,511,449,441  2,485,784,816
General reserve

 -

Closing balance  259,498,148  120,608,016

 -  11,521,952
Add : gross compensation for options granted during the year  5,392,522
Add/(Less) : gross compensation for options granted during the year  161,124,157  (712,752)
Less: reversal of stock compensation cost on account of option lapse
Less: transferred to securities premium on exercise of stock options  (5,243,310)
Closing balance  151,868,351  5,392,522
Foreign currency translation reserve

 -  -
Add:Translation reserve ( as on 1st October 2014)  -
Add:Foreign exchange difference on account of translation

 68,253  -

 (140,301,100)

Less: transferred to general reserve
Less: utilised for bonus shares issued on conversion of Preference Shares (Refer note I of 
note 4(a))

 -  -

 (6,111,034)  -
Less : Deemed Dividend  -

 3,104,936,235  2,031,208,334
Total Reserves and Surplus  6,028,635,518  4,642,993,688
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6. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Deferred tax liabilities

 24,159,131

Gross deferred tax liabilities  24,159,131  41,720,180
Deferred tax assets

 
allowed for tax purposes in following years
Effect of lease accounting  15,595,945
Effect of preliminary expenses
Effect of deferred tax assets arising on acquistion of Just Dial Inc, Delaware,  
United States of America

 -

Effect of deferred tax assets arising on long term capital loss  11,240,679  -
Total  61,330,109  23,558,345
Less: Effect of deferred tax assets arising on acquistion of Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United 
States of America

 -

Less: Effect of deferred tax assets arising on long term capital loss not recognised in 
absence of virtual certainity

 (11,240,679)  -

Gross deferred tax assets  47,715,048  23,558,345
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities/(assets)  (23,555,917)  18,161,835

7. OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Provision for lease obligation  39,972,416  31,279,734
Total Other Long Term Liabilities  39,972,416  31,279,734

8. LONG TERM PROVISIONS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Provision for gratuity (Refer note 33)  1,310,779 -
Total Long Term Provisions  1,310,779 -

9. TRADE PAYABLES `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

(a) Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small enterprises (Refer note 30)  -  -
(b) Total outstanding dues of trade payables other than Micro and Small enterprises  136,903,265
Total Trade Payables  136,903,265  92,454,385
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10. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Unearned revenue  2,102,291,502
Other payables
Salary and reimbursements payable  314,266,257
Other statutory dues (employee related liabilities)  44,662,157

Investor Education and Protection Fund will be credited by following amounts 
(as and when due)
Share application money refundable  752,461  1,217,436
Unclaimed dividend  -
Share issue expenses payable
Service tax payable  -  464,106
Tax deducted at source payable  50,592,699
Deposit from franchisees  146,032  196,032
Provision for lease obligation  5,911,505  6,479,516
Total Other Current Liabilities  2,531,839,059  1,979,136,959

11. SHORT TERM PROVISIONS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Provision for compensated absences  20,004,142
Proposed equity dividend (Refer note 35)  140,301,100
Provision for tax on proposed equity dividend
Total Short Term Provisions  201,688,056  184,149,414
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13. INVESTMENTS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Non Current Investments
Others (At cost, Other than Trade, Quoted)
Investments in tax free bonds (valued at cost unless stated otherwise)  -

 -  1,547,080,000

Name of body Corporates Maturity 
Date

No. of bonds Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Limited - Tax Free Bonds of ` 1,000 each
June 22, 2029  -  150,000  -  150,000,000

` 5,000 each
June 13, 2034  -  79,416  -

Free Bonds of ` 1,000 each
February 5, 
2029

 -  1,000,000  -  1,000,000,000

Aggregate value of quoted investment  -  1,229,416  -

Current Investments (valued at lower of cost and fair value) (other than trade unquoted) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Investments in tax free bonds (valued at cost unless stated otherwise)  225,440,000  -
Current investments in mutual funds  4,709,922,209

 7,721,723,614  4,709,922,209

Investment in Tax Free Bonds

Name of body Corporates Maturity 
Date

No. of units Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Bonds of ` 1,000,000 each
August 30, 

 100  -  111,050,000  -

Limited (IIFCL)- Tax Free Bonds of ` 1,000 each
June 22, 2034  100,000  -  114,390,000  -

Aggregate value of quoted investment  100,100  -  225,440,000  -
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Name of scheme Maturity 
Date

No. of bonds Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

 -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

Days) Gr. Direct
February 23, 
2017

 11,172,129  11,172,129  111,721,290  111,721,290

Days) Gr. Direct
March 2, 2017  11,000,000  11,000,000  110,000,000  110,000,000

HDFC FMP 371D February 2014 (2) Series 29 - 
Direct - Growth

May 2, 2017  10,919,216  109,192,160

(17Months) Growth
July 14, 2014  -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

days) - Direct Plan Growth
February 23, 
2015

 -  11,000,000  -  110,000,000

Direct Plan - Growth Option
April 27, 2017  9,141,437  17,234,632  91,414,366  172,346,317

ICICI Prudential FMP series 63 - 3 years plan M 
Cumulative

August 3, 2015  20,000,000  20,000,000  200,000,000  200,000,000

ICICI Prudential FMP series 66-420 days plan A 
Regular Plan Cumulative

April 2, 2014  -  10,000,000  -  100,000,000

JP Morgan India Income Fund Series 301 - 
Growth (Refer note b)

July 29, 2015  50,000,010  50,000,010  500,000,100  500,000,100

L&T FMP – VII (July1189D A) Di-
rect Plan - Growth

May 30, 2016  5,000,000  5,000,000  50,000,000  50,000,000

ICICI Prudential FMP Series 68-
369 Days Plan I -Direct Plan -Cumulative

August 2, 2016  12,500,000  12,500,000  125,000,000  125,000,000

August 4, 2016  10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000
Religare Invesco FMP - Series XIX - Plan C (367 
days) - Direct Plan Growth

August 1, 2016  15,000,000  15,000,000  150,000,000  150,000,000

ICICI Prudential FMP Series 68- August 23, 
2016

 21,930,025  21,930,025  219,300,250  219,300,250

Birla Sunlife Interval Income fund Annual plan 
Series IX- Dir Growth

August 3, 2015  20,000,000  20,000,000  200,000,000  200,000,000

L&T FMP Series 8 - Plan G - Direct Growth October 3, 2016  9,026,330  22,000,000  220,000,000
HDFC FMP 1143D July 2013 (1) Series 27 - Reg-
ular - Growth

September 24, 
2016

 10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

Growth
April 22, 2015  15,000,000  -  150,000,000  -

March 20, 2017  10,000,000  -  100,000,000  -

days) - Direct Growth Plan
June 29, 2015  10,000,000  -  100,000,000  -

Direct Plan Growth Plan ( XI-AG)
April 7, 2015  11,500,000  -  115,000,000  -

Growth
September 5, 
2017

 14,000,000  -  140,000,000  -

SBI Debt Fund Series - A 26 - 682 Days - Direct 
- Growth

April 6, 2016  15,000,000  -  150,000,000  -
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Name of scheme Maturity 
Date

No. of bonds Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

ICICI Prudential FMP Series 69-
433 Days Plan E -Direct Plan -Cumulative

October 20, 
2016

 7,500,000  7,500,000  75,000,000  75,000,000

August 22, 
2016

 10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

Kotak FMP series 112 Direct - Growth August 29, 
2016

 10,000,000  10,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000

Total - (A)  318,689,147  310,395,143  3,186,891,464  3,103,951,427

Name of scheme No. of units Amount (`)

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Birla Sun life Dynamic bond- Retail - Growth - Regular Plan  -  -  173,991,293
HDFC Short term plan - Growth  -  2,963,552  -
Birla Sun Life Income Plus - Growth-Regular Plan  3,259,221  3,259,221  179,936,053  176,096,704
ICICI Prudential Short Term - Regular Plan - Growth Option  60,000,000  60,000,000
Reliance Short Term Fund - Growth Plan Growth Option  -  6,609,076  -
DWS premier bond fund - Regular Plan Growth  100,000,000  100,000,000
UTI Short term Income Fund -Institutional Option- Growth  7,947,451  7,947,451  111,107,759  111,107,759
Reliance Dynamic bond fund -growth plan  -  7,634,529  -  121,010,005
ICICI Prudential Income - Regular Plan - Growth  3,523,392  3,523,392  130,000,000  130,000,000
ICICI Prudential Gilt Fund Investment Regular Plan Growth  100,000,000  100,000,000
ICICI Prudential Liquid Fund - Regular Growth  -  100,914  -
ICICI Prudential Gilt Fund Investment Plan PF Option - Regular 
Plan - Growth

 -  -

IDFC Banking Debt Fund - Regular Plan- Growth  200,000,000  200,000,000
 170,706  170,706  200,000,000  200,000,000

HDFC Short Term Opportunities Fund - Growth  14,123,197  -  200,000,000  -
Birla Sun Life Short Term Fund -Growth-Regular Plan  -  200,000,000  -
Birla Sunlife Cash Plus - Growth - Regular Plan  1,013,473  -  226,771,635  -
HDFC Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth Option  -  -  -  -
HDFC Liquid Fund - Growth  -  -  -  -
Reliance Yearly Interval Fund - Series 9-Direct Plan Growth Plan  -  140,000,000  -
HDFC Banking and PSU Debt Fund - Regular Plan - Growth Option  -  -
HDFC Gilt Fund Long term Growth  7,056,167  -  200,000,000  -
HDFC Cash Management Fund - Savings Plan - Growth  -  1,000,000,000  -
Reliance Liquid Fund - Treasury Plan-Growth Plan - Growth Option  -  -  -  -
Reliance Money Manager Fund- Direct Growth Plan  -  500,233,752  -
Birla Sun Life Floating Rate Short Term Plan- Growth Regular plan  1,450,235  -  270,000,000  -
Total - (B)  152,444,234  69,531,338  4,309,392,150  1,605,970,782
Aggregate value of unquoted investment (C= A+B)  471,133,381  379,926,481  7,496,283,614  4,709,922,209

Note:

date by the mutual fund is ` ` 5,010,447,277)
` 250,000,000 availed 

by the Company from HDFC Bank utilization till March 31, 2015: ` ` 
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14. LONG TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (UNSECURED, CONSIDERED GOOD) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 140,509,263
Security deposits
Security deposits to related parties  -
Prepaid expenses  1,937,425
  Advance taxes (net of provision for taxation ` 1,756,573,447 (March 31, 2014: ` 

 64,317,609

 Income tax refund receivable  15,376,112  14,914,317
Total Long Term Loans and Advances  371,156,042  327,455,849
Loans and advances due by directors, relatives of directors and related parties:
Security deposits include:
From Key Management Personnel  -  925,000
From Relatives of Key Management Personnel  -  925,000

15. OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 12 months  601,291  555,441
Total Other non current assets  601,291 555441

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (UNSECURED, CONSIDERED GOOD) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for payment  -
Other trade receivables  -  -
Total Trade Receivables  837,840  -

`

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand  6,309,920  5,940,727
Cheques/drafts on hand
Balance with Bank
- on current accounts  410,501,016  290,920,700
- in unpaid dividend account*  -
- in public issue refund account**  752,461  1,217,436
Total Cash and cash equivalents  421,561,290  299,525,001

Bank deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months but less than 12 months 
(Held as guarantee ` ` 65,011,197))

 -  69,514,104

 421,561,290  369,039,105
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18. SHORT TERM LOANS AND ADVANCES (UNSECURED, CONSIDERED GOOD) `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received  11,170,175
Security deposits  46,230,115
Security deposits to related parties  -
Other loans and advances
 Service tax input credit
 Prepaid gratuity (Refer note 33)  -
 Prepaid expenses  67,501,522  59,616,665
 Advance to vendors  46,216,620  3,335,417
Total Short Term Loans and Advances  177,709,325  135,960,170
Loans and advances due by directors, relatives of directors and related parties:
Advances recoverable in cash or kind or for value to be received include:
Advances given to Key Management Personnel  700,000  -
Security deposits include:
From Key Management Personnel  925,000  -
From Relatives of Key Management Personnel  925,000  -

19. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS `

As at  
March 31, 2015

As at  
March 31, 2014

 31,193
Interest accrued but not due on tax free bonds  6,597,203
Amount due from related parties  -  309,440
Total Other Current Assets  6,631,012  20,330,500

Personnel or their relatives:
Just Dial Global Private Limited  -  309,440

20. REVENUE FROM SALE OF SEARCH AND OTHER RELATED SERVICES `

 For the year ended 
March 31 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Sale of search related services
Other operating revenue  21,395,207
Total Revenue  5,897,978,567  4,612,926,885
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21. OTHER INCOME `

 For the year ended 
March 31 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Interest income on
 Bank deposits

 30,477,344
 Income tax refund  -  2,275,065

 Current investments (net)*  162,259,271
 -

Other non-operating income
 Service charges  1,295,554
 Miscellaneous income  6,390,459  3,413,005
Total Other Income  488,874,796  399,487,992

` 217,735 (March 31, 2014: ` 

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE `

 For the year ended 
March 31 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Salaries, wages and bonus  2,164,619,044
Contribution to provident fund and other funds  55,332,067
Employee stock option plan (ESOP)  152,531,704  2,220,664
Gratuity expenses (Refer note 33)  42,640,741  13,421,919
Staff welfare expenses  62,067,031  51,407,000

 3,087,718,442  2,287,000,694
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23. OTHER EXPENSES `

 For the year ended 
March 31 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Collection charges  23,613,690  23,099,702
Transportation expenses  920,416
Power and fuel
Rent  226,330,341  176,637,530
Rates and taxes  4,226,947
Insurance  1,060,940
Repairs and maintenance
 -  Plant and machinery  17,169,974
 -  Building  -  251,462
 -  Others
Advertising and sales promotion  141,554,250

 3,101,954
Travelling and conveyance
Communication costs  167,399,994
Internet and server charges  130,105,360  66,114,443
Printing and stationery  13,655,254
Legal and professional fees  15,523,436  390,000
Directors sitting fees  730,000

 2,057,629
Payment to auditor  2,956,941
Recruitment expenses  5,656,037
Data base and content charges  70,342,633
Sundry balance written off  911,457
Bad debts written off  -  5,146,935

 19,469,551
Exchange difference (net)  135,273  1,324,676
Hire charges  3,610,237  2,101,034
Corporate social responsibilities expenditure
Donation  1,113,000  461,500
Loss on discarding/sale of assets (net)  3,321,961
Miscellaneous expenses
Total Other Expenses  1,153,666,563  903,943,996
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) `

 For the year ended 
March 31 2015

For the year ended 
March 31, 2014

Basic

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS  69,994,062
Earning per share  19.75  17.23
Diluted

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS  69,994,062
Equity shares arising on grant of stock options under ESOP  496,746
Total no of shares outstanding (weighted average) (including dilution)
Earning per share 19.61 17.11

25. RELATED PARTIES
 25.1 Names of related parties and related party relationship

Key Management Personnel

Relatives of Key Management Personnel
Just Dial Global Private Limited

 25.2 Transactions with related parties.
`

Sr.  
No.

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

1
A Remuneration

15,111,263 11,212,047
-

15,956,644 10,260,639
4,515,075

63,427,238 40,635,712
B Lease Rent

2,910,465
2
A Lease Rent

Mrs Anita Mani 2,910,465
3
A Just Dial Global Private Limited

Service charges (other income) 971,000
Purchase of Investment in Just Dial Inc, Delaware, United States of America 4,467,964 -



156

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Where search begins...

`

Sr.  
No.

Balance outstanding at the year end March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

1
A Remuneration Payable

2,029,020 501,551
1,115,702

Mr, Ramani Iyer -

154,661
6,888,843 2,580,798

B Advances given
700,000 -

C Security Deposit given
9,25,000 9,25,000

2
A Security Deposit given

 Mrs Anita Mani 9,25,000 9,25,000
3

their relatives
A Receivable from Just Dial Global Private Limited towards service charges - 3,09,440

26. LEASES
 Operating Lease

 Details of lease payments during the year ended and future commitments on non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

`

Particulars Operating Lease

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Lease payments for the year 224,020,315 176,637,530
Minimum Lease Payments

401,642,730
63,996,059 41,376,279
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27. PENDING LITIGATIONS
 A) Contingent Liabilities not provided for

 `

 Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

10,732,543 3,744,056
Income Tax Demands(Refer note 1):

2,934,950

Tax Deducted at Source (TDS) Demands(Refer note 1):
- 146,193

 Notes:
 1)  The Company is contesting the income tax demands and the management; believe that its position will likely be upheld in the appel-

 B) Provision for other statutory liability
 1)  At March 31, 2015, provision for contribution to Employee State Insurance Corporation aggregates ` 

` 

` 199,240 (March 31, 2014: ` 1,224,593) was recorded as provision against 

28. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
`

 Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

(a)  Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not 
provided for

372,223,579 411,053,711

(b) Other Commitments 70,000,000 -

  (c) For commitments related to acquisition of Bangalore land (refer note 36)

  (d) For commitments relating to lease arrangements (refer note 26)
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29. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

 Particulars Construction/acquisition 
of any asset (i)

On purpose 
other than (i)

Total

Gross amount required to be spent - - 22,319,104
Spent during the year in cash towards educational purposes -
Balance unspent during the year - -

  Of the above, total spent of ` ` ` 

30. DETAILS OF DUES TO MICRO AND SMALL ENTERPRISES AS PER MSMED ACT, 2006.
  The Company does not have suppliers who are registered as micro or small enterprise under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 

31. SEGMENT DISCLOSURE
 Geographical segment

consolidated segment assets and addition to consolidated segment assets by geographical segments in which assets are utilized:

Segment revenue 

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India
Outside India -
Total 5,897,978,567

  The following tables show the carrying amount of segment assets and addition to segment assets by geographical segments in which 
assets are utilized

 Segment assets

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India 9,641,136,036
Outside India 4,140,507
Total 9,645,276,543

 Segment liabilities

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India 2,909,945,010
Outside India
Total 2,911,713,573



159Just Dial Limited | Annual Report 2014-15

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2015

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | Financial Statements...and ends.

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India
Outside India -
Total 648,059,746

 Depreciation and amortization

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India
Outside India -
Total 240,999,298

 Non cash expenses

 Particulars March 31, 2015

India 152,531,704
Outside India -
Total  152,531,704

 

  The details of the ESOP scheme are as follows:

Particulars Pool Date of 
grant

Date of Board/ 
Shareholders 
Approval

Number 
of options 
granted

Vesting 
period

Vesting Conditions

ESOP Scheme Pool 2 31-Jan-09 19-Jan-09 11,170

the grant subject to continuance of 
services

ESOP Scheme 
2010

Pool 5 30-Apr-10 24-Apr-10 25% vests every year from the grant 
date subject to continuance of 
services

Pool 6 27-Jul-10 27-Jul-10 640,727

the grant subject to continuance of 
services

Pool 6 31-Oct-10 20-Oct-10 155,176
Pool 6 1-Dec-10 1-Dec-10
Pool 6 25-Mar-11 25-Mar-11 10,311
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Particulars Pool Date of 
grant

Date of Board/ 
Shareholders 
Approval

Number 
of options 
granted

Vesting 
period

Vesting Conditions

ESOP Scheme 
2013

Pool I 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 67,750 4 years

the grant subject to continuance of 
services

Pool II 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 5 years

the date of the grant subject to 
continuance of services

Pool III 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 2 years from the date of the grant 
subject to continuance of services

Pool IV 31-July-14 30-Sep-13 235,045

from the date of the grant subject 
to continuance of services

ESOP Scheme 
2014

Pool I 31-Oct -14 24-Sep-14 7 years

from the date of the grant subject 
to continuance of services

Pool I 31-Dec -14 24-Sep-14 31,313

Pool II 31- Oct-14 24-Sep-14 5 years

the date of the grant subject to 
continuance of services

Pool II 31-Dec -14 24-Sep-14

Pool III 31-Oct-14 24-Sep-14 10,000 4 years

the grant subject to continuance of 
services

 Particulars
March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - 4,595

Exercised during the year - - 4,595

Outstanding at the end of the year - - - -

Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -

Weighted average remaining contractual 
life (in years)

- - - -

Weighted average fair value of options 
granted on the date of grant
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  b) The details of activity under Pool 5 of ESOP Scheme 2010 have been summarised as below:

 Particulars
March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 17,934
Forfeited during the year - -
Exercised during the year (17,934)
Outstanding at the end of the year - - 17,934
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -
Weighted average remaining contractual life  
(in years)

6 - 7 -

Weighted average fair value of options granted 
on the date of grant

37 37

  c) The details of activity under Pool 6 of ESOP Scheme 2010 have been summarised below:

 Particulars
March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Number of 
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 67 734,737 70
Forfeited during the year (4,260)
Exercised during the year (324,261) 67 (369,041) 71
Outstanding at the end of the year 5,301 67
Exercisable at the end of the year 5,301 11,722
Weighted average remaining contractual life  
(in years)

7 -

Weighted average fair value of options on the 
date of grant

44 44

  d) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2013 with an exercise price of ` 

 Particulars
Pool I Pool II Pool III Pool IV

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

Outstanding at the beginning 
of the year

- - - - - - - -

Granted During the year 67,750 - - - 235,045 -
Forfeited during the year (2,000) - - - (1,100) - - -
Exercised During the year - - - - - - - -
Outstanding at the end of 
the year

65,750 - - 16,724 - 235,045 -

Exercisable at the end of  
the year

- - - - - - - -

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (in years)

9 - 10 - - 11 -

Weighted average fair value of 
options on the date of grant

1,552 1,557 1,542 1,566
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  e) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2014 (October 14) with an exercise price of ` 

 Particulars
Pool I Pool II Pool III

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - - - -
Granted During the year - - 10,000 -
Forfeited during the year - - - - - -
Exercised During the year - - - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year - - 10,000 -
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - - - -
Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 12 - 10 - 10 -
Weighted average fair value of options on the date of 
grant

1,595

 f) The details of activity under ESOP Scheme 2014 (December 14) with an exercise price of ` 

 Particulars
Pool I Pool II

Number of 
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (`)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (`)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - - -
Granted During the year 31,313 - -
Forfeited during the year (990) - (2,234) -
Exercised During the year - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 30,323 - -
Exercisable at the end of the year - - - -
Weighted average remaining contractual life  
(in years)

12 - 10 -

Weighted average fair value of options on the 
date of grant

1,221 1,213

  Notes:

`

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Total employee compensation cost pertaining to share based payment plans (all 
equity settled) for the year

152,531,704 2,220,664

Employee compensation cost transferred to Securities premium during the year (5,243,310)
Liability for employee stock option outstanding as at year End 5,392,522
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India, the proforma disclosures of the impact of the fair value method of accounting of employee stock compensation accounting 

 `

March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Add: Employee stock compensation under intrinsic value method 152,531,704 2,220,664
Less: Employee stock compensation under fair value method (6,152,234)

1,392,773,235
Earnings Per Share
Basic
 -  As reported
 -  Pro forma
Diluted
 -  As reported
 -  Pro forma

   The Black Scholes valuation model has been used for computing the fair value considering the following inputs:

  ESOP Scheme 2013

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III Pool IV

Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk free interest rate (%)
Spot price (`)
Exercise Price (`)
Expected life of options granted in the year 4 5 2 7
Fair value (`)

  ESOP Scheme 2014: Options granted in October 2014

Particulars Pool I Pool II Pool III
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk free interest rate (%)
Spot price (`)
Exercise Price (`)
Expected life of options granted in the year 7 5 4
Fair value (`)
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  ESOP Scheme 2014: Options granted in December 2014

Particulars Pool I Pool II
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk free interest rate (%)
Spot price (`)
Exercise Price (`)
Expected life of options granted in the year 7 5
Fair value (`)

` 

33. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

`

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Current service cost
6,496,641 4,640,114

Expected return on plan assets (6,363,737)
20,621,191 2,247,447
42,640,741 13,421,919

Actual Return on Plan Assets 5,254,670

 Balance Sheet
Details of Provision for Gratuity `

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Fair value of plan assets 110,313,032
Plan asset/ (liability) (1,310,779) 2,421,899

 `

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

53,499,976
Interest cost 6,496,641 4,640,114
Current service cost

Actuarial losses on obligation 19,512,124
111,623,811 68,286,290
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:  `

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Opening fair value of plan assets 54,325,523
Expected return 63,63,737
Contributions by employer

Less: Actuarial gains/(losses) (11,09,067) (260,490)
Closing fair value of plan assets 110,313,032 70,708,189

The Company expects to contribute approximately an additional ` 22,313,213 (March 31, 2014: ` 10,000,000) to gratuity fund in the next 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

(%)

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Investments with insurer 100 100

  The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date, applicable to the year over 

(%)

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Discount Rate
Salary Escalation 7 7
Expected Return on Assets 9 9
Withdrawal Rate 0 to 57 

depending on age 
and designation

0 to 57 
depending on age 

and designation

 Experience adjustments:
 Amounts for the current period and previous four years are as follows:

 `

Particulars March 31, 
2015

March 31, 
2014

March 31, 
2013

March 31, 
2012

March 31, 
2011

53,499,976 20,492,936
Plan assets 110,313,032 54,325,523 41,006,515 29,096,736

(1,310,779) 2,421,899 825,547 2,418,881 8,603,800
Experience adjustment on plan liabilities 5,407,432 4,130,605 1,649,676
Experience adjustment on plan assets (1,109,067) (260,490) 150,500 291,575 -
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34. EXPENDITURE IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (ACCRUAL BASIS)
`

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

Travelling and conveyance 1,937,005 1,043,963
Internet and server charges 29,961,494
Advertising and sales promotion 5,512,726 6,047,206
Data base and content charges 1,751,964

38,880,069 10,691,387

35. PROPOSED DIVIDEND

`

Particulars March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014

On Equity Shares of ` 10 each
Amount of dividend proposed 140,310,100
Dividend per Equity Share 2 2

36. ACQUISITION OF BANGALORE LAND

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Company obtained the possession of 15 acres of leasehold land for 99 years from Karnataka 
Industrial Area Development Board (KIADB) to establish an IT/ITES BPO and Software development Centre at IT/ITES Park, Devanahalli 
Industrial Area in Bangalore and paid total consideration of ` 375,007,500

Further, the Company is required to comply with various conditions for the above project including time limit for beginning and completion 

37. ACQUISITION OF JUST DIAL INC. DELAWARE, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

` 

necessary administrative support services for making available infrastructure, bill collection, database procurement and advertising 
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Assets and liabilities of Just Dial Inc consolidated in Group

Particulars `

Equity and Liabilities
Shareholders' funds
Current - liabilities
Total  6,634,436
Assets

 634,106
Current assets  6,000,330
Total  6,634,436

 62,329,74
 (946,171)

 Disclosure as per Schedule III of the Companies Act 2013

Companies Act 2013

Particulars Net Assets, i.e total assets  
minus total liabilities

As % of 
consolidated  

net assets

Amount As a % of  
 

(loss)

Amount

Parent
Just Dial Limited
Foreign Subsidiary

397,910
Total 100.00% 6,733,562,968 1,388,415,885

38. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO MARCH 31, 2015
 a)  Subsequent to the year end on May 27, 2015 the compensation committee granted 117,660 options to employees under ESOP 

 
` 

39.

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of the board of directors of 
For Just Dial Limited
ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W
Chartered Accountants Ramani Iyer

Whole Time Director
per Govind Ahuja
Partner

 Ramkumar Krishnamachari Sachin Jain
Place : Mumbai Company Secretary
Date : May 29, 2015
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Notice

NOTICE is hereby given that the 21st Annual General Meeting of 
the Members of Just Dial Limited (the “Company”) will be held on 
Wednesday, September 30, 2015 at 3.30 p.m. at West Banquet Hall, 
Goregaon Sports Club, Link Road, Malad West, Mumbai – 400 064 to 
transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

statements together with the reports of the Board of Directors 

2.  To declare dividend on equity shares of the Company having a 
face value of ` 10/- each (the “Equity Shares”) for the Financial 
Year ended March 31, 2015.

3.  To appoint a director in place of Mr. V. Krishnan (DIN 00034473), 
who retires by rotation at this Annual General Meeting and, being 
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

4.  To ratify the appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, 

pass the following resolution as an ORDINARY RESOLUTION:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of section 139 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, the Company 

M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates 
LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 101049W), 

conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of the 22nd Annual 
General Meeting, at such remuneration as may be mutually agreed 
upon between M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered 
Accountants and the Board of Directors of the Company”

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

a Special Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 14 and all 
other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (statutory 

and rules made thereunder, the new draft Articles of Association as 
placed before the members be and is hereby approved and adopted in 
substitution, and to the entire exclusion of the regulations contained 
in the existing Articles of Association of the Company.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors of the 
Company be and are hereby authorised to take all necessary steps 

registrations, if any, under the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to 
the aforesaid amendment to the Articles of Association.”

Special Resolution:

  “RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 186 and 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 

or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force, the consents 
of the shareholders of the Company be and are hereby accorded 
to the Board (“Board” which term shall be deemed to include any 
committee which the Board may have constituted or may hereinafter 
constitute to exercise its powers including the powers conferred on 
the Board by this resolution) of the Company to acquire/invest by 
way of subscription, purchase or otherwise, the securities of any 
other body corporate, which together with loan already given, 
guarantee or security already provided and investment made by way 
of subscription, purchase or otherwise of securities of other body 
corporate exceeding sixty percent of its paid-up share capital, free 
reserves and securities premium account or one hundred percent of 
its free reserves and securities premium account, whichever is more, 
provided that the aforesaid limit at any one time shall not exceed  
` 2,000 Crores (Rupees Two Thousand Crores Only).

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is hereby 
authorized to take from time to time all decisions and steps 
necessary, expedient or proper, in respect of the above mentioned 
transactions including the timing, the amount and other terms 
and conditions of such transactions and also to take all other 
decisions including varying any of them, through transfer or sale, 
divestment or otherwise, either in part or in full, as it may, in 

limits for effecting the aforesaid transaction.

  RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to 

settle and execute such documents / deeds / writings / papers 
/ agreements as may be required and do all such other acts, 
deeds, matters and things, as it may in its absolute discretion 
deem necessary, expedient, proper or desirable and to settle any 

By Order of the Board of Directors

Place: Mumbai Sachin Jain
Date: August 25, 2015 Company Secretary

 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court,
Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex, 
New Link Road, Malad (West), Mumbai – 400064.
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NOTES:
1.  An Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 relating to the Special Business with respect 
to Item Nos. 5 to 6 of the Notice, to be transacted at the Annual 
General Meeting is annexed hereto and form part of the Notice.

2.  A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT THE MEETING 
IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT ONE OR MORE PROXIES TO ATTEND 
AND VOTE, INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/HERSELF AND THE PROXY 
NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY. A PROXY FORM 
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING IS ENCLOSED.

3.  THE INSTRUMENT OF PROXY IN ORDER TO BE VALID MUST 
BE RECEIVED BY THE COMPANY NOT LESS THAN 48 HOURS 
BEFORE THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE MEETING. A PROXY 
SO APPOINTED SHALL NOT HAVE ANY RIGHT TO SPEAK AT 
THE MEETING.

4.  Proxies submitted on behalf of limited companies, societies, 
etc., must be supported by appropriate resolutions/authority, as 
applicable. A person can act as proxy on behalf of members not 

10% of the total share capital of the Company. In case a proxy is 
proposed to be appointed by a member holding 10% of the total 
share capital of the Company carrying voting rights, then such 
proxy shall not act as a proxy for any other person or shareholder.

5.  All documents referred to in the Notice along with Annual Report 
are available for inspection by the members at the Registered 

Sundays and other public holidays between 11.00 a.m. to 1.00 
p.m. up to the date of Annual General Meeting.

6.  Members of the Company, holding shares either in physical form 
or dematerialized form, as on the record date i.e. August 21, 
2015 will receive the Annual Report.

7.  In terms of the Articles of Association of the Company read with 
Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. V. Krishnan (DIN 
00034473), Whole-time Director, is liable to retire by rotation 
at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible, 
offers himself for re-appointment. The Board of Directors of the 
Company recommends his appointment/re-appointment. The 
details of the Directors, who are to be appointed /re-appointed as 
required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, are enclosed 
herewith in ‘Annexure A’.

8.  Members/proxies should bring the enclosed attendance slip, duly 

dematerialized form are requested to write their DP ID and Client 
ID number(s) and those who hold shares in physical form are 
requested to write their folio number(s) in the attendance slip for 

at the Meeting.

9.  Members are requested to bring their copies of the Annual Report 
for the Meeting.

10.  In case of joint holder attending the meeting, only such joint 
holder who is higher in the order of names will be entitled to vote.

11.  Pursuant to the provisions of section 91 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and clause 16 of the Equity Listing Agreement, the Register 
of Members and Share Transfer Book of the Company will remain 
closed from Monday, September 14, 2015, to Friday, September 
18, 2015 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of entitlement 
of dividend, if declared at the Annual General Meeting for the 

12.  The dividend on Equity Shares as recommended by the Board of 

the Meeting, will be payable to those members who hold shares:

details to be received from National Securities Depository 
Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited (CDSL) as at the close of business hours on Friday, 
September 11, 2015.

 b)  In Physical Form, if their names appear in the Company’s 
Register of Members after giving effect to valid transfers in 
physical form lodged with the Company and its registrar and 
Transfer Agent before the close of business hours on Friday, 
September 11, 2015.

13.  Members holding shares in electronic form may note that 
bank particulars registered against their respective depository 
accounts will be used by the Company for payment of dividend. 
The Company and its Registrar and Transfer Agent, Karvy 
Computershare Private Limited (“Karvy”) cannot act on any 
request received directly from the members holding shares 
in electronic form for any change of bank particulars or bank 
mandates. Such changes are to be advised only to the Depository 
Participants by the members.

14.  Members are requested to send all share transfer lodgments 
(Physical mode) upto the record date and address all 
correspondence to the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent of 
the Company, Karvy Computershare Private Limited, Karvy 
Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli Financial District, 
Nanakramguda Hyderabad – 500032, in respect of changes, 
if any, in their respective email addresses and postal addresses 
along with PIN Code at an early date. Members are requested to 
quote folio numbers in all their correspondence and consolidate 
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holding into one folio in case of multiplicity of folios with names 
in identical order.

15.  Non-resident members are requested to inform the Company at 

 a)  The change in the residential status on return to India for 
permanent settlement.

 b)  The particulars of NRE Bank Account maintained in India with 
complete name and address of bank if not furnished earlier.

of their board resolution, authorizing their representative to 
attend and vote, on their behalf, at the Annual General Meeting, 
pursuant to Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013.

17.  Members desirous of asking any questions at the 21st Annual 
General Meeting are requested to send in their questions so as to 

to the date of the 21st Annual General Meeting, so that the same 
can be suitably replied to.

18.  The Company does not have any amount, which is required to 
be transferred, in terms of Section 124 of the Companies Act, 
2013, to Investor Education and Protection Fund of the Central 
Government, during the current Financial Year.

19.  Members holding shares in single name and physical form are 
advised to make the nomination in respect of their shareholding 
in the Company. The nomination form can be downloaded from 
the Company’s website www.justdial.com under the section 
Investor Relations.

that the Company’s Employees Stock Option Schemes are being 
implemented in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board 

in accordance with the resolutions passed by the members of the 
Company and requisite Statutory Registers will be available for 
inspection by the Members at the Annual General Meeting.

21.  Members seeking any information relating to the Audited 

investors@justdial.com at least seven days 
before the date of the Meeting as to enable the Company to keep 
the information ready.

22.  Electronic copy of the Notice of the 21st Annual General Meeting 
of the Company inter alia indicating the process and manner of 
e-voting along with Attendance Slip and Proxy Form is being 

sent to all the members whose e-mail IDs are registered with the 
Company/Depository Participants(s) for communication purposes 
unless any member has requested for a hard copy of the same. 
The members who have not registered their email address, so 
far are required to register their email address for receiving all 
communication including Annual Report, notices circular etc, from 
the Company electronically. The physical copies of the Notice of the 
21st Annual General Meeting of the Company inter alia indicating 
the process and manner of e-voting along with Attendance Slip 
and Proxy Form is being sent in the permitted mode. A ‘Green 
Initiative’ Form can be downloaded from the Company’s website 
www.justdial.com to register a Members e-mail ID.

23.  Members may also note that the Notice of the 21st Annual General 

also be available on the Company’s website www.justdial.com 
for their download. Even after registering for e-communication, 
members are entitled to receive such communication in physical 
form, upon making a request for the same. For any communication, 
the shareholders may also send requests to the Company’s investor 
email id: investors@justdial.com.

  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 and other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2014 read with Rule 
20 of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 
2014, as amended and Clause 35B of the Listing Agreement, 
the Company is providing facility to exercise votes on resolutions 
proposed to be passed in the Meeting by electronic means, to 
members holding shares as on Wednesday, September 23, 2015 
(end of day) being the cut-off date for the purpose of Rule 20(4)

entitled to participate in the remote e-voting process, through 
the e-voting platform provided by Karvy Computershare Private 
Limited or vote at the Annual General Meeting.

  The remote e-voting facility will be available during the0 
following period:

  Commencement of remote e-voting: From 9.00 a.m. (IST) on 
September 27, 2015 and End of remote e-voting : Up to 5.00 
p.m. (IST) on September 29, 2015

  The remote e-voting will not be allowed beyond the aforesaid 
date and time and the e-voting module shall be disabled by Karvy 
upon expiry of aforesaid period.

 The instructions for E-voting are as under:
 A.  For members who receive notice of annual general meeting 

through e-mail:
  a.  Open your web browser during the voting period and 

navigate to https://evoting.karvy.com.
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  b.  Enter the login credentials [i.e., user id and password 
mentioned overleaf]. Your Folio No. / DP ID Client 
ID will be your user ID. However, if you are already 
registered with Karvy for e-voting, you can use your 
existing user id and password for casting your vote.

  c. After entering the details appropriately, click on LOGIN.

  d.  You will reach the Password change menu wherein you 
are required to mandatorily change your password. The 
new password shall comprise of minimum 8 characters 
with at least one upper case (A-Z), one lower case (a-
z), one numeric value (0-9) and one special character. 
Kindly note that this password can be used by the 
Demat holders for voting of resolutions of any other 
Company on which they are eligible to vote, provided 
that the other Company opts for E-Voting through 
Karvy E-Voting platform. System will prompt you to 
change your password and update any contact details 
like mobile no., email ID etc., on 1st Login. You may 
also enter the ‘Secret Question’ and answer of your 
choice to retrieve your password in case you forget it. 
It is strongly recommended not to share your password 
with any other person and take utmost care to keep 

  e. You need to login again with the new credentials.

  f.  On successful login, the system will prompt you to 
select the EVENT i.e., Just Dial Limited.

  g.  On the voting page, enter the number of shares as on 
the cut off date under FOR / AGAINST or alternately you 
may enter partially any number in FOR and partially in 
AGAINST but the total number in FOR / AGAINST taken 
together should not exceed the total shareholding. You 
may also choose the option ABSTAIN and the shares held 
will not be counted under either head.

  h.  Voting has to be done for each item of the Notice 
separately. In case you do not cast your vote on any 

  i.  Cast your vote by selecting an appropriate option and 

During the voting period, members can login any 
number of times till they have voted on the resolution.

  Other Instructions:
  j.  Members holding multiple folios/ demat accounts shall 

choose the voting process separately for each folio/ 
demat account.

  k.  A Members can opt for only one mode of voting i.e. either 
voting though e voting or by Ballot. If a member cast votes 
by both modes, then voting done through e-voting shall 
prevail and Ballot shall be treated as Invalid.

  l.  The facility for voting through Ballot paper shall also be 
available at the meeting. The members who have cast 
their vote by Remote E-voting prior to the meeting may 
also attend the meeting but shall not be entitled to cast 
their vote again.

  m.  The resolutions shall be deemed to be passed on the 
date of the general meeting, subject to receipt of 

  n.  In case a person has become Member of the Company 
after the dispatch of AGM Notice but on or before the 
cut-off date i.e. September 23, 2015, the member may 
approach Karvy for issuance of User ID and Password 
for exercising the right to vote by electronic means:

   i.  If the mobile number of the member is registered 
against Folio No./ DP ID Client ID, the member 
may send SMS : MYEPWD <space> Event number+ 
Folio No. or DP ID Client ID to 9212993399

   ii.  If e-mail or mobile number of the member is 
registered against Folio No./ DP ID Client ID, then 
on the home page of https://evoting.karvy.com, 
the member may click “forgot password” and enter 
Folio No. or DP ID Client ID and PAN to generate a 
password.

   iii.  Member may call Karvy’s toll free number 1-800-
3454-001.

   iv.  Member may send an e-mail request to  
evoting@karvy.com

    If the member is already registered with Karvy e-voting 
platform then he can use his existing User ID and 
password for casting the vote through remote e-voting.

  o.  Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than individuals, 
HUF, NRI etc.) are required to send scanned copy 
(PDF/JPG Format) of the relevant Board Resolution/ 
Authority letter etc. together with attested specimen 
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signature of the duly authorized signatory(ies) who are 
authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer through e-mail 
scrutinizer@justdial.com. They may also upload the 
same in the e-voting module in their login. The scanned 
image of the above mentioned documents should be in 
the naming format “Corporate Name_EVENT NO.”

 B.  For members who receive the notice of annual general 
meeting in physical form:

  i.  Members holding shares either in demat or physical 
mode who are in receipt of Notice in physical form, may 
cast their votes using the Ballot Form enclosed to this 
Notice. Please refer instructions under heading C below 
for more details.

  ii.  Members may alternatively opt for e-voting, for which 
the USER ID & initial password is provided at the 
bottom of the Ballot Form. Please follow steps from Sl. 
No.(i) to (xii) under heading A above to vote through 
e-voting platform.

 C. For members who wish to vote using ballot form:
   Pursuant to clause 35B of the listing agreement, members 

of the same is also part of the soft copy of the Notice) and 
return the duly completed and signed copy (no other form 
or photocopy thereof is permitted) in the enclosed self-
addressed postage pre-paid envelope to the Scrutiniser, V. 
B. Kondalkar & Associates, Practicing Company Secretary, 
Unit: Just Dial Limited, C/o Karvy Computershare Pvt. 
Ltd., Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli 
Financial District, Nanakramguda Hyderabad - 500032, so 
as to reach by 5.00 p.m. on Tuesday, September 29, 2015. 
Unsigned, incomplete or incorrectly ticked forms are liable to 
be rejected and the decision of the Scrutiniser on the validity 

   In the event, a member casts his votes through both the 
processes i.e. e-voting and Ballot Form, the votes in the 
electronic system would be considered and the Ballot Form 
would be ignored.

 D. General Instructions:
  a.  V. B. Kondalkar & Associates, Practicing Company 

Secretary (Membership No. ACS - 15697), has been 
appointed as the Scrutinizer to scrutinize the e-voting 
process (including the Ballot Form received from the 
members who do not have access to the e-voting 
process) and voting at the venue of the Annual General 
Meeting in a fair and transparent manner.

  b.  The Scrutinizer shall immediately after the conclusion 

count the vote cast at the meeting, thereafter unblock 
the votes through e – voting in the presence of at 
least two (2) witness, not in the employment of the 
Company and make not later than 3 days from the 
conclusion of the meeting, a consolidated scrutinizers 
report of the total votes cast in favour or against, if any, 
to the chairman of the Company who shall countersign 
the same. 

  c.  The Scrutinizer shall submit his report to the Chairman, 
who shall declare the result of the voting. The result 
declared along with Scrutinizer report shall be placed 
on the Company’s Website: www.justdial.com and 
on the website Karvy Computershare Private Limited:  
www.evoting.karvy.com and shall also be 
communicated to the Stock Exchanges. 

  d.  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) 
has mandated the submission of Permanent Account 
Number (PAN) by every participant in securities 
market. Members holding shares in electronic form 
are, therefore, requested to submit their PAN to 
their Depository Participant(s) with whom they 
are maintaining their demat accounts. Members 
holding shares in physical form can submit their PAN 
to the Company / Karvy Computer Share Private 
Limited (R&TA), “Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-
32, Gachibowli Financial District, Nanakramguda 
Hyderabad - 500032.

  e.  Subject to receipt of requisite number of votes, the 
Resolutions shall be deemed to be passed on the date 
of the Meeting, i.e. September 30, 2015.
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ANNEXURE A

Details of the Director, as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, who are to be re-appointed in the ensuing Annual General Meeting: 

1. Mr. V. Krishnan

Name of Director Mr. V. Krishnan
Brief Resume V. Krishnan is a Non-Independent, Whole-time Director of the Company. He was appointed as 

a Director of the Company on October 28, 2005. He has been associated with the Company 

strategic planning and execution. V. Krishnan is a co-founder of the Company and has played a 
key role with responsibilities including business development, business expansion, operations, 
strategic planning and execution.

Expertise in Functional Area
List of Other Companies in which 
Directorships Held

1. Just Dial Global Private Limited
2. Xvidia Media Private Limited

Membership(s)/Chairmanship(s) of the 
committees of Directors of other Companies

Nil

Shareholding in the Company 1,351,300 Equity Shares
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF THE SPECIAL BUSINESS PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

ITEM 6:
The existing Articles of Association (“Articles”) of the Company are 
based on the Companies Act, 1956 and several regulations in the 
existing Articles contain reference to the Sections of the Companies 
Act, 1956. Some regulations in the existing Articles are no longer in 
conformity with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”).

With the enactment of the Act, several regulations of the existing Articles 
of the Company required alteration and/or deletion. Given this position, it 
is expedient to wholly replace the existing Articles by a new set of Articles.

The draft Articles shall be open for inspection by the Members at 

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays) between 11.00 a.m to 1.00 
p.m up to the date of this Annual General Meeting.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel of the Company 

in the said Resolution.

The Board recommends the aforesaid Special Resolution for approval 
of the Shareholders.

ITEM 7:
The directors of the Company are frequently investing the excess 
funds available with the Company in different portfolio schemes of 
the Mutual Funds and otherwise, however as per the provisions 
of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies 
(Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 any loan or guarantee 
given, security provided and acquisition of securities of any other 
body corporate exceed 60% of the paid up capital, free reserves and 
securities premium account or 100% of free reserves and securities 
premium account of the Company, whichever is higher, needs to have 
the prior approval of the shareholders by way of Special Resolution. 

The investment made by the Company in units of mutual fund 
does not come under the ambit of investment in securities and the 
Company has already made investment of ` 830.66 Crore as on date, 
however, for the sake of prudent corporate governance practice, the 
directors of the of Company are of the view to seek the approval of 

aforesaid Section.

Therefore, your directors are of the view that looking at the current 
business trends, the consents of the shareholders needs to be accorded 
to acquire/invest by way of subscription, purchase or otherwise, the 
securities of any other body corporate or investing the excess fund 
available with the Company to extend of ` 2,000 Crores (Rupees 
Two Thousand Crores Only) along with the loan or guarantee already 
given, security provided or acquisitions made, as the aforesaid limit is 
exceeding prescribed limit of section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Board of Directors of your Company has already approved the 
aforesaid transaction in the Board Meeting held on August 25, 2015 
and recommends the Special Resolution as set out in the accompanying 
Notice for the approval and consideration of members of the Company 
as Special Resolution.

A copy of relevant documents have been kept open, at the Registered 

between 11.00 am to 1.00 pm, on all working days (except Saturdays, 
Sundays and Public Holidays), till the date of the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.

None of the Directors, Manager, other Key Managerial Personnel and 
their relatives are concerned or interested in the Resolution, except 
to the extent of their respective interest as the shareholders of the 
Company.

The Board recommends the aforesaid Special Resolution for approval 
of the Shareholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Place: Mumbai Sachin Jain
Date: August 25, 2015 Company Secretary

 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court, 
Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex,
New Link Road, Malad (West), Mumbai – 400064.
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JUST DIAL LIMITED

CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054
 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court, Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex, New Link Road, Malad (West), 

Mumbai – 400064 Tel.: 022-28884060  Fax: 022-28823789 Website: www.justdial.com Email:investors@justdial.com

ATTENDANCE SLIP
21st Annual General Meeting – September 30, 2015

D.P. Id* Folio No.
Client Id * No. of Shares

NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE SHAREHOLDER : ...............................................................................................................................................

............................................................................................................................................................................................................................

I hereby record my presence at the 21st Annual General Meeting of the Company held on Wednesday, September 30, 2015 at 3.30 P.M. at 
West Banquet Hall, Goregaon Sports Club, Link Road, Malad West, Mumbai – 400 064.

...................................................................................
  Signature of Shareholder/Proxy

* Applicable for investors holding shares in electronic form.





FORM NO. MGT-11
PROXY FORM

[Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 19(3) of the Companies Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

CIN : L74140MH1993PLC150054

Name of the Company : JUST DIAL LIMITED

: 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court, Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex, New Link Road, Malad 
(West), Mumbai – 400064.

Name of the member(s) : ..........................................................................................................................................................

Registered Address : ..........................................................................................................................................................

Email ID : ..........................................................................................................................................................

Folio No/Client ID : ..........................................................................................................................................................

DP ID : ..........................................................................................................................................................

I/We, being the member(s) of        :     ......................................................................... shares of the above named Company, hereby appoint

1) Name : ........................................................................ Address : .................................................................................................................

 Email ID : .................................................................... Signature : ........................................................................................, or failing him

2) Name : ........................................................................ Address : .................................................................................................................

 Email ID : .................................................................... Signature : ........................................................................................, or failing him

3) Name : ........................................................................ Address : .................................................................................................................

 Email ID : .................................................................... Signature : ........................................................................................, or failing him

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 21st Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
on Wednesday, September 30, 2015 at 3.30 p.m., at West Banquet Hall, Goregaon Sports Club, Link Road, Malad West, Mumbai – 400 064 
and at any adjournment thereof in respect of such resolutions as are indicated below: 

JUST DIAL LIMITED

CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054
 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court, Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex, New Link Road, Malad (West), 

Mumbai – 400064 Tel.: 022-28884060  Fax: 022-28823789 Website: www.justdial.com Email:investors@justdial.com



Resolution No. Description Assent/Dissent
For 

(Assent)
Against

(Dissent)
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

2. To Declare Dividend on Equity Shares.
3. To Re-appoint Mr. V. Krishnan (DIN 00034473), who retires by rotation.
4. To Ratify the appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, as Statutory 

Auditors of the Company.
SPECIAL BUSINESS
5. To Adopt New set of Articles of Association of the Company.
6. To Increase in limits of investments in other bodies corporates.

Signed this.............................................................. day of ......................... 2015.

Signature of shareholder     
Signature of the proxy holder (s)

than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

 
Revenue 
Stamp



BALLOT FORM
(IN LIEU OF E-VOTING)

Name of the Sole/First named Shareholder : ..........................................................................................................................................

Name (s) of the Joint Shareholder (s) if any : ..........................................................................................................................................

Registered Address : ..........................................................................................................................................

Email ID : ..........................................................................................................................................

Folio No./Client ID/DP ID : ..........................................................................................................................................

No. of Shares held : ..........................................................................................................................................

I/We, hereby exercise my/our votes in respect of the Resolutions set out in the Notice dated August 25, 2015 for the 21st Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, to be held on Wednesday, September 30, 2015 at 3.30 p.m. at West Banquet Hall, Goregaon Sports Club, Link Road, 
Malad West, Mumbai – 400 064 and at any adjournment thereof, as set out below by sending my/our assent/dissent to the said resolutions by 

Resolution 
No

Description Type of 
Resolution

No. of Equity 
Shares 

Assent/Dissent

For 
(Assent)

Against 
(Dissent)

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

Directors and Auditors reports thereupon for the Year ended March 31, 2015 

March 31, 2015.

Ordinary

2. To Declare Dividend on Equity Shares. Ordinary
3. To Re-appoint Mr. V. Krishnan (DIN 00034473), who retires by rotation. Ordinary
4. To Ratify the appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered 

Accountants, as Statutory Auditors of the Company.
Ordinary

SPECIAL BUSINESS
5. To Adopt New set of Articles of Association of the Company. Special
6. To Increase in limits of investments in other bodies corporates. Special

Place:

Date: SIGNATURE OF THE SHAREHOLDER

JUST DIAL LIMITED

CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054
 501/B, 5th Floor, Palm Court, Building M, Besides Goregaon Sports Complex, New Link Road, Malad (West), 

Mumbai – 400064 Tel.: 022-28884060  Fax: 022-28823789 Website: www.justdial.com Email:investors@justdial.com



NOTES:
1.  Members have the option to request for physical copy of the Ballot Form by sending an e-mail to investors@justdial.com by mentioning their 

Folio/DP-ID and Client-ID No. or can download from website of the Company www.justdial.com.

2.  Duly completed Ballot Form should reach to the Scrutiniser, V. B. Kondalkar & Associates, Practicing Company Secretary, Unit: Just 
Dial Limited, C/o Karvy Computershare Pvt. Ltd., Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli Financial District, Nanakramguda, 
Hyderabad – 500 032 not later than Tuesday, September 29, 2015 5.00 p.m. (IST). Ballot Form received thereafter will strictly be treated 
as invalid.

3. Unsigned, incomplete or incorrectly ticked forms are liable to be rejected.

4.  A member can opt for only one mode of voting i.e. either voting through e-voting or by Ballot. If a member cast votes by both modes, then 
voting done through e-voting shall prevail and Ballot shall be treated as Invalid.

5.  The voting rights of shareholders shall be in proportion to their shares of the paid up equity share capital of the Company as on the cut-off 
date (record date of September 23, 2015).

6.  Please complete all details including details of members in above box before submission. The Ballot Form should be signed by the member 
as per specimen signature registered with the Company.

Board Resolution/Authority preferably with attested specimen signature (s) of the duly authorized signatory (s) giving requisite authority 
to the person voting through the Ballot Form.

8. The Exercise of vote by Ballot is not permitted through proxy.

9. There will be only one Ballot Form for every Folio/ client ID irrespective of the number of joint holder.

11. The Ballot Form is an integral part of the Notice of the Annual General Meeting to be held on 30th September, 2015. 



NOTES



NOTES
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REGISTERED & CORPORATE OFFICE
JUST DIAL LIMITED

CIN: L74140MH1993PLC150054

Palm Court Bldg M, 501/B, 5th Floor, New Link Road,  
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Mumbai - 400064. 
Call: +91-22-2888 4060 
Fax: +91-22-2882 3789
Website: www.justdial.com


